
City of Kodiak Regular Council Meeting Agenda for September 8, 2016 
7:30 p.m., at 710 Mill Bay Road, Assembly Chambers (Room 232) 
 
 

I. Call to Order/Roll Call 
Invocation/Pledge of Allegiance 

 
II. Previous Minutes 

Approval of Minutes of the August 11, 2016, Regular Meeting and August 30, 2016, Special 
Meeting ............................................................................................................................................1 

 
III. Persons to Be Heard 

a. Public Comments (limited to 3 minutes) (486-3231) 
 
IV. Unfinished Business 

a. Second Reading and Public Hearing, Ordinance No. 1349, Authorizing a Lease Between 
the City of Kodiak and GCI Communication Corporation for Pillar Mountain 
Communication Lease Site No. 9, Described as a Portion of Tract B, U.S. Survey 
 2538-A ..............................................................................................................................16 

b. Termination of the Building Inspection Program MOA ....................................................34 
 

V. New Business 
a. Resolution No. 2016–29, Naming Election Workers for the October 4, 2016, Regular 

Municipal Election .............................................................................................................38 
b. Resolution No. 2016–30, Authorizing the Issuance of a Series of Boat Lift Special 

Facility Revenue Refunding Bonds in the Principal Amount of Not to Exceed $4,000,000 
to Refund Certain Outstanding Boat Lift Special Facility Revenue Bonds of the City, 
Fixing Certain Details of Such Bonds, and Authorizing Their Sale ..................................40 

c. Resolution No. 2016–31, Authorizing the Issuance of a Series of Boat Lift Special 
Facility Revenue Refunding Bonds in the Principal Amount of Not to Exceed $1,000,000 
to Refund Certain Outstanding Boat Lift Special Facility Revenue Bonds Of The City, 
Fixing Certain Details of Such Bonds, and Authorizing Their Sale ..................................60 

d. Resolution No. 2016–32, Authorizing the Issuance of a Series of Harbor Revenue 
Refunding Bonds in the Principal Amount of Not to Exceed $2,000,000 to Refund 
Certain Outstanding Harbor Revenue Bonds of the City, Fixing Certain Details of Such 
Bonds, and Authorizing Their Sale ....................................................................................80 

e. Resolution No. 2016–33, Appointing a Member to the Kodiak Fisheries Development 
Association .......................................................................................................................100 

f. Authorization of Vehicle Purchases for Kodiak Police Department ...............................106 
g. Authorization of Professional Services Contract for Investment Management  and 

Advisory Services ............................................................................................................130 
h. Appointment to Parks and Recreation Advisory Board ...................................................148 

 
VI. Staff Reports 

a. City Manager 
b. City Clerk 

 
VII. Mayor’s Comments 
 

VIII. Council Comments 



IX. Audience Comments (limited to 3 minutes) (486-3231) 
 

X. Adjournment 



  8111 

DRAFT 
MINUTES OF THE REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING 

OF THE CITY OF KODIAK 
HELD THURSDAY, AUGUST 11, 2016 

IN THE BOROUGH ASSEMBLY CHAMBERS 
 
 
I. MEETING CALLED TO ORDER/INVOCATION/PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

 
Mayor Pat Branson called the meeting to order at 7:30 p.m. Councilmembers Laura B. Arboleda, 
Randall C. Bishop, Charles E. Davidson, Gabriel T. Saravia, Richard H. Walker, and John B. 
Whiddon were present and constituted a quorum. Deputy City Manager Mike Tvenge, City Clerk 
Debra L. Marlar, and Assistant Clerk Nanci Sharratt were also present. 
 
Salvation Army Major Dave Davis gave the invocation and the Pledge of Allegiance was recited. 
 

II. PREVIOUS MINUTES 
 

Councilmember Whiddon MOVED to approve the minutes of the July 14, 2016, regular meeting 
and July 21, 2016, special meeting as presented. 
 
The roll call vote was Councilmembers Arboleda, Bishop, Davidson, Saravia, Walker, and 
Whiddon in favor. The motion passed. 

 
III. PERSONS TO BE HEARD 
 

a. Presentation of GFOA Award to the Finance Department  
 

The Government Finance Officers Association notified the City that the Finance Department re-
ceived a Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in financial reporting for the City’s FY2015 
comprehensive annual financial report The award of this certificate represents one of the highest 
levels of achievement in governmental financial reporting for the Department and City.  
 
Finance Director Kelly Mayes accepted the award and shared her appreciation for her staff and 
their hard work.  
 
b. Public Comments 
 
Jone Suleski voiced her concern about the termination of body cameras by the Kodiak Police 
Department. 

 
IV. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
 

a. Continued First Reading, Ordinance No. 1349, Authorizing a Lease Between the City of 
Kodiak and GCI Communication Corporation for Pillar Mountain Communication 
Lease Site No. 9, Described as a Portion of Tract B, U.S. Survey 2538-A 
 

Mayor Branson read Ordinance No. 1349 by title. City Council and the City Manager approve 
communication site leases/subleases as required by Kodiak City Code 18.20.230. The existing 

1



 AUGUST 11, 2016 8112 
 

lease with GCI Communication Corporation expired June 30, 2016. The new lease agreement 
has a term of five years and requires approval by ordinance.  
 
[Clerk’s Note: The vote on the motion to pass Ordinance No. 1349 in the first reading and ad-
vance to second reading and public hearing was postponed at the May 12, 2016, regular meet-
ing.] 
 
The roll call vote was Councilmembers Arboleda, Bishop, Saravia, Walker, and Whiddon in fa-
vor. Councilmember Davidson opposed. The motion passed. 
 
b. Second Reading and Public Hearing, Ordinance No. 1354, Amending Kodiak City Code 

14.04.010; Regarding the Adoption of Building Codes 
 
Mayor Branson read Ordinance No. 1354 by title. The State of Alaska adopted new construction 
codes. As a deferred jurisdiction the City is required to adopt codes that meet or exceed the 
State’s adopted codes. The Joint Building Code Review Committee met numerous times to dis-
cuss, review, and amend the proposed codes. 
 
Councilmember Arboleda MOVED to adopt Ordinance No. 1354. 

 
Mayor Branson closed the regular meeting, opened and closed the public hearing when no one 
came forward to testify, and reopened the regular meeting. 
 
The roll call vote was Councilmembers Arboleda, Bishop, Davidson, Saravia, Walker, and 
Whiddon in favor. The motion passed. 
 
c. Second Reading and Public Hearing, Ordinance No. 1355, Authorizing A Memoran-

dum of Agreement With the Alaska Marine Highway System Regarding Joint Use of 
Pier I, and a Supplemental Agreement No. 1 With the Alaska Marine Highway System 
for the Lease of Office Space and a License for Use of Pier II 

 
Mayor Branson read Ordinance No. 1355 by title. The City of Kodiak entered into an agreement 
with the State of Alaska, Alaska Marine Highway System (AMHS), authorizing the State to re-
place Kodiak’s existing Pier I. The replacement project was scheduled for completion in July 
2016, at which time Pier I was ready for use again by AMHS vessels. Memorandum of Agree-
ment No. 2517S004 and Supplemental Agreement No.1, No. 2517S005, spell out the terms for 
AMHS’s use of Pier I and II for the next five years. 
 
Councilmember Walker MOVED to adopt Ordinance No. 1355. 

 
Mayor Branson closed the regular meeting, opened and closed the public hearing when no one 
came forward to testify, and reopened the regular meeting. 

 
The roll call vote was Councilmembers Arboleda, Bishop, Davidson, Saravia, Walker, and 
Whiddon in favor. The motion passed. 
 
d. Second Reading and Public Hearing, Ordinance No. 1356, Authorizing a Lease to Ko-

diak Maritime Museum and Art Center of a 2,000+ Square Foot Portion of Alaska 

2



 AUGUST 11, 2016 8113 
 

Tidelands Survey No. 49 Located in St. Paul Harbor for the Thelma C Display and Re-
scinding Ordinance No. 1340 

 
Mayor Branson read Ordinance No. 1356 by title. The Kodiak Maritime Museum (KMM) devel-
oped the idea of restoring and displaying an historic 36’ fishing vessel, the Thelma C, in the har-
bor area downtown. KMM representatives came to several City Council meetings since 2013 
with their idea, which Council and harbor users supported. The KMM was given formal approval 
of the original lease site on the harbor spit and recently requested the location be adjusted to 
make the installation more affordable. 
 
Councilmember Bishop MOVED to adopt Ordinance No. 1356. 
 
Mayor Branson closed the regular meeting, opened and closed the public hearing when no one 
came forward to testify, and reopened the regular meeting. 

 
The roll call vote was Councilmembers Arboleda, Bishop, Davidson, Saravia, Walker, and 
Whiddon in favor. The motion passed. 
 

V. NEW BUSINESS 
 

a. First Reading, Ordinance No. 1358, Authorizing the Expenditure of the $25,000 Appro-
priated to Ballot Initiative Expense in the FY2017 Operating Budget to Inform the Pub-
lic Regarding the Effects of the Collective Bargaining Ordinance Initiative Proposition 
and the Kodiak Island Borough Proposition to Consolidate the Kodiak Island Borough 
and the City of Kodiak Into a Single Unit of Government, Including Without Limita-
tion Information That May Influence the Outcome of the Election on Either Proposition 

 
Mayor Branson read Ordinance No. 1358 by title. For the past several years the Council has ap-
propriated funds in the General Fund Legislative Budget Account No. 450.138 titled Ballot Initi-
ative Expense that may be used to educate the public on ballot measures. $25,000 was budgeted 
in the FY2017 budget for this purpose. This year there are two ballot questions for which the 
City may desire to provide public education. One is an initiative for collective bargaining for 
City employees under the Public Employment Relations Act, and the other is a Kodiak Island 
Borough Assembly advisory proposition to pursue the idea of consolidating the Borough and 
City of Kodiak into a single unit of government. While AS 15.13.145(c)(2) permits the City to 
provide the public with nonpartisan information about a ballot proposition, AS 15.13.145(b) pro-
hibits the City from using public funds to influence the outcome of an election concerning a bal-
lot proposition unless the City specifically appropriates funds for this purpose by ordinance. The 
Alaska Public Offices Commission (APOC), which enforces these State statutes, interprets the 
statutes very narrowly so that the City cannot inform the public fully about the effects of the bal-
lot propositions without including information that APOC likely would categorize as influencing 
the outcome of the election on the ballot propositions. Ordinance No. 1358 conforms with APOC 
requirements and would permit the City to provide public information about these two initiatives.  
 
Councilmember Bishop MOVED to pass Ordinance No. 1358 in the first reading and advance to 
second reading and public hearing at the next special or regular meeting. 
 

3



 AUGUST 11, 2016 8114 
 

The roll call vote was Councilmembers Arboleda, Bishop, Davidson, Saravia, Walker, and 
Whiddon in favor. The motion passed. 

 
b. Resolution No. 2016–27, Authorizing the Issuance of a Permit to Kodiak Football 

League for the Use of Public Property to Sell Concessions and Collect Admission Fees 
during Kodiak High School and Youth Football Games at Baranof Park 

 
Mayor Branson read Resolution No. 2016–27 by title. Resolution No. 2016–27 authorizes the is-
suance of a permit to the Kodiak Football League to use the Baranof Football Field to sell con-
cessions from August 11 to October 31 and to collect gate fees at home high school football 
games. 
 
Councilmember Arboleda MOVED to adopt Resolution No. 2016–27. 
 
The roll call vote was Councilmembers Arboleda, Bishop, Davidson, Saravia, Walker, and 
Whiddon in favor. The motion passed. 

 
c. Resolution No. 2016–28, Appropriating $650,000 From the Cargo Terminal Fund to the 

Cargo Development Capital Project Fund to Pay Settlement Costs Related to the Con-
struction of Pier III Replacement Project No. 11-07/8024 

 
Mayor Branson read Resolution No. 2016–28 by title. Pacific Pile and Marine, LLC construction 
is complete. Additional funding is requested through this resolution for settlement of disputed 
costs mutually agreed upon during the mediation process. 
 
Councilmember Bishop MOVED to adopt Resolution No. 2016–28. 
 
The roll call vote was Councilmembers Arboleda, Bishop, Davidson, Saravia, Walker, and 
Whiddon in favor. The motion passed. 

 
d. Authorization of Lease Assignment and Sublease of a Portion of Pillar Mountain An-

tenna Site Lease 3 From Alaska Wireless Network, LLC (AWN) to AWN Tower Com-
pany, LLC and the Purchase of AWN Tower Company, LLC by Vertical Bridge Tower 
II, LLC, and the Sublease From AWN Tower Company, LLC to Alaska Wireless Net-
work, LLC 

 
The Council adopted Ordinance No. 1265 on September 24, 2009, which authorized a five-year 
agreement with GCI for a lease at the City’s Pillar Mountain antenna site. The lease includes 
four automatic five-year extensions at the option of the tenant. The City received a letter from 
Alaska Wireless Network (AWN) requesting the City to assign the lease to Vertical Bridge Tow-
er II, LLC. 
 
Councilmember Walker MOVED to approve the assignment of the Lease dated November 1, 
2009, of a portion of Pillar Mountain Antenna Site Lease 3 from Alaska Wireless Network, LLC 
to AWN Tower Company, LLC and the purchase of AWN Tower Company, LLC by Vertical 
Bridge Tower II, LLC, and the sublease from AWN Tower Company, LLC to Alaska Wireless 
Network, LLC of a portion of the leased premises, all as described in the Consent Agreement 

4



 AUGUST 11, 2016 8115 
 

dated May 2, 2016, that now is before the Council, pursuant to Kodiak City Code 18.20.230 and 
18.20.240 and authorize the City Manager to execute the lease assignment on behalf of the City. 

 
The roll call vote was Councilmembers Arboleda, Bishop, Davidson, Saravia, Walker, and 
Whiddon in favor. The motion passed. 

 
e. Authorization of Bid Award of the FY2017 Mill Bay Road Pavement Rehabilitation 

Project, Project No. 17-02/5036 
 
This project will repair and overlay sections of Mill Bay Road pavement. The project was adver-
tised for bid on June 29 and two bids were opened on August 1, 2016. During the design of the 
project, areas of work were compromised in order to bring the project within available funding 
level based on the Engineer’s estimate. The two bids were within project funding. 
 
Councilmember Davidson MOVED to authorize the bid award of Mill Bay Road Pavement Re-
habilitation FY2017, Project No. 17-02/5037 to Brechan Construction, LLC in the amount of 
$956,925 with funds coming from the Streets Capital Improvement Fund Project No. 5036, 
Pavement Repairs. 
 
The roll call vote was Councilmembers Arboleda, Bishop, Davidson, Saravia, Walker, and 
Whiddon in favor. The motion passed. 
 
f. Authorization of Purchase of Used Mini-Excavator for the Parks and Recreation and 

Public Works Departments 
 
Both the Parks and Recreation and Public Works Departments have need for and use mini-
excavators on a regular basis. The Parks and Recreation Department has a 2002 Terex HR16 
mini-excavator that was purchased used from Kodiak Rental Center in 2010 and is in need of re-
placement. This machine is used for park maintenance as well as support of the cemetery. Public 
Works has used this machine also for water and sewer maintenance work and has rented other 
mini-excavators from Kodiak Rental Center. Between the two departments, approximately 400 
hours of annual use on the machine is anticipated. City Code Section 3.12.100 allows the Public 
Works Department to purchase used equipment. 
 
Councilmember Whiddon MOVED to authorize purchase of a used 2012 Model Case CX36B 
mini-excavator from Yukon Equipment in the amount of $40,020 FOB Kodiak and authorize the 
City Manager to execute documents on behalf of the City. 
 
The roll call vote was Councilmembers Arboleda, Bishop, Davidson, Saravia, Walker, and 
Whiddon in favor. The motion passed. 

 
g. Authorization of a Technical Services Contract With Willard A. Feda to Operate the 

Marine Travelift in Kodiak Shipyard 
 
Willard (Bill) Feda has been under contract with the City to operate the Marine Travelift since 
operations started in 2009. His contract expires August 31, 2016. A new two-year contract with a 
continuation of the same terms was discussed with the contractor and is ready for Council ap-
proval. 

5



 AUGUST 11, 2016 8116 
 

 
Councilmember Walker MOVED to authorize a two-year technical services agreement, Agree-
ment No. 224103, with Willard A. Feda to operate the Harbor Marine Travelift, with funds com-
ing from the Boat Yard/Vessel Lift Enterprise Fund, Professional Services Account. 
 
The roll call vote was Councilmembers Arboleda, Bishop, Davidson, Saravia, Walker, and 
Whiddon in favor. The motion passed. 

 
h. Authorization of Bid Award for Harbor and Parks and Recreation Department Vehi-

cles 
 
Vehicle bid No. 536 consists of replacement vehicles for the Harbor and Parks and Recreation 
Departments. Both Harbor and Parks and Recreation are replacing existing maintenance pickups 
with new four-wheel-drive 1/2 ton standard cab pickups. The existing vehicles have been 
through a mechanical evaluation by the City maintenance shop and have been recommended to 
be replaced. 
 
Councilmember Walker MOVED to award the bid for purchase of two new four-wheel-drive 1/2 
ton standard cab pickup trucks to Kodiak Motors in the amount of $52,400 from the following 
accounts: $26,200 with funds from the Boat Harbor, machinery and equipment account and 
$26,200 with funds from the Parks and Recreation, machinery and equipment account. 
 
The roll call vote was Councilmembers Arboleda, Bishop, Davidson, Saravia, Walker, and 
Whiddon in favor. The motion passed. 
 
i. Authorization of Bid Award of Final Parking Lot Pavement for Pier III Replacement, 

Project No. 11-07/8024 
 
This project is outside the scope of work previously authorized by Council and performed by Pa-
cific Pile & Marine LP. Under the recommendation of Roe Sturgulewski, Pier III Project Manag-
er, and PN&D Project Engineers, a section of pavement adjacent to the new pier was not paved 
last fall in order to allow for stabilization in the soils. The expected soil stabilization was 
achieved during recent months, and the area is now ready for pavement. 
 
Councilmember Whiddon MOVED to authorize the bid award of final parking lot pavement for 
Pier III Replacement, Project No. 11-07/8024, to Brechan Construction, LLC in the amount of 
$39,880 with funds from the Cargo Development Capital Project Fund. 

 
The roll call vote was Councilmembers Arboleda, Bishop, Davidson, Saravia, Walker, and 
Whiddon in favor. The motion passed. 
 
j. Authorization of Ambulance Purchase 
 
The City Fire Department provides Emergency Medical Advance Life Support (ALS) services 
and transport to the citizens of the City as well as those on the road system. The Fire Department 
supports three ALS ambulances to meet the current service requests. The Council approved sole 
source purchases for ambulances in 2003 and 2007. 
 

6



 AUGUST 11, 2016 8117 
 

Councilmember Davidson MOVED to authorize the purchase of a 2017 North Star 167-1 Ambu-
lance from Braun NW Inc. in the amount of $195,000 with funds from the FY2017 General Fire 
Department Budget Line item and authorize the City Manager to execute the documents on be-
half of the City. 
 
The roll call vote was Councilmembers Arboleda, Bishop, Davidson, Saravia, Walker, and 
Whiddon in favor. The motion passed. 
 
k. Authorization of Purchase of Skate Ramps 
 
The final phase of the 2012 Baranof Park Improvement Project included replacement of 
skate park ramps. The skate park project is being constructed in phases. Phase I was com-
pleted in 2015 and Phase II is scheduled for 2016/2017. In preparation for Phase II, a Sole 
Source Request for Proposal based on Kodiak City Code Section 3.12.070 “Exceptions to 
bidding requirements” was issued to American Ramp Company. 
 
Councilmember Bishop MOVED to authorize purchase of Phase II skate park equipment from 
American Ramp Company in amount of $116,427.96 with funds coming from Parks and Rec-
reation Improvement Fund, Skate Park Improvements, Project No. 15-4/9015. 
 
The roll call vote was Councilmembers Arboleda, Bishop, Davidson, Saravia, Walker, and 
Whiddon in favor. The motion passed. 
 
l. Authorization of Bid Award for Bobcat Utility Work Machine for the Parks and Recre-

ation Department 
 
Bid No. 537 consists of a replacement utility work machine for the Parks and Recreation De-
partment. Parks and Recreation is replacing an existing Toolcat, recommended for replacement, 
with a new four-wheel-drive Bobcat Toolcat 5600 G-Series.  
 
Councilmember Walker MOVED to award Bid No. 537 for the purchase of a Bobcat Utility 
Work Machine in the amount of $55,500 to Craig Taylor Equipment Company with funds com-
ing from the Parks and Recreation–administration machinery and equipment budget. 
 
The roll call vote was Councilmembers Arboleda, Bishop, Davidson, Saravia, Walker, and 
Whiddon in favor. The motion passed. 
 
m. Authorization to Terminate the Building Inspection Program MOA 
 
On April 15, 1988, the Kodiak Island Borough and the City of Kodiak established a single pro-
gram for inspection of buildings within the jurisdiction of both governments. This agreement was 
modified in May 1997 and stands as the MOA used today. The Borough has breached the 
agreement objective to ensure a consistent application of building regulations in the City of Ko-
diak and the Kodiak Island Borough. 
 
Councilmember Arboleda MOVED to terminate the Building Inspection Program Memorandum 
of Agreement between the Kodiak Island Borough and City of Kodiak dated May 16, 1997. 
 

7



 AUGUST 11, 2016 8118 
 

Councilmember Whiddon MOVED to postpone the vote on the motion to terminate the Building 
Inspection Program MOA until the next regular or special meeting. 
 
A discussion ensued. 
 
Councilmember Whiddon stated he heard concerns from the Fire Department and the Building 
Department at a City work session, and that the Building Code Review Committee didn’t support 
the change of the 2012 codes back to the 1997 codes, which is forcing Kodiak Island Borough 
and the City to work under two different codes for inspecting, which affects the entire Borough. 
He expressed that he would like both elected bodies to come together to discuss this, because in-
put has not been given for the change and the resulting consequences need to be discussed.  
 
Councilmember Saravia stated that he does not support the postponement based on the infor-
mation heard from the fire and building departments. He stated the City would still have 90 days 
to have a discussion with the Borough if the MOA termination moves forward. He stated a joint 
work session would be held in two weeks and, depending on the outcome, the City could reverse 
its decision to terminate.  
 
The roll call vote on the postponement was Councilmembers Arboleda, Bishop, Davidson, 
Walker, and Whiddon in favor. Councilmember Saravia opposed. The motion passed. 
 
n. Authorization of Payment of Final Closeout Costs Related to the Primary Construction 

Contract for Pier III Replacement, Project No. 11-07/8024 
 
The construction of Pier III had numerous challenges for the contractor, Pacific Pile and Marine 
LP (PPM). During the project twelve change orders were submitted to the City and approved in 
entirety or partially. As the project came to a close, there were disputed costs involved and reso-
lutions to cure were unsuccessful. Formal mediation was held in Kodiak on July 26, 2016. A set-
tlement agreement was reached between PPM and the City. The City Manager on behalf of the 
City Council agreed to make final payment on the disputed claims in which the City would pay 
PPM $650,000 by wire transfer within thirty (30) calendar days of the effective date of the 
agreement. 
 
Councilmember Davidson MOVED to authorize the Settlement and Change Order between the 
City of Kodiak and Pacific Pile & Marine, LP dated August 2, 2016. 

 
The roll call vote was Councilmembers Arboleda, Bishop, Davidson, Saravia, Walker, and 
Whiddon in favor. The motion passed. 

 
VI. STAFF REPORTS 

 
a. Deputy City Manager 
 
Deputy City Manager Tvenge shared that the City has received a certificate of achievement 
award titled “Storm Ready and Tsunami Ready” from the State of Alaska. He shared that this 
was a result of the inspection, review, and documentation of our emergency operation center, 
manual, training documentation, and certifications received. He stated that the award is valid 
through 2019. He shared the City recently had an Occupational Safety Health Administration 

8



 AUGUST 11, 2016 8119 
 

(OSHA) facility inspection. He shared that overall the police, fire, and two public work facilities 
were found to be in good working order with minor corrections noted with most of them having 
already been corrected and the final report is expected in the following weeks. 

 
 Deputy Manger Tvenge asked Police Chief Rhonda Wallace to provide an update on the body 

worn cameras and the community outreach program. 
 
 Chief of Police Wallace addressed the suspension of the body worn camera trial project. She 

stated that the program was implemented in February 2015 and appeared beneficial as it provid-
ed visual facts of the incidents and accountability to both officers and citizens in addition to us-
ing it as a tool for reviewing and assessing officer’s interactions with the community. She shared 
the concerns and challenges that were discovered, which included technical failures, user-errors, 
recorders being slow to begin recording from the sleep mode, recorders easily being knocked off 
the officer, and a button inadvertently depressed could turn the volume off, which would then 
provide no sound to the video. She expressed that one of the most important concerns was the 
risk to individual privacy rights that the body cameras presented. She shared that recordings in-
cluded the individuals involved and those not involved, but were in the background, and the Po-
lice Department doesn’t have the resources to “blur” the identity of those who do not want to 
have their image on video. Chief Wallace stated that in her experience that instead of feeling 
comforted by the recordings, victims, witnesses, and perpetrators generally became more guard-
ed and hesitant to engage with officers for fear that their privacy would be violated. She ex-
pressed that with the limitations of current body camera technology and the privacy implications 
of creating video footage of every police contact within the City of Kodiak, the suspension of the 
program served the best interest of the community. She also shared that she continues to seek out 
programs and assess the value of technological advances that would assist the police department 
in serving and protecting the community and building the community’s confidence in law en-
forcement officers. She also shared information regarding a positive community outreach pro-
gram sent out via Nixle regarding Children and Resident Encounter (C.A.R.E.) initiative. She 
stated that over the last several months, gaps in training were identified, and as a result, the po-
lice department is working on those gaps and has introduced new programs and trainings. She 
stated that C.A.R.E. started during the Law Enforcement Torch Run and has been very success-
ful and participants are continuing to sign up.  
 
b. City Clerk 
 
City Clerk Marlar informed the public of the October 4, 2016, election where two petitions for 
Councilmember seats were due by 4:30 p.m. on Monday, August 15, 2016. She shared that the 
last day to register to vote for the October 4, 2016, election is September 4, 2016, and informed 
those that have moved to update their address, which could impact where they vote. She shared 
that Canvass board workers are needed to verify the results of the October 4, 2016, election and 
will meet October 12, 2016. City Clerk Marlar informed the public of the next scheduled City 
Marijuana Advisory Committee meeting, the Fisheries Work Group meeting, the Joint work ses-
sion, and the City Council Special meeting. 
 

VII. MAYOR’S COMMENTS 
 
Mayor Branson clarified statements made at Kodiak Island Borough Assembly meetings. She 
expressed that Kyle Crow stated that she is opposed to consolidation, which is not a true state-

9



 AUGUST 11, 2016 8120 
 

ment. She shared that this is evident by the letter she signed, along with the Council, that went to 
the Borough Assembly. She stated that the letter voiced concern about the Assembly not speak-
ing with the Council prior to introducing Borough Ordinance FY2017-02, which placed on the 
October ballot a vote on whether to proceed with investigating and researching consolidation. 
She shared that the City letter took no position on consolidation, nor has she ever stated that she 
is opposed to consolidation. Mayor Branson expressed that continuing this misrepresentation is 
neither responsible nor respectful nor does it represent good communication between elected of-
ficials. She stated that no elected official should speak for another elected official. She said that it 
has also been stated at Assembly meetings that the City removed the consolidation topic from 
discussions at joint work session meetings. She explained that at the last joint work session held 
in March and chaired by the Borough that consolidation was not on the agenda, it was only listed 
under the to be scheduled list. She stated that the City has not cancelled any joint work sessions 
due to consolidation being on any agenda, and joint work sessions are only postponed due to the 
availability of the Council and the manager. She shared that consolidation is a topic on the agen-
da for the August 23, 2016, joint work session. She voiced that the Assembly should have called 
for a joint work session prior to the ordinance being brought up for discussion to give notifica-
tion to the City and the outlining communities regarding the Borough’s intent. She asked for bet-
ter communication between the Kodiak Island Borough, the City, and elected officials, 
understanding that they represent all Kodiak residents. She read from the 2008 Kodiak Island 
Borough Comprehensive Plan under issues on page 13. She suggested moving forward in the 
spirit of better communication that joint work sessions be scheduled every other month regard-
less of how many people can attend, and that this need will be addressed at the August 23, 2016, 
joint work session. 
 
She stated that City nonprofit grant awards have been allocated and nonprofits are now receiving 
their money for FY2017. She also commented on the unresolved State budget and grants being 
held up, and of the benefit to nonprofits to receive local grant funds in a timely fashion. She ex-
pressed that she would like to bring back the Food Bank to discuss their needs, as the Council 
previously discussed during the nonprofit discussion. She shared that the Governor should be 
coming to Kodiak in October. She expressed that, hopefully, a community forum will be sched-
uled presenting information on the State budget situation to allow the community to hear and to 
ask questions of the Governor. She shared that Alaska Fish and Game Commissioner Cotten will 
attend the next Fisheries Work Group meeting on August 23, 2016.  
 
She shared that City administration will continue to present information to the Council on re-
viewing sales tax, business licenses, and the sales tax cap in the next couple of months and how 
changes can be made to ensure continued quality services and affordable living for our residents. 
She shared that as action has been taken tonight, Pier III is completed. She stated the City has a 
great partnership on Pier III with Matson and the crane along with KEA and the flywheel, and 
the new pier will last 30 years or more. She explained that the City will continue to seek funding 
for other major infrastructure replacements, such as Mill Bay road; be engaged with federal and 
state fish regulations that affect our economy; and put effort into how we can best have an eco-
nomic proactive piece in place. She congratulated the Finance Department for their award and 
their hard work. 
 
 
 
 

10



 AUGUST 11, 2016 8121 
 

VIII. COUNCIL COMMENTS 
 
Councilmember Walker expressed gratefulness for Pier III being completed. He thanked Corey 
Gronn for his work on the different projects at the park and keeping things operating smoothly 
and Lon White for his presentation on harbor fees and the future of the harbor. He thanked Kelly 
Mayes and her department for their hard work and expressed appreciation for the presentations 
given. He shared that school starts on August 29 and August 30 and to watch out for the buses 
and kids. He shared that the football team will have their first game on Friday. 
 
Councilmember Davidson encouraged everyone to vote and register to vote if not done already. 
He shared that he turned in his petition for re-election. He congratulated the finance department 
and Kelly Mayes for their superb work. He shared that he understands the efforts to make gov-
ernment more efficient regarding consolidation and expressed that he wants to know how much 
it is going to cost before making a decision either way. 
 
Councilmember Arboleda thanked the staff for all their hard work this summer.  
 
Councilmember Bishop gave an update on the City Marijuana Committee. He shared that the 
City opted out for six months, while the Borough opted out for a year. He shared that presently 
the City is at a standstill regarding zoning since the Borough has zoning authority. He encour-
aged everyone to attend the joint work session on August 23, 2016. He shared that the musical 
festival is this weekend. He expressed thanks to CHARR for providing free transportation to and 
from the musical festival. 
 
Councilmember Saravia thanked Chief of Police Wallace and City police officers for their hard 
work. He shared that the park is always full and very clean and thanked Parks and Recreation for 
doing an excellent job. He said consolidation is good if it saved money. He stated the City and 
Borough each have different powers and responsibilities. He expressed that more information is 
required, and it should be given in a public forum before taking action that affects the whole 
community. 
 
Councilmember Whiddon congratulated Kelly Mayes, the finance staff, and department heads 
for their work they put into receiving the budget award. He shared that the Fisheries Work Group 
meeting is on August 23, 2016, and there are no real hot button topics right now since the North 
Pacific Fisheries Management Council (NPFMC) is not going to address the Gulf trawl bycatch 
motion at their October meeting. He stated that the Fisheries Work Group will discuss how it 
will address its position for the December NPFMC meeting. He shared that he has been in con-
tact with the Sitka Economic Development Association and discussed how and when Kodiak 
should start working on an economic development initiative as a community. He stated that if we 
can create more economic activity in our community, it can create more jobs and can stabilize 
the tax base. He expressed that the Sitka Economic Development Association has done great 
work, and he hopes to learn from what they have been able to do for their community. He shared 
his dismay when reading a headline in the paper that the City approved $25,000 to influence 
elections. He noted that the article was accurate, but expressed the headline was not true. He ex-
pressed that the money is set aside to provide education on any measure and to inform the public 
because without supporting information, voters may not know what they are voting for on the 
ballot. He expressed that if information is being given that is not factual, the City has a responsi-

11



 AUGUST 11, 2016 8122 
 

bility to voters to not take sides, but to give correct information to make an informed decision. 
He expressed to the Kodiak Daily Mirror to get facts straight before making headlines. 
 

IX. AUDIENCE COMMENTS 
 
Bonny McWethy thanked Police Chief Wallace for the presentation. She advocated for the City 
to reconsider the removal of the body cameras. She shared information from a study through the 
University of South Florida that showed that the accountability of body cameras keep civilians 
and officers safer. She thanked officers for their services. 
 
Ginger Duncan shared that accountability for all parties is a good thing. She shared an experi-
ence where use of body cameras allowed individuals to be held accountable. She advocated for 
the City to reconsider the removal of the body cameras. She spoke about the possible require-
ment of the City to require business licenses to participate in different farmers markets and ba-
zaars. She expressed that requiring a business license and potentially being taxed on items being 
made would hamper the creativity and ability of people to make any money and could possibly 
allow inspectors to come into our homes at their will. 
 
Nick Adams expressed his agreement with the previous public comment on business licenses 
and taxation. He expressed that some of the total cost to rework the skate ramps could possibly 
be used to provide something at the skate park for the younger kids.   
 

X. ADJOURNMENT 
 
Councilmember Davidson MOVED to adjourn the meeting. 

 
The roll call vote was Councilmembers Arboleda, Bishop, Davidson, Saravia, Walker, and 
Whiddon in favor. The motion passed. 

 
The meeting adjourned at 9:20 p.m. 

 
  CITY OF KODIAK 

 
 
 

  MAYOR 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 

  

CITY CLERK   
 
Minutes Approved:  

12



  8123  

DRAFT 
MINUTES OF THE SPECIAL COUNCIL MEETING 

OF THE CITY OF KODIAK 
HELD TUESDAY, AUGUST 30, 2016 

IN THE CITY CONFERENCE ROOM 
 
I. Meeting Called to Order 
 

Deputy Mayor Richard H. Walker called the meeting to order at 11:02 a.m. Councilmembers 
Laura B. Arboleda, Randall C. Bishop, Charles E. Davidson, Gabriel T. Saravia, and John B. 
Whiddon were present and constituted a quorum. Mayor Pat Branson was absent. City Manager 
Aimée Kniaziowski, City Clerk Debra L. Marlar, Deputy City Manager Mike Tvenge and Depu-
ty Clerk Michelle Shuravloff-Nelson were also present.  

 
II.  Public Comments on Agenda Items  
 
 None 
 
III. Unfinished Business 
 

a.  Second Reading and Public Hearing, Ordinance No. 1358, Authorizing the Expenditure 
of the $25,000 Appropriated to Ballot Initiative Expense in the FY2017 Operating 
Budget to Inform the Public Regarding the Effects of the Collective Bargaining Ordi-
nance Initiative Proposition and the Kodiak Island Borough Proposition to Consolidate 
the Kodiak Island Borough and the City of Kodiak Into a Single Unit of Government, 
Including Without Limitation Information That May Influence the Outcome of the 
Election on Either Proposition 

 
Deputy Mayor Walker read Ordinance No. 1358 by title. For the past several years the Council 
has appropriated funds in the General Fund Legislative Budget Account No. 450.138 titled Bal-
lot Initiative Expense that may be used to educate the public on ballot measures. $25,000 was 
budgeted in the FY2017 budget for this purpose. This year there are two ballot questions for 
which the City may desire to provide public education. One is an initiative for collective bargain-
ing for City employees under the Public Employment Relations Act, and the other is a Kodiak Is-
land Borough Assembly advisory proposition to pursue the idea of consolidating the Borough 
and City of Kodiak into a single unit of government. While AS 15.13.145(c)(2) permits the City 
to provide the public with nonpartisan information about a ballot proposition, AS 15.13.145(b) 
prohibits the City from using public funds to influence the outcome of an election concerning a 
ballot proposition unless the City specifically appropriates funds for this purpose by ordinance. 
The Alaska Public Offices Commission (APOC), which enforces these State statutes, interprets 
the statutes very narrowly so that the City cannot inform the public fully about the effects of the 
ballot propositions without including information that APOC likely would categorize as influ-
encing the outcome of the election on the ballot propositions. Ordinance No. 1358 conforms with 
APOC requirements and would permit the City to provide public information about these two in-
itiatives. 
  
Councilmember Whiddon MOVED to adopt Ordinance No. 1358. 
 
Deputy Mayor Walker closed the special meeting, opened and closed the public hearing when no 
one came forward to testify, and reopened the special meeting. 

13



 AUGUST 30, 2016 8124 
 

 
The roll call vote was Councilmembers Arboleda, Bishop, Davidson, Saravia, Walker, and 
Whiddon in favor. The motion passed. 
 

IV. Executive Session  
 

a.  Discussion of the City’s Strategy, if any, in Response to the City Collective  
Bargaining and KIB Consolidation Ordinance Initiatives 

 
Councilmember Davidson MOVED to enter into executive session pursuant to AS 
44.62.310(c)(1) to discuss matters, the immediate knowledge of which would clearly have an ad-
verse effect upon the finances of the City, specifically the City’s strategy in response to the City 
collective bargaining and KIB consolidation ordinance initiatives. 

 
The roll call vote was Councilmembers Arboleda, Bishop, Davidson, Saravia, Walker, and 
Whiddon in favor. The motion passed. 
 
Council entered into Executive Session at 11:10 a.m. 
 
Deputy Mayor Walker reconvened the special meeting at 12:15 p.m. 
 

V. Adjournment 
 

Councilmember Whiddon MOVED to adjourn the meeting. 
 

The roll call vote was Councilmembers Arboleda, Bishop, Davidson, Saravia, Walker, and 
Whiddon in favor. The motion passed. 

 
Deputy Mayor Walker adjourned the meeting at 12:15 p.m. 

 
  CITY OF KODIAK 

 
 
 

    MAYOR 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 

  

  CITY CLERK   
 
Minutes Approved:  

14



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

15



MEMORANDUM TO COUNCIL 

To: Mayor Branson and City Councilmembers
From: Aimee Kniaziowski, City Mana�

Thru: Mike Tvenge, Deputy City Manager -

Date: September 8, 2016
Agenda Item: IV. a. Second Reading and Public Hearing, Ordinance No. 1349, Authorizing a 

Lease Between the City of Kodiak and GCI Communication Corporation 

for Pillar Mountain Communication Lease Site No. 9, Described as a 
Portion of Tract B, U.S. Survey 2538-A 

SUMMARY: City Council and the City Manager approve communication site leases/subleases as
required by Kodiak City Code 18.20.230. The existing lease with GCI Communication Corporation
expired June 30, 2016. This new lease agreement has a term of five years and requires approval by
ordinance. Staff recommends City Council adopt Ordinance No. 1349.

PREVIOUS COUNCIL ACTION: 

• In February 2011, City Council approved Ordinance No. 1238 authorizing a five-year lease to
GCI Communication Corporation (GCI).

• On May 12, 2016, Council postponed Ordinance No. 1349 to allow staff to perform a market
analysis on cell tower lease rates.

• On August 11, 2016, Council passed Ordinance No. 1349 in the first reading and advanced to
second reading and public hearing at the next regular or special meeting.

DISCUSSION: GCI continues to operate from Site No. 9 located on Pillar Mt. This Lease Agreement is
a renewal of Site No. 9 to GCI. Records reveal they have held the lease since 2000. The Alaska Wireless
Network LLC will also sublease from GCI. The Lease of Pillar Mt. Site No. 9 to GCI Communication
Corporation held a statement allowing its Subtenant - Alaska Wireless Network to lease beyond the term
of the Prime Lease Tenant -GCI. This is not allowable under the KCC; therefore, changes were required
and have been incorporated in Section 10 of the Sublease Agreement.

The most recent lease expired in June 2016, and this renewal will expire June 30, 2021. It 1s
recommended by staff to authorize lease of Site No. 9 to GCI.

ALTERNATIVES: 

1) Adopt Ordinance No. 1349, which is recommended by staff.
2) Delay or not adopt Ordinance No. 1349, which could allow the current Lease agreement to

remain expired as of June 30, 2016.

SEPTEMBER 8, 2016 
Agenda Item IV. a. Memo Page 1 of 2 

16



FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: The annual rent for this site is $13,200 with a 2.5 percent increase 

each year. Lessee shall remit to City 50 percent of any assignment or sublease revenues paid monthly. 

LEGAL: Legal counsel has reviewed this lease proposal and provided comments which have been 

incorporated. 

DEPUTY CITY MANAGER'S COMMENTS: The City Clerk's office has compiled a list of the City 

of Kodiak Communication Site Leases. The commercial leases of this type within the City are at 

comparable annual rates. This lease contains a provision for sublease to Alaska Wireless Network which 

requires City Council approval. This ordinance conveys the required approval. 

The City Clerk has worked with our attorney and the lessee parties to establish an Agreement acceptable 

by both parties. Therefore, it is my recommendation we approve this Lease Agreement to GCI with an 

effective date of July 1, 2016. 

CITY MANAGER'S COMMENTS: I support the approval of this lease. I know final approval was 

postponed so Council could review and compare revenues from other local government communication 

site leases. This occurred in August and Council is now ready to move forward with approval. 

ATTACHMENTS: 

Attachment A: Ordinance No. 1349 

Attachment B: Lease Agreement 

Attachment C: Sublease Agreement 

PROPOSED MOTION: 

Move to adopt Ordinance No. 1349. 

SEPTEMBER 8, 2016 
Agenda Item IV. a. Memo Page 2 of2 

17



Ordinance No. 1349 
Page 1 of 2 

CITY OF KODIAK 
ORDINANCE NUMBER 1349 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF KODIAK AUTHORIZ-
ING A LEASE BETWEEN THE CITY OF KODIAK AND GCI COMMUNICATION 
CORPORATION FOR PILLAR MOUNTAIN COMMUNICATION LEASE SITE NO. 9, 
DESCRIBED AS A PORTION OF TRACT B, U.S. SURVEY 2538-A 

WHEREAS, the City owns property on Pillar Mountain known as Pillar Mountain 
Communication Lease Site No. 9 and 

WHEREAS, GCI Communication Corporation (“GCI”) desires to lease Communication 
Lease Site No. 9, and GCI has requested that the City Council authorize the Lease Agreement – 
Pillar Mountain Communications Site No. 9 ("Lease") that now is before this meeting; and  

WHEREAS, it is in the best interest of the City that the Lease be authorized; and 

WHEREAS, the sublease to The Alaska Wireless Network, LLC identified in Section 19 
of the Lease should be approved at no cost, provided that the approval of the sublease does not 
release GCI from any of its obligations under its Lease with the City; the sublessee agrees to 
comply with all the terms of the City's Lease with GCI regarding the use of the premises, insur-
ance and environmental requirements; and the insurance provided by GCI must cover the activi-
ties of the sublessee. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of Kodiak, Alaska, 
as follows: 

Section 1: Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in Kodiak City Code Chapter 18.20, the 
Council of the City of Kodiak hereby authorizes the Lease, Contract No. 173430, 
with GCI for a term commencing July 1, 2016, and ending June 30, 2021, for the 
communications site described in the Lease, located on a portion of U.S. Survey 
2538-A on Pillar Mountain in the City of Kodiak. 

Section 2: The form and content of the Lease between the City and GCI is in all respects 
authorized, approved, and confirmed; and the City Manager hereby is authorized, 
empowered, and directed to execute and deliver the Lease to GCI on behalf of the 
City, in substantially the form and content now before this meeting but with such 
changes, modifications, additions, and deletions therein as she shall deem neces-
sary, desirable, or appropriate, the execution thereof to constitute conclusive evi-
dence of approval of any and all changes, modifications, additions, or deletions 
therein from the form and content of said document now before this meeting, and 
from and after the execution and delivery of said document, the City Manager 
hereby is authorized, empowered, and directed to do all acts and things and to ex-
ecute all documents as may be necessary to carry out and comply with the provi-
sions of the Lease as executed. 

Section 3: This ordinance shall be published in full within ten days after its passage. 

Attachment A

18



Ordinance No. 1349 
Page 2 of 2 

 
Section 4: The Lease authorized by this ordinance is subject to the requirements of City 

Charter Section V-17. Therefore, if one or more referendum petitions with signa-
tures are properly filed within one month after the passage and publication of this 
ordinance, this ordinance shall not go into effect until the petition or petitions are 
finally found to be illegal and/or insufficient, or, if any such petition is found legal 
and sufficient, until the ordinance is approved at an election by a majority of the 
qualified voters voting on the question. If no referendum petition with signatures 
is filed, this ordinance shall take effect one month after its passage and publica-
tion. 

 
  CITY OF KODIAK 

 
 
 

  MAYOR 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 

 
 

CITY CLERK 
 
 
First Reading Postponed: May 12, 2016  
Continued First Reading: August 11, 2016 
Second Reading:   
Effective Date:   

19



LEASE AGREEMENT 

PILLAR MT. COMMUNICATIONS SITE NO. 9 
GCI Communication Corp. 

LEASE AGREEMENT dated as of the __ day of 2016 by and 
between the City of Kodiak, a municipal corporation of the State of Alaska ("City"), whose 
address is 710 Mill Bay Road, Kodiak, Alaska 99615, and GCI Communication Corp., an 
Alaskan corporation ("Tenant"), whose address is 2550 Denali Street, Suite 1000, Anchorage, 
Alaska 99503. For and in consideration of the covenants and conditions contained herein, the 
parties agree as follows: 

1. Premises. Subject to the terms and conditions herein, City leases to Tenant the
premises ("Premises") illustrated on Exhibit A hereto and described as a portion of Tract B, U.S. 
Survey 2538-A adjacent to Kodiak Low Rent Housing Parcel Number 1, U.S. Survey 2538-A & 
B, Plat numbers 66-1 and 85-22, Kodiak Recording District, Third Judicial District, Kodiak Island 
Borough, State of Alaska, more particularly described as follows: 

Beginning at Corner 3 of said Parcel Number 1; 
Thence S 34°45' 57'' E a distance of 25.00 feet to a point on the Corner 3-Corner 4 

boundary of said Parcel Number 1, The True Point of Beginning: Corner 1, G.C.I. 
Lease Parcel; 

Thence S 34°45' 57'' E, 100.00 feet; 
Thence S 55°14' 03" E, 125.00 feet; 
Thence N 34°45' 57" W, 100.00 feet; 
Thence N 55°14' 03" E, 125.00 feet to the point of beginning. 

Containing 12,500 sq. feet, more or less. 

2. Authorized Uses of Premises. Tenant shall use the Premises only for the
purpose of maintaining, operating and replacing existing equipment consisting of five (5) five
meter earth stations and a sixteen by forty-four foot equipment building, and constructing one 
(1) new satellite antenna for the village Internet/school program and for no other purpose
without first obtaining the written consent of the City.

3. Term. The term of this Lease ("Term") shall commence the 1 day of July 2016,
and shall expire at midnight on the 30 day of June 2021, unless sooner terminated as herein 
provided. 

4. Rent. The annual rent for the Premises for the first year of the Term shall be
Thirteen Thousand Two Hundred Dollars ($13,200.00) payable in advance in equal monthly 
installments of One Thousand Dollars ($1,100) on the first day of each month. On each 
anniversary of the commencement of the Term, the annual Rent and monthly installments of 
Rent shall be adjusted according to the following schedule: 

Year Rent Amount· 

2 102.5% of Year 1 
3 105.0% of Year 1 
4 107.5% of Year 1 
5 110.0%ofYear 1 

Pillar Mtn. Communication Site No. 9 
GCI 2016-2021 
City Contract No. 222380 
Ord. 1349 

Page 1 of 8 

Attachment B

20



Payment shall be made by wire, check, bank draft or money order made payable to City of 
Kodiak. If a monthly installment of rent is not paid by the fifth day of the month in which it is due, 
a penalty of $30 shall be added to the rent amount; and interest shall accrue on the rent amount 
at the rate of 12% per annum (but not to exceed the maximum lawful rate) from the due date 
until paid. 

5. Utilities. Tenant shall pay for any utility service that it requires for its use of the
Premises. 

6. Holding Over. If Tenant continues to occupy the Premises following the
expiration of the Term of this Lease or any renewal with the consent of the City, Tenant's 
occupancy shall be treated as a month-to-month tenancy at a rent equal to one hundred twelve 
and one half percent (112.5%) of the rent in effect under this Lease immediately prior to the 
commencement of the holdover period. 

7. Improvements. Tenant may not construct or install any permanent or temporary
improvements on the Premises other than the facilities identified in Section 2 without first 
obtaining the written consent of the City. Tenant shall properly locate all improvements on the 
Premises, and shall not encroach upon other lands of the City or any other person. 

8. Maintenance of Premises. Tenant shall at all times, and at Tenant's sole cost
and expense, keep and maintain the entire Premises in a neat, orderly, and sightly condition. 
Tenant shall not cause or permit any junk, litter, debris, scrap or garbage to be accumulated or 
stored upon the Premises without the express written permission of the City. 

9. Surrender of Premises: Disposition of Improvements. Upon the expiration,
termination or cancellation of this Lease for any cause whatsoever, Tenant shall peacefully and 
quietly surrender the Premises in a condition as good as the Premises were at the beginning of 
the Term. Within one hundred eighty (180) days after such expiration, termination or 
cancellation of this Lease, Tenant shall either remove all of its improvements and personal 
property from the Premises and immediately repair any damage to the Premises caused by 
such removal, or with the consent of City sell such improvements and personal property to the 
succeeding tenant. City may extend the time for removal if Tenant demonstrates to City's 
satisfaction that the extension is required to avoid hardship to Tenant. During any period of time 
after termination or expiration of this Lease that Tenant's improvements or personal property 
remain on the Premises, Tenant shall pay rent at the rate provided in Section 6 for a holdover 
period. Title to any improvements or other property owned by Tenant that Tenant fails to 
dispose of as required by this section shall vest in City. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary 
in this section, Tenant may not remove any improvements without City consent during any 
period that Tenant is in default under this Lease. 

10. Liability. Tenant shall indemnify, defend and hold City and its agents, officers
and employees harmless from any liability, action, claim, suit, loss, property damage or personal 
injury of whatever kind resulting from any act or omission by Tenant, its agents, employees or 
invitees to the extent arising from Tenant's use and occupation of the Premises or its exercise of 
the rights and privileges granted by this Lease, except that Tenant shall have no duty to 
indemnify City or its agents, officers or employees for their own negligence, misconduct or 
breach of the terms of this Lease. 

Pillar Mtn. Communication Site No. 9 
GCI 2016-2021 
City Contract No. 222380 
Ord. 1349 

Page 2 of 8 

21



11. Insurance. Before entering upon the Premises, Tenant shall file with City
certificates or evidence of insurance acceptable to City, including evidence of the additional 
insured and waiver of subrogation endorsements required in this section. Coverages shall be 
maintained without interruption throughout the Term and any extensions thereof. The coverages 
afforded under the policies will not be cancelled, modified or allowed to expire without at least 
thirty (30) days' prior written notice to City. Tenant shall provide each of the forms of insurance 
coverage described below. 

Workers' Compensation insurance in accordance with the applicable laws relating to 
workers' compensation and employers' liability insurance with respect to all personnel 
performing work on the Premises with limits of not less than: 

$500,000 Bodily Injury by Accident-Each Accident Limit 
$500,000 Bodily Injury by Disease-Policy Limit 
$500,000 Bodily Injury by Disease-Each Employee 
Liability Insurance to protect Tenant and City (additionally insured) from and against 

claims and liabilities arising out of bodily injury (including death) or property damage that may 
result from Tenant's operations, construction, reconstruction and maintenance on the Premises, 
including the following: 

Commercial General Liability insurance (including, but not limited to, premises-
operations, products, contractual, broad-form property damage) with limits as follows: 

$1,000,000 Each Occurrence Limit 
$2,000,000 General Aggregate excluding Products/Completed Operations Aggregate 
Limit 
$2,000,000 Products/Completed Operations Aggregate Limit 
$1,000,000 Personal and Advertising Injury Limits 
Business Automobile Liability insurance (including owned, hired and non-owned) with a 

combined single limit of not less than $1,000,000 for bodily injury (including death) and property 
damage. 

Additional Insured; Waiver of Subrogation. The Commercial General Liability and 
Business Automobile Liability policies shall name City as additional insured. Tenant's insurance 
shall also be primary to any policies held by City and the coverage afforded City under such 
policies shall be the same coverage extended to Tenant without exception or limitation. Tenant 
waives all rights of subrogation against City and its agents, officers, directors and employees for 
recovery of damages to the extent these damages are covered by the Commercial General 
Liability, Business Automobile and Workers' Compensation policies. 

The requirements of this section as to insurance to be maintained by Tenant do not limit 
or qualify the liabilities and obligations of Tenant under this Lease. 

12. Hazardous Material. Tenant shall not permit or cause any Hazardous Material to
be brought upon, kept or used in or about the Premises by its employees, agents, contractors or 
invitees. If Tenant breaches this obligation, or if the presence of Hazardous Material on or about 
the Premises caused or permitted by Tenant results in contamination of the Premises, or if 
contamination of the Premises otherwise occurs for which Tenant is legally liable for damage 
resulting therefrom, then Tenant shall indemnify, defend and hold City harmless from any and 
all claims, judgments, damages, penalties, fines, costs, liabilities or losses (including without 
limitation diminution in value of the Premises, damages for the loss or restriction of useable 
space or of any amenity of the Premises, and sums paid in settlement of claims, attorney fees, 
consultant fees and expert fees) that arise during or after the period in which this Lease is in 
effect as a direct result of such contamination. This indemnification includes without limitation 
reasonable and necessary costs incurred in connection with any investigation of Premises 

Pillar Mtn. Communication Site No. 9 
GCI 2016-2021 
City Contract No. 222380 
Ord. 1349 

Page 3 of 8 

22



conditions or any clean-up, remedial, removal or restoration work required by any federal, state 
or local government agency or political subdivision because of Hazardous Material present in 
the soil or groundwater on or under the Premises. Without limiting the foregoing, if the presence 
of any Hazardous Material on the Premises caused or permitted by Tenant results in any 
contamination of the Premises, Tenant shall take all actions at its expense as are necessary to 
return the Premises to the condition existing prior to Tenant's introduction of any such 
Hazardous Material to the Premises; provided that City's approval of such actions shall first be 
obtained, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld so long as such actions would not 
potentially have any material adverse long-term or short-term effect on the Premises. As used 
herein, the term "Hazardous Material" means any hazardous or toxic substance, material or 
waste, that is or becomes regulated by any local governmental authority, the State of Alaska, or 
the United States Government. City agrees to indemnify, defend and hold harmless, at its 
expense, Tenant from any and all costs, losses, damages, claims, suits or other liabilities, 
including reasonable attorney fees, arising from or related to contamination occurring at the 
Premises released by City, its agents or its other tenants. Neither party shall have the duty to 
indemnify to the extent the damages are caused by the misconduct, fault or negligence of the 
indemnitee, its employees, agents or invitees. 

13. Quiet Enjoyment. Provided Tenant is not in default of this Lease, Tenant shall
have peaceful and quiet use and possession of the Premises without hindrance on the part of 
City, and City shall warrant and defend Tenant in such peaceful and quiet use and possession 
against the claims of all persons claiming by, through or under City. 

14. Non-Interference with Communications Use. City shall not cause or permit the
placement of any structure on the Premises or on other property owned or controlled by City 
that would interfere with the view of the satellite arc from Tenant's communications equipment 
on the Premises without Tenant's prior written consent, which shall not be unreasonably 
withheld. 

15. Inspection. Tenant shall permit the authorized agents and employees of the City
to enter upon the Premises at any reasonable time for the purpose of inspecting the condition of 
the Premises or the use thereof. 

16. Liens. Tenant shall not cause or permit any lien or encumbrance to be imposed
on the Premises or any part thereof. Tenant shall, at its sole expense, obtain the release and 
discharge of any such lien or encumbrance by payment, bonding or otherwise, within thirty (30) 
days after receipt of written notice from the City. 

17. Taxes and Charges. Tenant shall pay when due all taxes and other charges
which are levied at any time during the Term upon its leasehold interest or any of its 
improvement on the Premises. 

18. Compliance with Laws and Regulations. Tenant, at its sole cost and expense,
shall comply with and shall cause the Premises to comply with all federal, state, municipal and 
other governmental statutes, laws, rules, orders, regulations and ordinances affecting the 
Premises or any part thereof, or the use thereof, whether or not any such statutes, laws, rules, 
orders, regulations or ordinances which may be hereafter enacted involve a change of policy on 
the part of the governmental body enacting the same. 

Pillar Mtn. Communication Site No. 9 
GCI 2016-2021 
City Contract No. 222380 
Ord. 1349 

Page 4 of 8 

23



19. Assignment and Subleasing. Tenant is authorized to sublease to Alaska
Wireless Network, LLC under the terms of the Sublease Agreement attached hereto as Exhibit 
B. Tenant shall not otherwise assign its rights, enter into a sublease, or delegate its duties under
this Lease without the prior written consent of City and under the terms outlined in Kodiak City
Code Title 18, Section 18.20.230. Lessee shall remit to City fifty percent (50%) of any
assignment or sublease revenues paid monthly in equal installments, which shall fall due on the
first day of each calendar month.

20. Condemnation. If the Premises are taken by the power of eminent domain, the
term of this Lease will end on the date Tenant is required to surrender possession of the 
Premises. City is entitled to all the condemnation proceeds, except Tenant will be paid the 
portion of the proceeds attributable to the fair market value of any improvements placed on the 
Premises by Tenant. Rent will also be adjusted to apply to the period ending on the date Tenant 
is required to surrender possession of the Premises. 

21. Force Majeure. Either party may terminate this Lease upon thirty (30) days'
written notice to the other, in accordance with Section 22, if any cause that occurs without the 
fault or negligence of the terminating either party renders the Premises unusable for more than 
30 days. Such causes include without limitation acts of God or the public enemy, acts of the 
United States, fires, floods, epidemics, quarantine restrictions or strikes. No party shall be liable 
for any delay or failure in performance due to such events outside of the party's reasonable 
control. The obligations and rights of the excused party shall be extended on a day-to-day basis 
for the duration of the cause of the delay. 

22. Termination. City may terminate this Lease and recover possession of the
Premises by giving Tenant thirty (30) days' prior written notice, upon the happening of any of the 
events listed below, which are not cured within such thirty (30) day notice period: 

(a) Tenant's failure to pay when due the rents or fees specified in this Lease,
including any increases made pursuant to this Lease. 

(b) The return for insufficient funds of checks for payment of rents or fees.
(c) The use of the Premises by Tenant for any purpose not authorized by this Lease.
(d) The failure of Tenant to perform any obligation in this Lease.

If it is not possible for Tenant to cure a default, other than a default in payment of the rents or 
fees specified in this Lease, within such thirty (30) day cure period, Tenant shall not be in 
default under this Lease if it has promptly commenced and is diligently pursing the cure thereof. 

Tenant may terminate this Lease with thirty (30) days' written notice if for any reason the 
Premises become unsuitable for its communications purposes, or if City fails to perform any 
obligation in this Lease. If it is not possible for City to cure a default within such thirty (30) day 
cure period, City shall not be in default under this Lease if it has promptly commenced and is 
diligently pursing the cure thereof. 

23. Remedies Cumulative; No Waiver. No reference to any specific right or
remedy shall preclude City from exercising any other right or from having any other remedy or 
from maintaining any action to which it may otherwise be entitled at law or in equity. No failure 
by City to insist upon the strict performance of any agreement, term, covenant or condition 
hereof, or to exercise any right or remedy consequent upon a breach thereof, and no 
acceptance of full or partial rent during the continuance of any such breach, shall constitute a 
waiver of any such breach, agreement, term, covenant or condition. No waiver by City of any 
breach by Tenant under this Lease shall affect or alter this Lease in any way whatsoever. 

Pillar Mtn. Communication Site No. 9 
GCI 2016-2021 
City Contract No. 222380 
Ord. 1349 

Page 5 of 8 

24



24. Successors and Assigns. This Lease and the covenants and conditions herein
contained shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon City and its successors and assigns, 
shall be binding upon Tenant and its successors and assigns, and shall inure to the benefit of 
Tenant and only such assigns of Tenant to whom the assignment of this Lease by Tenant has 
been consented to by City. 

25. Notices. Any notice, request, demand, approval or consent given or required to
be given under this Lease shall be in writing and shall be hand delivered or sent by registered or 
certified mail addressed as follows: 

City of Kodiak: 
Attn.: City Manager 
710 Mill Bay Road 
Kodiak, Alaska 99615 
Telephone: (907) 486-8640 

With a Copy to: 
Kodiak City Clerk 
710 Mill Bay Road 
Kodiak, Alaska 99615 
Telephone: (907) 486-8633 
Fax: (907) 486-8633 
Email: clerk@city.kodiak.ak.us 

GCI: 
GCI Communication Corp. 
Attn.: Corporate Counsel 
2550 Denali St., Suite 1000 
Anchorage, AK 99503 

With a Copy to: 
GCI Contact: Corporate Services, Properties 
Attn.: Carolyn Lima 
Telephone: 907.868.5580 
Cell: 907 230-6689 
Email: clima@gci.com 

Either party may, at any time, change its notice address for the above purposes by sending a 
notice to the other party stating the change and setting forth the new address. 

26. Entire Agreement; Modification. This Lease is the final expression of the
parties' agreement and a complete and exclusive statement of the terms thereof, all 
negotiations, considerations and representations between the parties having been incorporated 
herein. This Lease can be modified only by a writing signed by the party against whom the 
modification is to be enforced. 

27. Severability. If any term or provision of this Lease, or the application thereof to
any person or circumstance, shall be invalid or unenforceable, the remainder of this Lease, or 
the application of such term or provision to persons or circumstances other than those as to 
which it is held invalid or unenforceable, shall not be affected thereby, and each term and 
provision of this Lease shall be valid and be enforced to the fullest extent permitted by law. 

28. No Third Party Beneficiary. Nothing contained in this Lease shall confer any
rights on a person other than the parties hereto. 

29. Applicable Law. This Lease and the rights and obligations of the parties
hereunder shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of 
Alaska. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties hereto have executed this Lease as of the date first 
set forth above. 

Pillar Mtn. Communication Site No. 9 
GCI 2016-2021 
City Contract No. 222380 
Ord. 1349 

Page 6 of 8 

25



CITY OF KODIAK 

Aimee Kniaziowski, City Manager 

Attest: 

Debra L. Marlar, City Clerk 

Pillar Mtn. Communication Site No. 9 
GCI 2016-2021 
City Contract No. 222380 
Ord. 1349 

GCI COMMUNICATION CORP. 

David Morris, VP, Corporate Services 

Page 7 of 8 

26



Exhibit A 

COR.4-/ 

' , 

TRACT B> ., U.'8. 5URVSY 20?8 -A 

Seda: I", ,JO e 

Pillar Mtn. Communication Site No. 9 
GCI 2016-2021 
City Contract No. 222380 
Ord. 1349 

LEGEl-112' 
• , ttr."'!6 -'t, '"'Pon %"pr ,..."6r~I fhis 

*-',v.:,y. 

0 ~ Z"<>' br,1"" =1" monun,enf r<!'l::ov.ere-d 
,<his -,v,-.,~. 

PRl=l'A!l:EO F'Q.!: CtTYof" KOPIAK. 
i!!4/o M,'/I P,y R,/. l(d14k., Ak· 

PREPAREO ~Y: ECKt.U,Vo .SURVEYING 
P.O. !Jox 14,;, Jrodia.k,M .9.!}G/~ 

GCI LEASE: 
PARC&;L 

PILLA~ MOUNiAUJ 

.StrUATEP WITHIN 
tRAcr 8, L.I.S.SURVEY l?'.S:$6'-A 

lt'0.0/AK ALASKA 
Dmm b , IS, Au,, rm1111 Dau, 4 ,;,!,,-1.11r e()<!)O 

Page 8 of 8 

27



1 
AWN Contract #AWN-000652 

SUBLEASE AGREEMENT 

THIS SUBLEASE AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is made effective as of May 1, 2016  (“Effective 
Date”), between GCI Communication Corp., a corporation (“Sublandlord”) organized and existing under 
the laws of Alaska with its head office located at 2550 Denali Street, Suite 1000, Anchorage, AK 99503- 
2751 and The Alaska Wireless Network, LLC, 2550 Denali Street, Suite 1000, Anchorage, AK 99503- 
2751, an Delaware limited liability company, on its own behalf and on behalf of its telecommunications 
affiliates (collectively, “Subtenant”) (each a “Party” and collectively, the “Parties”). Sublandlord is the 
sole tenant of the property located at Site No. 9, Pillar Mountain Road, Kodiak, AK 99615, pursuant to 
that Lease Agreement dated May 24, 2011 (the “Prime Lease”). 

1. PREMISES AND AUTHORIZED USES
Sublandlord subleases to Subtenant the following premises (“Premises”): An approximately 12’ x 20’ 
portion of Tract B, US Survey 2538-A, adjacent to Kodiak Low Rent Housing Parcel Number 1, US 
Survey 2538-A & B, Plat numbers 66-1 and 85-22, Kodiak Recording District, Third Judicial District, 
Kodiak Island Borough, State of Alaska as outlined in Exhibit A of this Agreement. Subtenant may 
construct, maintain, and operate a technical facility and related communications equipment at the 
Premises in conjunction with Subtenant’s operation as a communications provider. The Premises must be 
appropriate and adequate as determined by Subtenant. If no such space is provided by Sublandlord, this 
Agreement will be deemed void ab initio. Sublandlord may change the location of the Premises upon 60 
days’ written notice and provided that the new location is appropriate and adequate as determined by 
Subtenant.  Sublandlord will be responsible for all costs of Subtenant in moving to the new Premises. 

Subtenant will have the right to reasonable access to operate and maintain this equipment, and all 
replacement equipment thereto 24 hours a day/ 7 days a week. All such equipment must be compatible 
with and not adversely impact the operation and maintenance of Sublandlord’s equipment, or the 
equipment of any other Party authorized to use Sublandlord’s facility. 

2. TERM AND LICENSE
The  term of this Agreement is 5 years (“Term”), to the extent that Sublandlord holds over under the 
terms of the Prime Lease, Subtenant shall be treated as a holdver tenant under this Agreement subject to 
the same terms. 

3. SPACE AND POWER CHARGES
Sublandlord grants the rights conferred by this Agreement to Subtenant in return for mutual promises and 
good and valuable consideration conveyed as part of previous transactions between the Parties, the receipt 
and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged. Additional monthly charges for use of the Premises 
will be Zero Dollars ($0.00) per month. Subtenant shall be solely responsible for and promptly pay all 
charges for gas, electricity, telephone service, or any other utility used or consumed by Subtenant on the 
Premises. If Subtenant uses utilities which are not separately metered and which are billed to Sublandlord, 
Subtenant shall pay to Sublandlord, within thirty (30) days of receipt of an invoice therefore, all charges 
attributable to Subtenant’s use of the utility. 

4. PRIME LEASE
Except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, to the extent that the terms and conditions of 
the “Prime Lease”, a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit B, are applicable to the Premises (which 
terms and conditions shall include, without limitation, the default and remedy provisions of the Prime 
Lease), such terms and conditions of the Prime Lease are incorporated into and made a part of this 
Agreement as if Sublandlord were the lessor thereunder, Subtenant were the lessee thereunder. To the 

Attachment C

28



2 
AWN Contract #AWN-000652 

 

extent the terms of the Prime Lease and this Agreement conflict with each other (as distinguished from 
being different because this is a collocation sublease), this Agreement is subject to such terms of the 
Prime Lease. As between the Prime Lease and this Agreement, the more restrictive term or provision 
dealing with rights or privileges under either agreement shall apply to Subtenant. 

 
Subtenant acknowledges that Sublandlord specifically reserves the right to amend the terms of the Prime 
Lease without the consent of Subtenant, provided that Subtenant shall not hereby be deemed to have 
assumed the obligations of Sublandlord under the Prime Lease to the extent such provisions are hereafter 
modified by Sublandlord  without Subtenant’s consent and have a material adverse impact on Subtenant 
or the Premises. If the Prime Lease terminates, this Agreement shall terminate on the effective date 
of the termination of the Prime Lease and the parties shall be relieved of any further liability or obligation 
under this Agreement, provided however, that if the Prime Lease terminates as a result of a default or 
breach by Subtenant under this Agreement and/or the Prime Lease, then the Subtenant shall be liable to 
the Sublandlord for the damage suffered as a result of such termination. Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, if the Prime Lease gives Sublandlord any right to terminate the Prime Lease in the event of the 
partial or total damage, destruction, or condemnation of the property or the building of which the 
Premises are a part, the exercise of such right by Sublandlord shall not constitute a default or breach 
hereunder. 

 
Sublandlord and Landlord shall have no liability whatsoever to Subtenant with respect to (i) termination 
of the Prime Lease for any reason (including without limitation Sublandlord's default thereunder) or (ii) 
termination of this Agreement as a result of termination of the Prime Lease. 

 
5. FIXTURES AND IMPROVEMENTS 

At no additional charge, Subtenant may operate, maintain and replace equipment at the Premises so long 
as the size of Subtenant’s Premises is not increased thereby. Any construction on the Premises must be 
neat, presentable, and compatible with its use and surroundings. Subtenant will have the right to remove 
all fixtures, structures and improvements it makes to the Premises upon termination of this Agreement. 

 
Within 180 days after the end of this Agreement, improvements and personal property must be: 

• removed by Subtenant if required by Sublandlord; or 
• with Sublandlord’s consent, be sold to the succeeding Subtenant; or 
• abandoned on the Premises. 

 
Sublandlord may grant additional time for the removal of improvements if hardship is established by 
Subtenant. At the end of this Agreement, Subtenant must peaceably and quietly vacate the Premises and 
return possession to Sublandlord. The Premises must be left in a clean, neat and presentable condition, at 
least as good as existed at the commencement of the Agreement, normal wear and tear excepted. If 
Subtenant causes any abnormal wear and tear or abuse of or to the Premises, Subtenant shall, at its 
expense and upon demand by Sublandlord, immediately eliminate such abnormal wear and tear or abuse 
or waste and pay for the restoration of the affected area(s) to a commercially reasonable equivalent 
condition to the Premises’ condition at the commencement of this Agreement. 

 
6. RADIO OR ELECTRONIC INTERFERENCE 

In the event of radio frequency or other electronic interference, the Parties agree to work cooperatively to 
find a mutually satisfactory solution to any interference problem. In the event the problem cannot be 
resolved, regardless of whether or not the source of the problem can be determined, Subtenant will have 
the right to remove its equipment causing the interference upon 60 days’ prior written notice and/or cancel 
this Agreement. 

29



3 
AWN Contract #AWN-000652 

 

 
7. DESTRUCTION OF PREMISES 

If the Premises become unusable due to flood, fire, or other unavoidable cause, Sublandlord is not 
obligated to repair or restore the Premises. Subtenant’s sole remedy is to terminate the Agreement. 

 
8. MUTUAL INDEMNITY 

Each Party will indemnify the other from and against any loss, cost, claim, liability, damage, or expense 
(including reasonable attorney’s fees) to third parties caused by negligence or misconduct by the 
indemnifying Party, its agents, employees, or contractors in the performance of this Agreement. In 
addition, the indemnifying Party will, to the extent of its negligence or misconduct, defend any action or 
suit brought by a third party against the indemnified Party for any loss, cost, claim, liability, damage, or 
expense caused by the indemnifying Party’s negligence or misconduct, its employees, agents, or 
contractors, in the performance of this Agreement. No Party will have the duty to indemnify another to 
the extent of the other Party’s own negligence or misconduct. 

 
9. TAXES AND ASSESSMENTS 

Subtenant will not be liable for payment of any real and personal property taxes or assessments that may 
be levied on the Premises or on Sublandlord’s fixtures, improvements, equipment, or other property on 
the Premises not belonging to Subtenant. Subtenant must pay any sales tax due on any payment made 
under this Agreement. 

 
10. ASSIGNMENT, SALE AND SUBLEASE 

Subtenant may not sell, assign or sublease this Agreement without the written consent of the Sublandlord, 
which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed. Such assignment, sale or 
sublease also is subject to the written consent of Landlord under the terms of the Prime Lease. 

 
11. CANCELLATION 

Sublandlord may cancel this Agreement and recover possession of the Premises by giving Subtenant 30 
days’ prior written notice, upon the happening of any of the events listed below, that are not cured within 
the 30 day notice period: 

a. Subtenant’s failure to pay when due the rents or fees specified in this Agreement, including 
any increases made pursuant to this Agreement. 

b. The return for insufficient funds of checks for payment of rents or fees. 
c. The use of the Premises by Subtenant for any purpose not authorized by this Agreement. 
d. The appointment of a trustee or receiver for the Subtenant’s assets in a proceeding brought 

by or against the Subtenant. 
e. The failure of Subtenant to perform any provision or covenant in this Agreement. If such 

provision or covenant is not possible to perform within such 30 day cure period, Subtenant 
shall not be in default under this Agreement if it has promptly commenced and is diligently 
pursing the cure thereof. 

 
Subtenant may cancel this Agreement with 30 days’ written notice if (a) for any reason the Premises 
become unsuitable for its communications purposes, (b) the appointment of a trustee or receiver for the 
Sublandlord’s assets in a proceeding brought by or against Sublandlord, or (c) the failure of Sublandlord 
to perform any provision or covenant in this Agreement. If such provision or covenant is not possible to 
perform within such 30 day cure period, Sublandlord shall not be in default under this Agreement if it has 
promptly commenced and is diligently pursing the cure thereof. 

 
12. NOTICES Any notices to be given under this Agreement by either Party to the other may be 

30



4 
AWN Contract #AWN-000652 

 

effected either by personal delivery in writing or by mail, registered or certified, postage prepaid with 
return receipt requested, to the recipient at the address indicated below: 

 
Sublandlord: Subtenant: 
GCI Communication Corp. The Alaska Wireless Network, LLC 
Attn.: Carolyn Lima Attn.: Rachelle A. Alger 
2550 Denali Street, Suite 1000 2550 Denali Street, Suite 1000 
Anchorage, AK 99503 Anchorage, AK 99503 
Telephone: 907-868-5580 Telephone: 907-868-5771 
Email: clima@gci.com Email: raalger@gci.com 

 
With a copy of legal notices to: With a copy of legal notices to: 
GCI Communication Corp. The Alaska Wireless Network, LLC. 
Attn: Corporate Counsel Attn: Corporate Counsel 
2550 Denali Street, Suite 1000 2550 Denali Street, Suite 1000 
Anchorage, AK 99503 Anchorage, AK 99503 

 
or such other address or to the attention of such other person as the recipient Party may specify by 
prior written notice to the sending Party. Such notice will be effective as of the date of its receipt. 

 
13. CONDEMNATION 

If the whole of the Premises or such portion thereof as may be required for its reasonable use, is taken by 
virtue of any condemnation or eminent domain proceeding, this Agreement will automatically terminate 
as of the date of the condemnation, or as of the date possession is taken by the condemning authority, 
whichever is later. The charges will be apportioned as of the date of the end of possession. In case of the 
taking of a non-material (in Subtenant’s reasonable opinion) part of the Premises not required by 
reasonable use of the Premises, then this Agreement will continue in full force and effect and the charges 
will be equitably reduced based upon the proportion by which the rentable area of the Premises is 
reduced. This reduction will be effective on the date of the partial taking. 

 
14. DISPUTES 

In any disputes between the Parties, the laws of the State of Alaska will govern. Any lawsuit must be 
brought in the courts of the State of Alaska. Either Party may request a mediation of any unresolved 
dispute. Subtenant agrees to notify Sublandlord of any claim, demand, or lawsuit arising out of 
Subtenant’s occupation or use of the Premises. Upon Sublandlord’s request, Subtenant will reasonably 
cooperate and assist in the investigation and litigation of any claim, demand, or lawsuit affecting the 
Premises. 
 

15. NO WAIVER; CONSENTS 
The failure of a Party to insist upon the strict performance of any provision in this Agreement may not be 
considered as a waiver or relinquishment of that provision for the future. The waiver of any provision or 
covenant in this Agreement cannot be enforced or relied upon unless the waiver is in writing and executed 
by the Party waiving such provision. Whenever consent by one Party is required in this Agreement, the 
granting of such consent in any one instance will not constitute continuing consent to subsequent 
instances where such consent is required. 

 
16. VALIDITY OF PARTS 

If any provision of this Agreement is declared to be invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction, the 
remaining covenants and provisions will continue in full force. 

31

mailto:clima@gci.com
mailto:raalger@gci.com


5 
AWN Contract #AWN-000652 

 

 
17. QUIET ENJOYMENT; ACCESS 

So long as Subtenant is not in breach of this Agreement, it shall have the right of quiet enjoyment of the 
Premises for the Term and all Extensions thereof, regardless of any sale, transfer, assignment or 
foreclosure of the Premises. This Agreement shall be binding on each Party’s successors and assigns. 
Under no circumstances shall Subtenant be prevented or delayed from accessing its equipment during the 
Term and all Extensions, twenty-four hours a day, seven days a week. 

 
18. BINDING AGREEMENT; AMENDMENTS; COUNTERPARTS 

This Agreement shall be binding upon each Party’s heirs, representatives, executors, successors and 
assigns. This Agreement may only be amended in writing, and such amendment shall be signed by 
authorized representatives of both Parties. The Parties may execute this Agreement in counterparts, each 
of which shall be deemed an original, and both of which, collectively, taken together shall constitute one 
and the same Agreement. Delivery of an executed counterpart by electronic transmission email or fax 
shall be as effective as physical delivery of an executed counterpart. 

 
19. NON-DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT 

Neither Party shall disclose the terms and conditions of this Agreement, including the rent due hereunder, 
outside its organization. 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have executed this Agreement. 

 
GCI Communication Corp. The Alaska Wireless Network, LLC 

 
 
By:  By:   

 

Name: David Morris  Name: Ben Benton   
 

Title: VP, Corporate Communications & Services    Title: VP, Wireless Operations   
 

Date:  Date:    

32



6 
AWN Contract #AWN-000652 

 

Exhibit A 
 

 

33



To: 

From: 

Thru: 

Date: 

MEMORANDUM TO COUNCIL 

Mayor Branson and City Council�y�bers
Aimee Kniaziowski, City Mana� 
Mike Tvenge, Deputy City Manager £" 
September 8, 2016 

Agenda Item: IV. b. Termination of the Building Inspection Program MOA

SUMMARY: The City and Borough run a joint building inspection program, which was developed in 
1988 and revised through a Memorandum of Understanding (MOA) in 1997. In June 2016 the Borough 
Assembly opted out of the 2012 International Residential Code (IRC), which was in place, and opted to 
use the 1997 Uniform Building Code (UBC) for some residential structures in the Borough. The City 
continues to use the 2012 IRC. This change has caused concern, confusion, and unexpected 
consequences. The MOA and ensuing problems and issues were discussed at the August 23 joint work 
session, and the Assembly expressed the desire to revisit their decision. Staff recommends Council 
postpone action on termination of the MOA until the City Manager comes back with an updated 
solution, which will come after the Assembly takes required action and City staff and the Joint Building 
Code Review Committee (JBCRC) can support the proposed changes. 

PREVIOUS COUNCIL ACTION: 

• February 9, 2016, staff briefed Council on Borough Ordinance No. FY2016-12, eliminating the
engineering requirement for certain residential construction.

• June 16, 2016, a memo to Council from City Building Official Doug Mathers explaining the
effect of the Borough decision to roll back the 2012 International Residential Code (IRC) to the
1997 Uniform Building Code (UBC).

• June 21, 2016, staff briefed Council on proposed updated building codes.
• City Council has had presentations from the Joint Building Code Review Committee (JBCRC),

City Building Official and staff about this proposed building code change.
• August 11, 2016, Council moved to postpone vote to terminate the MOA depending on the

outcome of discussions at the joint Council/Assembly work session on August 23, 2016.
• August 23, 2016, Assembly agreed to revisit their goals on the building code changes and notify

the City and the JBCRB, and both groups agreed to work toward an updated MOA.
• September 6, 2016, Council discussed the issue at the work session.

DISCUSSION: On April 15, 1988, the Kodiak Island Borough and the City of Kodiak established a 
single program for inspection of buildings within the jurisdiction of both governments. This agreement 
was modified in May of 1997 and is the current MOA both governments work from. Earlier this year, 
the Assembly voted by ordinance to stop using the 2012 IRC and use the 1997 Uniform Building Code 

SEPTEMBER 8, 2016 
Agenda Item IV. b. Memo Page 1 of 3 

34



for some residential construction in the Borough. This decision created many unintended consequences 

and causes of concern by City staff, the JBCRC, and others as the status of inspections was unclear and 

contrary to the intent of the existing MOA. The City building inspectors have had many interactions 

with the Borough staff and Assembly in opposition to this regression in building code change. Staff does 

not want to inspect two different residential codes - 2012 IRC within the City, while using the 1997 

UBC for the Borough residents. The consequences may be more than the value of the MOA to the City. 

Based on the Assembly's reversion to the 1997 UBC code, the City Council decided to postpone 

termination of the MOA at their August 11 meeting until the City and Borough discussed the problems 

at the joint work session on August 23. The issue was discussed at that meeting, and an agreement was 

reached to wait for the Assembly to make changes to their building code decision. If the changes are 

acceptable to the JBCRC and City, a new agreement would be renegotiated by the Managers. 

ALTERNATIVES: 

1) Council may postpone termination of the existing MOA until the Manager brings the issue back

to Council for action. This requires Council and staff to wait to review the Assembly's proposed

changes as discussed at the August 23, 2016, joint work session and to get concurrence from the

Joint Building Code Review Committee so the existing MOA can be rewritten and the program

will be consistent for the City and Borough. This is the approach agreed upon at the joint work

sess10n.

2) Council may vote to terminate the MOA within 90 days as discussed at the August 11, 2016,

meeting. This is not consistent with discussions at the August 23, 2016,joint work session.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: The City Building Inspection offices are provided by the Borough at 

no cost to the City. The Borough shares in the operational costs based on the value of the property and 

the expenses associated with implementation of the inspections. The Borough paid the City $109,000 in 

FY2015 and $109,000 in the first three quarters of FY2016 to date. This arrangement is part of the 

MOA. 

Providing building inspection services only within the City would reduce the workload of the division 

and also reduce income generated by the program as it currently stands. 

LEGAL: Legal counsel has reviewed the Memorandum of Agreement and determined City Council 

may terminate by motion. Any negotiated changes will require a legal and insurance review. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: As discussed on August 23, staff recommends Council vote to 

postpone termination of the existing building inspection MOA with the Borough until such time as the 

Manager can bring back an acceptable program that works well for the Borough and the City. 

SEPTEMBER 8, 2016 
Agenda Item IV. b. Memo Page 2 of3 

35



CITY MANAGER'S COMMENTS: I support the Borough's decision to revisit their earlier action to 

return to the 1997 IBC. This has caused unexpected difficulties for the City and unintended 

consequences for some Borough residents. Based on the discussions at the joint work session, we will 

wait for the Assembly to make their recommended changes, those will go to the JBCRC for review and 

recommended approval, and I will work with the Borough Manager and City staff to develop a 

replacement MOA that is for a specific length of time. I will bring that back to Council at which time a 

decision can be made and a vote taken on whether or not to begin the process of terminating the existing 

1988 MOA. 

PROPOSED MOTION: 

Move to further postpone termination of the Building Inspection Program Memorandum of 

Agreement between the Kodiak Island Borough and City of Kodiak until such time as the City 

Manager recommends Council adopt a revised agreement that can be enforced consistently. 

SEPTEMBER 8, 2016 
Agenda Item IV. b. Memo Page 3 of3 

36



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

NEW BUSINESS 

37



To: 

From: 

Date: 

MEMORANDUM TO COUNCIL 

Mayor Branson and City Councilmembers 

Debra Marlar, City Clerk C/;J 11/l

September 8, 2016 
' · l

Agenda Item: V. a. Resolution No. 2016-29, Naming Election Workers for the October 4, 2016,
Regular Municipal Election 

SUMMARY: Resolution No. 2016-29 names election workers and canvass board members for the 

October 4, 2016, regular municipal election. 

PREVIOUS COUNCIL ACTION: Annually, the Council adopts a resolution naming election workers 

for the regular municipal election. 

BACKGROUND: Kodiak City Code specifies that prior to each election, the Council shall appoint 

judges and clerks for each City precinct and will also appoint a canvass board consisting of at least three 

persons. 

This resolution names election workers and canvass board members for the October 4, 2016, regular 

municipal election and authorizes the City Clerk to appoint other persons, if necessary, to ensure that an 

adequate number of workers are present to conduct and canvass the election. 

CITY CLERK'S COMMENTS: The City Clerk recommends the Council adopt Resolution No. 2016-

29. 

ATTACHMENTS: 

Attachment A: Resolution No. 2016-29 

PROPOSED MOTION: 

Move to adopt Resolution No. 2016-29. 

SEPTEMBER 8, 2016 
Agenda Item V. a. Memo Page l of 1 

38



CITY OF KODIAK 
RESOLUTION NUMBER 2016–29 

A RESOLUTION OF THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF KODIAK NAMING 
ELECTION WORKERS FOR THE OCTOBER 4, 2016, REGULAR MUNICIPAL 
ELECTION 

WHEREAS, the City will conduct a regular municipal election on Tuesday, October 4, 
2016; and 

WHEREAS, the City Code requires that Judges and Clerks of the election be named. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Council of the City of Kodiak, 
Alaska, hereby appoints the following individuals to serve as election workers for the regular 
municipal election to be held within the City of Kodiak on Tuesday, October 4, 2016: 

Section 1. The election workers for Precinct No. 820 (Kodiak No. 1), located at the Harbor-
master Building, shall be Merle Powell, Chair and Sandy Peotter, Co-chair; and 
Yvonne Boudreau, Ellen Lester, Gretchen Saupe, Gloria Selby, Linda Sutton, and 
Sherry Weimer as Judges. 

Section 2. The election workers for Precinct No. 825 (Kodiak No. 2), located at the Teen 
Center, shall be Esther Waddell, Chair and Richard Waddell, Co-Chair; and Ce-
celia Esparza, Nita Nicolas, Carol Wandersee, and Helen Williams as Judges. 

Section 3. The Accuvote Board shall be the City and Borough Clerks and their staff. 

Section 4. The City Receiving Board shall be Marya Halvorsen and Marya Nault. 

Section 5. The Canvass Board shall be Renee Darrenkamp, Gabriel Saravia, Pat Szabo, and 
Deborah Tvenge. 

Section 6. The City Clerk and Clerk’s staff shall have the authority to fill in where needed, 
and the City Clerk shall have the authority to appoint additional persons, as neces-
sary, to ensure an adequate number of election workers are available to conduct 
and canvass the election. 

CITY OF KODIAK 

MAYOR 
ATTEST: 

CITY CLERK Adopted 

Attachment A

39



To: 

From: 

Thru: 

Date: 

Agenda Item: 

MEMORANDUM TO COUNCIL 

Mayor Branson and City Councilmembers 
Aimee Kniaziowski, City Mana� 
Kelly Mayes, Finance Director 

17 

J1wtA 
September 8, 2016 
V. b. Resolution No. 2016-30, Authorizing the Issuance of a Series of Boat Lift

Special Facility Revenue Refunding Bonds in the Principal Amount of Not 
to Exceed $4,000,000 to Refund Certain Outstanding Boat Lift Special 
Facility Revenue Bonds of the City, Fixing Certain Details of Such Bonds, 
and Authorizing Their Sale 

SUMMARY: Resolution No. 2016-30 authorizes the City Manager to proceed with bond refunding for 
the 2007 Harbor Revenue Bonds in an amount not to exceed $4,000,000. The Alaska Municipal Bond 
Bank (AMMB) is issuing General Obligation and Refunding Bonds, 2016 Series Three and Series Four 
Bonds. A portion of the proceeds of the 2016 Series Three and Series Four Bonds is being used to 
refund and redeem certain outstanding bonds of the Bond Bank, including the 2007 Series Five Boat Lift 
Revenue Bonds issued by the City of Kodiak. Depending on the market conditions on the pricing date 
and resulting savings available as a result of the refunding, the Bond Bank may refund all or none of the 
refunding candidates. The Bond Bank is not obligated to refund any of the candidates. A market analysis 
was performed on August 10, 2016, to determine the potential savings to the City. The potential savings 
for the City of Kodiak 2007 Series Five Boat Lift Revenue Bonds could be as much as $465,071 over 
the term of the bonds. 

PREVIOUS COUNCIL ACTION: Council authorized the issuance of boat lift special facility revenue 
bonds in one or more series pursuant to Resolution No. 07-32 adopted on October 25, 2007. Bonds were 
issued under the Master Resolution and Resolution No. 07-33. 

DISCUSSION: The City has two outstanding revenue bonds for the boat lift. These bonds were 
previously issued for the purpose of constructing the boat lift in the shipyard. The 2007 Series Five Boat 
Lift Revenue Bond annual debt service is approximately $241,000 for fiscal year 2017 and will range 
from $241,000 to $300,000 annually until the bonds reach maturity. Annual coupon rates range from 
four percent to six percent per annum until maturity on 09/01/2037. Resolution No. 2016-30 authorizes 
the City Manager to proceed if terms and conditions remain favorable to the City. Additional 
considerations include market conditions at the pricing date and overall lower costs to the City over the 
term of the bonds. 

Market conditions at the pricing date: The Alaska Municipal Bond Bank has offered to refinance the 
bonds outstanding to the City at this time due to favorable market conditions. Pricing for the refinancing 

SEPTEMBER 8, 2016 
Agenda Item V. b. Memo Page 1 of3 

40



and issuance of bonds is scheduled to take place on October 18, 2016. Market conditions could change 

to reevaluate the refinancing of outstanding bonds, the issuance of additional bonds by the AMBB, or 

both. Should the market interest rates increase by 0.25 percent, the potential overall savings to the City 

would decrease to $392,575. Industry standard savings for choosing to refinance outstanding bonds is 

three percent of the outstanding principle balance. The City's outstanding principal balance on the bonds 

eligible for refunding is currently $3,565,000. 

A market analysis was performed on August 10, 2016, to determine the market sensitivity and yield 

rates for the bond refunding. At this time, the bonds would receive a premium price of $494,597.35 over 

par value, which results from the bonds being issued at higher-than-market interest rates. However, on 

the date of pricing, this premium could be lower. If the bonds were sold at par value or at a discount 

from par value, additional bonds would be required to meet the sources of funds required for refunding 

(Attachment C). Therefore, Resolution No. 2016-30 authorizes an increase in principal up to 

$4,000,000. 

The City of Kodiak would also incur costs of issuance due to refinancing in the amount of $15,658.65, 

underwriter's discount costs in the amount of $10,710, and costs recovered by the City at issuance that 

total $4,194.40. These costs include the attorney's fees but would not include the costs of City 

employees to travel to Seattle, Washington for closing in November. 

Overall cost savings: The City would recognize overall savings over the life of the bonds in the 

estimated amount of $465,071 due to the lower debt service payments made each year. Per the current 

amortization schedules, debt service payments average approximately $245,000 per year. These debt 

service payments include interest and principal based on the stated rates and range from $245,000 to 

$300,000 each year until maturity. Under the terms of the refinancing, annual debt service payments 

would decrease on average $20,000 - $30,000 per year, resulting in annual debt service payments 

ranging from $215,000 to $225,000. The amortization schedules for current debt service requirements 

(Attachment D) and refunded debt service (Attachment E) provide annual debt service requirements and 

detailed amounts for each year under the bonds. 

ALTERNATIVES: Council has two options to consider: 

1) Adopt Resolution No. 2016-30, which authorizes the City Manager to proceed if terms and

conditions remain favorable to the City. This is the City Attorney and staffs recommendation.

2) Do not adopt the resolution and opt not to proceed with refunding at this time. Annual debt

service requirements, outstanding principal, and terms would remain the same.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: Due to the nature of the subject, financial implications have been 

noted throughout. 

SEPTEMBER 8, 2016 
Agenda Item V. b. Memo Page 2 of3 

41



LEGAL: The City Attorney has worked closely with the Bond Bank and Finance Director on this 

process. The attorney wrote the resolution due to the financial complexity. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends Council adopt Resolution No. 2016-30 to be 

prepared with a refunding option if pricing is favorable in October as outlined. 

CITY MANAGER'S COMMENTS: This bond refunding or refinancing by the Bond Bank could 

result hi substantial savings to the City if the market is favorable. As the Finance Director explained, the 

City could likely recognize savings due to the lower debt service payments made each year. That could 

reduce our annual debt service on the Boat Lift bonds by between $20,000 to $30,000 for a potential 

estimated amount overall savings over the life of the bonds of approximately $465,071. Per Tom 

Klinkner, once adopted Resolution No. 2016-30 will position the City to participate in the bond sale 

along with several other municipal governments if the market is favorable. Therefore, I recommend 

Council adopt Resolution No. 2016-30 and the other similar resolutions on this agenda dealing with 

bond refunding. 

ATTACHMENTS: 

Attachment A: Resolution No. 2016-30 

Attachment B: Refunding Candidates and Potential Savings 

Attachment C: Market Conditions Boat Lift Resolution No. 2016-30 

Attachment D: Market Conditions Boat Lift Bonds Resolution No. 2016-30 

Attachment E: Refund BL GO Bonds 2016 Series Three & Four Resolution No. 2016-30 

PROPOSED MOTION: 

Move to adopt Resolution No. 2016-30. 

SEPTEMBER 8, 2016 
Agenda Item V. b. Memo Page 3 of 3 

42



Resolution No. 2016–30 
Page 1 of 11 

CITY OF KODIAK 
RESOLUTION NUMBER 2016–30 

A RESOLUTION OF THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF KODIAK 
AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE OF A SERIES OF BOAT LIFT SPECIAL FACILITY 
REVENUE REFUNDING BONDS IN THE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF NOT TO 
EXCEED $4,000,000 TO REFUND CERTAIN OUTSTANDING BOAT LIFT SPECIAL 
FACILITY REVENUE BONDS OF THE CITY, FIXING CERTAIN DETAILS OF SUCH 
BONDS AND AUTHORIZING THEIR SALE 

WHEREAS, the City of Kodiak (the “City”) has authorized the issuance of boat lift 
special facility revenue bonds in one or more series pursuant to Resolution Number 07–32 
adopted October 25, 2007 (the “Master Resolution”); and 

WHEREAS, there are now outstanding Boat Lift Special Facility Revenue Bonds, 2007A 
of the City maturing on September 1 in the years 2018 through 2037 in the aggregate principal 
amount of $3,410,000 (the “2007 Bonds”), issued under the Master Resolution and Resolution 
Number 07–33 of the City; and 

WHEREAS, the Council finds that it is in the best interest of the City to provide for the 
refunding, including the payment of principal of, and premium and interest on, those maturities 
of the 2007 Bonds (the “Refunded Bonds”) whose refunding the City Manager or City Finance 
Director determines will produce the percentage debt service savings specified in this Series 
Resolution, by the issuance of boat lift special facility revenue refunding bonds (the “2016A 
Bonds”) in the aggregate principal amount of not to exceed $4,000,000; and  

WHEREAS, Article VI, Section 3 of the Kodiak City Charter authorizes the City to 
borrow money and issue evidences of indebtedness therefor, the principal and interest of which 
are payable solely out of and the only security of which is the revenue of a revenue-producing 
utility or enterprise when authorized by the council for the acquisition, construction, 
reconstruction, repair, improvement, extension, enlargement, and/or equipment of the utility or 
enterprise; and 

WHEREAS, Article VI, Section 3 of the Kodiak City Charter requires that revenue 
obligations of the City be ratified by a majority of the qualified voters of the City only so long as 
voter approval is required by state law, and under the constitution and statutes of the State of 
Alaska the City may issue revenue obligations without voter approval; and 

WHEREAS, the Alaska Municipal Bond Bank and the City intend to enter into an 
Amendatory Loan Agreement, which amends the Loan Agreement dated as of December 1, 2007 
(the “2007 Loan Agreement”) between the Alaska Municipal Bond Bank and the City to provide 
for the refunding of the Refunded Bonds through their exchange for the 2016A Bonds and 
related matters; and  

WHEREAS, the Council finds that it is necessary and appropriate to delegate to each of 
the City Manager and City Finance Director authority to determine the maturity amounts, interest 

Attachment A

43



Resolution No. 2016–30 
Page 2 of 11   

rates and other details of the 2016A Bonds, and to determine other matters that are not provided 
for in this resolution. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Council of the City of Kodiak, Alaska: 
 
 Section 1. Definitions. The terms used in this Series Resolution which are defined in the 
Master Resolution shall have the meanings set forth in the Master Resolution. In addition the 
following terms shall have the following meanings in this Series Resolution: 
 

“Amendatory Loan Agreement” means the Amendatory Loan Agreement between the 
City and the Bond Bank, amending the 2007 Loan Agreement to provide for the refunding of the 
Refunded Bonds through their exchange for the 2016A Bonds, and related matters. 
 
 “Bond Bank” means the Alaska Municipal Bond Bank, a public corporation of the State 
of Alaska. 
 
 “Bond Bank Bonds” means general obligation bonds issued by the Bond Bank to refund 
all or part of its outstanding General Obligation Bonds, 2007 Series Five. 
 
 "Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time, 
together with all regulations applicable thereto. 
 
 "Government Obligations" means obligations that are either (i) direct obligations of the 
United States of America or (ii) obligations of an agency or instrumentality of the United States 
of America the timely payment of the principal of and interest on which are unconditionally 
guaranteed by the United States of America. 
 
 “Loan Agreement” means the 2007 Loan Agreement as amended by the Amendatory 
Loan Agreement. 
 
 “2007 Loan Agreement” means the Loan Agreement dated as of December 1, 2007 
between the Bond Bank and the City. 
 
 “2016A Bond Fund” means the Boat Lift Special Facility Revenue Refunding Bond 
Fund, 2016A, established by Section 13 of this Series Resolution. 
 
 "2016A Bonds" means the City of Kodiak, Alaska, Boat Lift Special Facility Revenue 
Refunding Bonds, 2016A authorized by this Series Resolution. 
 
 “2016A Debt Service Account” means the account of that name created in the 2016A 
Bond Fund by Section 13(a) of this Series Resolution. 
 
 “2016A Reserve Account” means the account of that name created in the 2016A Bond 
Fund by Section 13(b) of this Series Resolution. 
 

44



Resolution No. 2016–30 
Page 3 of 11   

 “2016A Reserve Requirement” means an amount equal to the least of (i) Maximum 
Annual Debt Service with respect to the Outstanding 2016A Bonds; (ii) 125% of average Annual 
Debt Service with respect to the Outstanding 2016A Bonds; (iii) 10% of the initial principal 
amount of the 2016A Bonds; and (iv) any lesser amount that may be required from time to time 
under the Code for the exclusion of interest on the 2016A Bonds from gross income for federal 
income tax purposes. 
 
 Section 2. Authorization of 2016A Bonds and Purpose of Issuance. For the purpose of 
effecting the refunding by exchange of the Refunded Bonds in the manner set forth in this Series 
Resolution and the Amendatory Loan Agreement, to make any required deposit into the 2016A 
Reserve Account, and to pay all costs incidental thereto and to the issuance of the 2016A Bonds, 
the City hereby authorizes and determines to issue and sell as a series of Bonds under the Master 
Resolution the 2016A Bonds in the aggregate principal amount of not to exceed $3,700,000. 
 
 Section 3. Obligation of 2016A Bonds. The 2016A Bonds shall be an obligation only of 
the 2016A Bond Fund and shall be payable and secured as provided herein and in the Master 
Resolution. Neither the faith and credit nor the taxing power of the City is pledged for the 
payment of the 2016A Bonds. 
 
 Section 4. Description of 2016A Bonds. The 2016A Bonds shall be designated "City of 
Kodiak, Alaska, Boat Lift Special Facility Revenue Refunding Bonds, 2016A." The 2016A 
Bonds shall be in the denomination of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof, shall be numbered 
separately in the manner and with such additional designation as the Registrar deems necessary 
for purposes of identification, and may have endorsed thereon such legends or text as may be 
necessary or appropriate to conform to the rules and regulations of any governmental authority or 
any usage or requirement of law with respect thereto. 
 
 The 2016A Bonds shall mature in one or more years commencing no earlier than 2017 
and ending no later than 2037. The 2016A Bonds shall bear interest from their date, payable 
commencing on a date on or after December 1, 2016, and semi-annually thereafter in each year. 
Interest will be computed on the basis of a 360-day year consisting of twelve 30-day months. 
 
 Subject to Section 2 and the remainder of this section, the dated date, the principal and 
interest payment dates, the record dates for interest payments, the aggregate principal amount, 
the principal amount of each maturity, and the interest rates on the 2016A Bonds shall be 
determined at the time of execution of the Amendatory Loan Agreement under Section 17. 
 
 Section 5. Optional Redemption. The 2016A Bonds, if any, subject to optional 
redemption by the City, the time or times when such Bonds are subject to optional redemption, 
the terms upon which such Bonds may be redeemed, and the redemption price or redemption 
prices for such 2016A Bonds, shall be determined at the time of execution of the Amendatory 
Loan Agreement under Section 17. 
 

45



Resolution No. 2016–30 
Page 4 of 11   

 Section 6. Selection of 2016A Bonds for Redemption; Notice of Redemption. 
 
 (a) Selection of 2016A Bonds for Redemption. When the Bond Bank is the Registered 
Owner of the 2016A Bonds, the selection of 2016A Bonds to be redeemed shall be made as 
provided in the Loan Agreement. When the Bond Bank is not the Registered Owner of the 
2016A Bonds, the selection of 2016A Bonds to be redeemed shall be made as provided in this 
subsection (a). If the City redeems at any one time fewer than all of the 2016A Bonds having the 
same maturity date, the particular 2016A Bonds or portions of 2016A Bonds of such maturity to 
be redeemed shall be selected by lot (or in such other manner determined by the Registrar) in 
increments of $5,000. In the case of a 2016A Bond of a denomination greater than $5,000, the 
City shall treat such 2016A Bond as representing such number of separate 2016A Bonds each of 
the denomination of $5,000 as is obtained by dividing the actual principal amount of such 2016A 
Bond by $5,000. In the event that only a portion of the principal amount of a 2016A Bond is 
redeemed, upon surrender of such 2016A Bond at the office of the Registrar there shall be issued 
to the Registered Owner, without charge therefor, for the then unredeemed balance of the 
principal sum thereof, at the option of the Registered Owner, a 2016A Bond or Bonds of like 
maturity and interest rate in any of the denominations authorized herein. 
  
 (b) Notice of Redemption. When the Bond Bank is the Registered Owner of the 2016A 
Bonds, notice of any intended redemption of 2016A Bonds shall be given as provided in the 
Loan Agreement. When the Bond Bank is not the Registered Owner of the 2016A Bonds, notice 
of any intended redemption of 2016A Bonds shall be made as provided in this subsection (b). 
Notice of redemption shall be mailed not less than 30 nor more than 45 days prior to the date 
fixed for redemption by first class mail to the Registered Owners of the 2016A Bonds to be 
redeemed at their addresses as they appear on the Bond Register on the day the notice is mailed. 
Notice of redemption shall be deemed to have been given when the notice is mailed as herein 
provided, whether or not it is actually received by the Registered Owners. All notices of 
redemption shall be dated and shall state: (1) the redemption date; (2) the redemption price; (3) if 
fewer than all outstanding 2016A Bonds are to be redeemed, the identification (and, in the case 
of partial redemption, the respective principal amounts) of the 2016A Bonds to be redeemed; (4) 
that on the redemption date the redemption price will become due and payable upon each such 
2016A Bond or portion thereof called for redemption, and that interest thereon shall cease to 
accrue from and after said date; and (5) the place where such 2016A Bonds are to be surrendered 
for payment of the redemption price, which place of payment shall be the office of the Registrar. 
 
 Official notice of redemption having been given as aforesaid, 2016A Bonds or portions of 
2016A Bonds to be redeemed shall, on the redemption date, become due and payable at the 
redemption price therein specified, and from and after such date, such 2016A Bonds or portions 
of 2016A Bonds shall cease to bear interest. Upon surrender of such 2016A Bonds for 
redemption in accordance with said notice, such 2016A Bonds shall be paid at the redemption 
price. Installments of interest due on or prior to the redemption date shall be payable as herein 
provided for payment of interest. Upon surrender of any 2016A Bond for partial redemption, 
there shall be prepared for the Registered Owner a new 2016A Bond or Bonds of the same 
maturity in the amount of the unpaid principal. All 2016A Bonds which have been redeemed 
shall be canceled and destroyed by the Registrar and shall not be reissued. 
 

46



Resolution No. 2016–30 
Page 5 of 11   

 Each check or other transfer of funds issued to pay the redemption price of 2016A Bonds 
shall bear the CUSIP number, if any, identifying, by maturity, the 2016A Bonds being redeemed 
with the proceeds of such check or other transfer. 
 
 Section 7. Form of Bond. Each 2016A Bond shall be in substantially the following form, 
with such variations, omissions and insertions as may be required or permitted by this Series 
Resolution or the Master Resolution: 
 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
STATE OF ALASKA 
CITY OF KODIAK 

 
NO._____ $___________________ 
 

BOAT LIFT SPECIAL FACILITY REVENUE REFUNDING BOND, 2016A 
 

REGISTERED OWNER: 
 
PRINCIPAL AMOUNT: 
 
 The City of Kodiak, a municipal corporation of the State of Alaska (the "City"), 
acknowledges itself indebted and for value received promises to pay (but only out of the sources 
mentioned herein) to the Registered Owner identified above, or its registered assigns, the 
principal amount shown above in the following installments on _________ 1 of each of the 
following years, and to pay interest on such installments from the date hereof, payable on 
December 1, 2016 and semiannually thereafter on the 1st days of ________ and _________ of 
each year, at the rates per annum as follows: 
 
Year Principal Amount Interest Rate  Year Principal Amount Interest Rate 
       

 
When this 2016A Bond is owned by the Alaska Municipal Bond Bank (the "Bond 

Bank"), payment of principal and interest shall be made as provided in the Loan Agreement 
between the Bond Bank and the City dated as of December 1, 2007, as amended (the “Loan 
Agreement”). When this 2016A Bond is not owned by the Bond Bank, installments of principal 
and interest on this 2016A Bond shall be paid by check or draft mailed by first class mail to the 
Registered Owner as of the close of business on the _____ day of the month ___________ each 
installment payment date; provided that the final installment of principal and interest on this 
2016A Bond shall be payable upon presentation and surrender of this 2016A Bond by the 
Registered Owner at the office of the Registrar. Interest will be computed on the basis of a 360-
day year consisting of twelve 30-day months. Both principal of and interest on this 2016A Bond 
are payable in lawful money of the United States of America which, on the respective dates of 
payment thereof, shall be legal tender for the payment of public and private debts. 
 
 Installments of principal of this 2016A Bond due on and after _______, 20__, shall be 
subject to prepayment on and after _________, 20__, at the option of the City (subject to any 

47



Resolution No. 2016–30 
Page 6 of 11   

applicable provisions of the Loan Agreement), in such principal amounts and from such 
maturities as the City may determine, and by lot within a maturity, at a redemption price equal to 
the principal amount to be prepaid, plus accrued interest to the date of prepayment. 
 

This 2016A Bond is transferable as provided in the Series Resolution, (i) only upon the 
bond register of the City, and (ii) upon surrender of this 2016A Bond together with a written 
instrument of transfer duly executed by the Registered Owner or the duly authorized attorney of 
the Registered Owner, and thereupon a new fully registered 2016A Bond or Bonds in the same 
aggregate principal amount and maturity shall be issued to the transferee in exchange therefor as 
provided in the Series Resolution and upon the payment of charges, if any, as therein prescribed. 
The City may treat and consider the person in whose name this 2016A Bond is registered as the 
absolute owner hereof for the purpose of receiving payment of, or on account of, the principal or 
redemption price, if any, hereof and interest due hereon and for all other purposes whatsoever. 
 
 This 2016A Bond is a special obligation of the City and is one of a duly authorized issue 
of Bonds of the City designated "City of Kodiak, Alaska, Boat Lift Special Facility Revenue 
Bonds" (the "Bonds"), issued and to be issued in various series under Resolution Number 07–32 
(the "Master Resolution"), adopted October 25, 2007, and a Series Resolution authorizing each 
such series. As provided in the Master Resolution, the Bonds may be issued from time to time 
pursuant to Series Resolutions in one or more series, in various principal amounts, may mature at 
different times, may bear interest at different rates and, subject to the provisions thereof, may 
otherwise vary. The aggregate principal amount of Bonds which may be issued under the Master 
Resolution is not limited, and all Bonds issued and to be issued under said Master Resolution are 
and will be equally and ratably secured by the pledges and covenants made therein, except as 
otherwise expressly provided or permitted in the Master Resolution. 
 
 This 2016A Bond is one of a series of Bonds issued in the aggregate principal amount of 
$_______________ under the Master Resolution and Resolution Number 2016–30 (the "Series 
Resolution"), adopted September __, 2016, for the purpose of refunding certain boat lift special 
facility revenue bonds issued by the City. 
 
 This 2016A Bond shall be an obligation only of the 2016A Bond Fund and shall be 
payable and secured as provided in the Master Resolution and the Series Resolution. Neither the 
faith and credit nor the taxing power of the City is pledged for the payment of the 2016A Bonds. 
The City has pledged to pay into the 2016A Bond Fund from Net Revenue or money in the Boat 
Lift Special Facility Revenue Fund, on or prior to the respective dates on which the same 
become due, such amounts as are required to pay the interest and principal to become due on this 
2016A Bond. Said amounts so pledged are hereby declared to be a lien and charge upon Gross 
Revenue superior to all other charges of any kind or nature whatsoever, except for Operating 
Expenses and except that the amounts so pledged are of equal lien to any lien and charge thereon 
which may hereafter be made to pay and secure the payment of the principal of and interest on 
any Parity Bonds. 
 
 IT IS HEREBY CERTIFIED and declared that this 2016A Bond is issued pursuant to and 
in strict compliance with the constitution or statutes of the State of Alaska and the home rule 
charter of the City, and that all acts, conditions and things required to happen, to be done, and to 

48



Resolution No. 2016–30 
Page 7 of 11   

be performed precedent to and on the issuance of this 2016A Bond have happened, been done 
and been performed. 
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, THE CITY OF KODIAK, ALASKA, has caused this 2016A 
Bond to be signed in its name and on its behalf by the manual or facsimile signature of its Mayor 
and its corporate seal (or a facsimile thereof) to be impressed or otherwise reproduced hereon 
and attested by the manual or facsimile signature of its Clerk, all as of the ___ day of _________ 
2016. 
 
       CITY OF KODIAK 
 
 
       __________________________ 
        MAYOR 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_____________________________ 

CITY CLERK 
 
  [SEAL] 
 
 Section 8. Execution. The 2016A Bonds shall be executed in the name of the City by the 
manual or facsimile signature of the Mayor, and its corporate seal (or a facsimile thereof) shall 
be impressed or otherwise reproduced thereon and attested by the manual or facsimile signature 
of the City Clerk. The execution of a 2016A Bond on behalf of the City by persons who at the 
time of the execution are duly authorized to hold the proper offices shall be valid and sufficient 
for all purposes, although any such person shall have ceased to hold office at the time of delivery 
of the 2016A Bond or shall not have held office on the date of the 2016A Bond. 
 
 Section 9. Payment of Principal and Interest. The 2016A Bonds shall be payable in lawful 
money of the United States of America which at the time of payment is legal tender for the 
payment of public and private debts. When the Bond Bank is the Registered Owner of the 2016A 
Bonds, payment of principal and interest on the 2016A Bonds shall be made as provided in the 
Loan Agreement. When the Bond Bank is not the Registered Owner of the 2016A Bonds, 
installments of principal and interest on the 2016A Bonds shall be paid by check mailed by first 
class mail to the Registered Owner as of the record date for the installment payment at the 
address appearing on the Bond Register; provided that the final installment of principal and 
interest on a 2016A Bond shall be payable upon presentation and surrender of the 2016A Bond 
by the Registered Owner at the office of the Registrar. 
 
 Section 10. Registration. The 2016A Bonds shall be issued only in registered form as to 
both principal and interest. The Registrar shall keep, or cause to be kept, the Bond Register at the 
principal office of the City. The City and the Registrar may treat the person in whose name any 
2016A Bond shall be registered as the absolute owner of such 2016A Bond for all purposes, 

49



Resolution No. 2016–30 
Page 8 of 11   

whether or not the 2016A Bond shall be overdue, and all payments of principal of and interest on 
a 2016A Bond made to the Registered Owner thereof or upon its order shall be valid and 
effectual to satisfy and discharge the liability upon such 2016A Bond to the extent of the sum or 
sums so paid, and neither the City nor the Registrar shall be affected by any notice to the 
contrary. 
 
 Section 11. Transfer and Exchange. 2016A Bonds shall be transferred only upon the 
books for the registration and transfer of 2016A Bonds kept at the office of the Registrar. Upon 
surrender for transfer or exchange of any 2016A Bond at such office, with a written instrument 
of transfer or authorization for exchange in form and with guaranty of signature satisfactory to 
the Registrar, duly executed by the Registered Owner or the duly authorized attorney of the 
Registered Owner, the City shall execute and deliver an equal aggregate principal amount of 
2016A Bonds of the same maturity of any authorized denominations, subject to such reasonable 
regulations as the City may prescribe and upon payment sufficient to reimburse it for any tax, fee 
or other governmental charge required to be paid in connection with such transfer or exchange. 
All 2016A Bonds surrendered for transfer or exchange shall be canceled by the Registrar. 
 
 Section 12. 2016A Bonds Mutilated, Destroyed, Stolen or Lost. Upon surrender to the 
Registrar of a mutilated 2016A Bond, the City shall execute and deliver a new 2016A Bond of 
like maturity and principal amount. Upon filing with the Registrar of evidence satisfactory to the 
City that a 2016A Bond has been destroyed, stolen or lost and of the ownership thereof, and 
upon furnishing the City with indemnity satisfactory to it, the City shall execute and deliver a 
new 2016A Bond of like maturity and principal amount. The person requesting the execution and 
delivery of a new 2016A Bond under this section shall comply with such other reasonable 
regulations as the City may prescribe and pay such expenses as the City may incur in connection 
therewith. 
 
 Section 13. 2016A Bond Fund. A special fund of the City designated the "Boat Lift 
Special Facility Revenue Refunding Bond Fund, 2016A" is hereby created for the purpose of 
paying and securing the payment of the 2016A Bonds. The 2016A Bond Fund shall be held 
separate and apart from all other funds and accounts of the City and shall be a trust fund for the 
owners, from time to time, of the 2016A Bonds. 
 
 (a) 2016A Debt Service Account. A 2016A Debt Service Account is hereby created in the 
2016A Bond Fund for the purpose of paying the principal of and interest on the 2016A Bonds. 
The City hereby irrevocably obligates and binds itself for as long as the 2016A Bonds remain 
Outstanding to set aside and pay into the 2016A Debt Service Account from Net Revenue or 
money in the Boat Lift Special Facility Revenue Fund, on or prior to the respective dates on 
which the same become due (i) such amounts as are required to pay the interest scheduled to 
become due on the Outstanding 2016A Bonds, and (ii) such amounts as are required to pay 
maturing principal of the Outstanding 2016A Bonds. 
 
 (b) 2016A Reserve Account. A 2016A Reserve Account is hereby created in the 2016A 
Bond Fund for the purpose of securing the payment of the principal of and interest on the 2016A 
Bonds. On the date of issuance of the 2016A Bonds, the City shall deposit a sum in the 2016A 
Reserve Account that is equal to the 2016A Reserve Requirement. If a deficiency occurs in the 

50



Resolution No. 2016–30 
Page 9 of 11   

2016A Debt Service Account, an amount sufficient to make up the deficiency shall be withdrawn 
from the 2016A Reserve Account and transferred to the 2016A Debt Service Account. The City 
shall make up any deficiency in the 2016A Reserve Account resulting from such a withdrawal 
within one year out of Net Revenue or out of any other moneys legally available for such 
purpose, after providing for the payments required to be made into the 2016A Debt Service 
Account within such year. 
 
 Any amount in the 2016A Reserve Account in excess of the 2016A Reserve Requirement 
may be transferred to the 2016A Debt Service Account and used to pay the principal of and 
interest on the 2016A Bonds as the same becomes due and payable. Whenever there is a 
sufficient amount in the 2016A Bond Fund, including the 2016A Reserve Account and the 
2016A Debt Service Account, to pay the principal of and interest on all Outstanding 2016A 
Bonds, the amount in the 2016A Reserve Account may be used to pay such principal and 
interest.  
 
 (c) Pledge and Lien. Said amounts so pledged to be paid into the 2016A Debt Service 
Account and the 2016A Reserve Account are hereby declared to be a lien and charge upon Gross 
Revenue superior to all other charges of any kind or nature whatsoever, except for Operating 
Expenses and except that the amounts so pledged are of equal lien to any lien and charge thereon 
which may hereafter be made to pay and secure the payment of the principal of and interest on 
any Parity Bonds. 
 
 Section 14. Designation of Refunded Bonds. The City Manager and City Finance 
Director each is authorized to designate which, if any, maturities of the 2007 Bonds authorized to 
be refunded in this Series Resolution shall be refunded, provided that the refunding of the 2007 
Bonds so designated shall realize a debt service savings in the aggregate of at least three percent 
of their principal amount, net of all issuance costs and underwriting discount, on a present value 
basis. 
 
 Section 15. Tax Covenants. The City covenants to comply with any and all applicable 
requirements set forth in the Code in effect from time to time to the extent that such compliance 
shall be necessary for the exclusion of the interest on the 2016A Bonds from gross income for 
federal income tax purposes. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the City covenants 
that it will make no use or investment of the proceeds of the 2016A Bonds which will cause the 
2016A Bonds to be "arbitrage bonds" subject to federal income taxation by reason of Section 
148 of the Code, and that it will not take or permit any action that would cause the 2016A Bonds 
to be "private activity bonds" as defined in Section 141 of the Code. 
 
 Section 16. Defeasance. In the event money and/or non-callable Government Obligations 
maturing at such times and bearing interest to be earned thereon in amounts sufficient to redeem 
and retire any or all of the 2016A Bonds in accordance with their terms are set aside in a special 
trust account to effect such redemption or retirement and such moneys and the principal of and 
interest on such Government Obligations are irrevocably set aside and pledged for such purpose, 
then no further payments need be made to pay or secure the payment of the principal of and 
interest on such 2016A Bonds and such 2016A Bonds shall be deemed not to be Outstanding. 
 

51



Resolution No. 2016–30 
Page 10 of 11   

 Section 17. Exchange of Bonds; Amendatory Loan Agreement. The 2016A Bonds shall 
be delivered to the Bond Bank in exchange for the Refunded Bonds. Subject to the limitations 
provided in Sections 2 and 4, each of the City Manager and City Finance Director is hereby 
authorized to determine the aggregate principal amount, maturity amounts, interest rates, yields, 
dated date, principal and interest payment dates, record dates for principal and interest payments, 
redemption terms, if any, for the 2016A Bonds, and other details of the 2016A Bonds; provided 
that: (i) the principal amount of each maturity of the 2016A Bonds shall not exceed the principal 
amount of the portion of the corresponding maturity of the Bond Bank Bonds that is allocated to 
the making of a loan to the City; and (ii) the interest rate on each maturity of the 2016A Bonds 
shall not exceed the interest rate on the corresponding maturity of the Bond Bank Bonds. Based 
upon the foregoing determinations, the City Manager and City Finance Director each is 
authorized to negotiate and execute the Amendatory Loan Agreement. 
 
 Section 18. Authority of Officers. The City Manager, the acting City Manager, the 
Finance Director, the acting Finance Director, the Clerk and the acting Clerk are, and each of 
them hereby is, authorized and directed to do and perform all things and determine all matters 
not determined by this Series Resolution, to the end that the City may carry out its obligations 
under the 2016A Bonds and this Series Resolution. 
 

Section 19. Ongoing Disclosure. The City acknowledges that, under Rule 15c2-12 of the 
Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Rule”), the City may now or in the future be an 
“obligated person” with respect to the Bond Bank Bonds. In accordance with the Rule and as the 
Bond Bank may require, the City shall enter into a continuing disclosure agreement and 
undertake to provide certain annual financial information and operating data as shall be set forth 
in the Amendatory Loan Agreement. 
 
 Section 20. Miscellaneous. 
 
 (a) All payments made by the City of, or on account of, the principal of or interest on the 
2016A Bonds shall be made on the several 2016A Bonds ratably and in proportion to the amount 
due thereon, respectively, for principal or interest as the case may be. 
 
 (b) No recourse shall be had for the payment of the principal of or the interest on the 
2016A Bonds or for any claim based thereon or on the Master Resolution or this Series 
Resolution against any member of the Council or officer of the City or any person executing the 
2016A Bonds. The 2016A Bonds are not and shall not be in any way a debt or liability of the 
State of Alaska or of any political subdivision thereof, except the City, and do not and shall not 
create or constitute an indebtedness or obligation, either legal, moral or otherwise, of said state or 
of any political subdivision thereof, except the City. 
 
 Section 21. Severability. If any one or more of the provisions of this Series Resolution 
shall be declared by any court of competent jurisdiction to be contrary to law, then such 
provision shall be null and void and shall be deemed separable from the remaining provisions of 
this Series Resolution and shall in no way affect the validity of the other provisions of this Series 
Resolution or of the 2016A Bonds. 
 

52



Resolution No. 2016–30 
Page 11 of 11   

 Section 22. Effective Date. This Series Resolution shall become effective upon passage 
and approval. 
 
 ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Kodiak, Alaska, this _____ day of 
September 2016. 
       CITY OF KODIAK 
 
 
       ________________________________ 
         MAYOR 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
______________________________ 

CITY CLERK 

53



Attachment B

54



Attachment C

55



Boat Lift Special Facility Revenue Bonds, 2007A
Boat Lift Project - $4M

Fiscal Fiscal 
Year Date Principal Coupon Interest Total Year Total

9/1/2015 70,000.00       6.00% 86,215.00            156,215.00          
2016 3/1/2016 84,115.00            84,115.00            240,330.00     

FY 2016 not included in totals at the bottom; shown for FY 2016 purposes and not CP / LTP calcs; p p

9/1/2016 75,000.00       6.00% 84,115.00            159,115.00          
2017 3/1/2017 81,865.00            81,865.00            240,980.00     

9/1/2017 80,000.00       6.00% 81,865.00            161,865.00          
2018 3/1/2018 79,465.00            79,465.00            241,330.00     

9/1/2018 85,000.00       6.00% 79,465.00            164,465.00          
2019 3/1/2019 76,915.00            76,915.00            241,380.00     

9/1/2019 90,000.00       4.00% 76,915.00          166,915.00        9/1/2019 90,000.00       4.00% 76,915.00          166,915.00        
2020 3/1/2020 75,115.00            75,115.00            242,030.00     

9/1/2020 95,000.00       4.125% 75,115.00            170,115.00          
2021 3/1/2021 73,155.63            73,155.63            243,270.63     

9/1/2021 100,000.00     4.25% 73,155.63            173,155.63          
2022 3/1/2022 71,030.63            71,030.63            244,186.26     

9/1/2022 105,000.00     4.30% 71,030.63            176,030.63          
2023 3/1/2023 68,773.13            68,773.13            244,803.76     

9/1/2023 110,000.00     4.40% 68,773.13            178,773.13          
2024 3/1/2024 66,353.13            66,353.13            245,126.26     

9/1/2024 115,000.00     4.50% 66,353.13            181,353.13          
2025 3/1/2025 63,765.63            63,765.63            245,118.76     

9/1/2025 120,000.00     4.50% 63,765.63            183,765.63          
2026 3/1/2026 61,065.63            61,065.63            244,831.26     

9/1/2026 125,000.00     4.50% 61,065.63            186,065.63          
2027 3/1/2027 58,253.13          58,253.13          244,318.76     2027 3/1/2027 58,253.13          58,253.13          244,318.76     

9/1/2027 130,000.00     4.625% 58,253.13            188,253.13          
2028 3/1/2028 55,246.88            55,246.88            243,500.01     

9/1/2028 135,000.00     4.625% 55,246.88            190,246.88          
2029 3/1/2029 52,125.00            52,125.00            242,371.88     

9/1/2029 200,000.00     4.625% 52,125.00            252,125.00          
2030 3/1/2030 47,500.00            47,500.00            299,625.00     

9/1/2030 210,000.00 4.75% 47,500.00 257,500.009/1/2030 210,000.00     4.75% 47,500.00          257,500.00        
2031 3/1/2031 42,512.50            42,512.50            300,012.50     

9/1/2031 220,000.00     4.75% 42,512.50            262,512.50          
2032 3/1/2032 37,287.50            37,287.50            299,800.00     

9/1/2032 230,000.00     4.75% 37,287.50            267,287.50          
2033 3/1/2033 31,825.00            31,825.00            299,112.50     

9/1/2033 245,000.00     4.75% 31,825.00            276,825.00          
2034 3/1/2034 26,006.25            26,006.25            302,831.25     

9/1/2034 255,000.00     4.75% 26,006.25            281,006.25          
2035 3/1/2035 19,950.00            19,950.00            300,956.25     

9/1/2035 265,000.00     4.75% 19,950.00            284,950.00          
2036 3/1/2036 13,656.25            13,656.25            298,606.25     

9/1/2036 280,000.00     4.75% 13,656.25            293,656.25          
2037 3/1/2037 7,006.25 7,006.25 300,662.50     

2038 9/1/2037 295,000.00     4.75% 7,006.25 302,006.25          302,006.25     

3,565,000.00  2,301,860.08     5,866,860.08     5,866,860.08  

Attachment D

56



Attachment E

57



58



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(This page left intentionally blank.) 

59



To: 

From: 

Thro: 

Date: 

MEMORANDUM TO COUNCIL 

Mayor Branson and City Counci}r,1embers
Aimee Kniaziowski, City ManaW--:-
Kelly Mayes, Finance Director��
September 8, 2016

Agenda Item: V. c. Resolution No. 2016-31, Authorizing the Issuance of a Series of Boat Lift 
Special Facility Revenue Refunding Bonds in the Principal Amount of Not 
to Exceed $1,000,000 to Refund Certain Outstanding Boat Lift Special 
Facility Revenue Bonds Of The City, Fixing Certain Details of Such Bonds, 
and Authorizing Their Sale 

SUMMARY: Resolution No. 2016-31 authorizes the City Manager to proceed with bond refunding for
the 2007 Harbor Revenue Bonds not to exceed $1,000,000. The Alaska Municipal Bond Bank is issuing
General Obligation and Refunding Bonds, 2016 Series Three and Series Four Bonds. A portion of the
proceeds of the 2016 Series Three and Series Four Bonds is being used to refund and redeem certain
outstanding bonds of the Bond Bank, including the 2009 Series One Boat Lift Revenue Bonds issued by
the City of Kodiak. Depending on the market conditions on the pricing date and resulting savings
available as a result of the refunding, the Bond Bank may refund all or none of the refunding candidates.
The Bond Bank is not obligated to refund any of the candidates. A market analysis was performed on
August 10, 2016, to determine the potential savings to the City. The potential savings for the City of
Kodiak 2009 Series One Boat Lift Revenue Bonds could be as much as $157,405 over the term of the
bonds.

PREVIOUS COUNCIL ACTION: Council authorized the issuance of boat lift special facility revenue
bonds in one or more series pursuant to Resolution No. 07-32, adopted on October 25, 2007. Council
issued these bonds under the Master Resolution and Resolution No. 07-33, and amended Resolution No.
07-33 with Resolution No. 08-30.

DISCUSSION: The City has two revenue bonds outstanding for the Boat Lift. These bonds were
previously issued for the purpose of constructing the Boat Lift in the Ship Yard. The 2009 Series One
Boat Lift Revenue Bond annual debt service is approximately $68,000 for fiscal year 2017 and will
range from $67,000 to $70,000 annually until the bonds reach maturity. Annual coupon rates range from
five percent to six percent per annum until maturity on 09/01/2037. Resolution No. 2016-31 authorizes
the City Manager to proceed if terms and conditions remain favorable to the City. Additional
considerations include market conditions at the pricing date and overall lower costs to the City over the
term of the bonds.

SEPTEMBER 8, 2016 
Agenda Item V. c. Memo Page 1 of3 

60



Market conditions at the pricing date: The Alaska Municipal Bond Bank has offered to refinance the 

bonds outstanding to the City at this time due to favorable market conditions. Pricing for the refinancing, 

and issuance of bonds is scheduled to take place on October 18, 2016. Market conditions could change 

to reevaluate the refinancing of outstanding bonds, the issuance of additional bonds by the AMBB, or 

both. Should the market interest rates increase by 0.25 percent, the potential overall savings to the City 

would decrease to $137,429. Industry standard savings for choosing to refinance outstanding bonds is 

three percent of the outstanding principle balance. The City's outstanding principal balance on the bonds 

eligible for refunding is currently $870,000. 

A market analysis was performed on August 10, 2016, to determine the market sensitivity and yield 

rates for the bond refunding. At this time, the bonds would receive a premium price of $127,868.45 over 

par value, which results from the bonds being issued at higher-than-market interest rates. However, on 

the date of pricing, this premium could be lower. If the bonds were sold at par value or at a discount 

from par value, additional bonds would be required to meet the sources of funds required for refunding 

(Attachment C). Therefore, Resolution No. 2016-31 authorizes an increase in principal up to 

$1,000,000. 

The City of Kodiak would also incur costs of issuance due to refinancing in the amount of $3,837.91, 

underwriter's discount costs in the amount of $2,625, and costs recovered by the City at issuance that 

total $2,945.02. These costs include the attorney's fees but would not include the costs of City 

employees to travel to Seattle, Washington for closing in November. 

Overall cost savings: The City would recognize overall savings over the life of the bonds in the 

estimated amount of $157,405 due to the lower debt service payments made each year. Per the current 

amortization schedules, debt service payments are approximately $68,000 per year. These debt service 

payments include interest and principal based on the stated rates and will remain consistent each year 

until maturity. Under the terms of the refinancing, annual debt service payments would decrease on 

average $8,000 to $12,000 per year, resulting in annual debt service payments ranging from $58,000 to 

$60,000. The amortization schedules for current debt service requirements (Attachment D) and refunded 

debt service (Attachment E) provide annual debt service requirements and detailed amounts for each 

year under the bonds. 

ALTERNATIVES: Council has two alternatives to consider: 

1) Adopt Resolution No. 2016-31, which authorizes the City Manager to proceed with bond

refunding if terms and conditions remain favorable to the City.

2) Do not adopt the resolution and do not proceed with refunding at this time. Annual debt service

requirements, outstanding principal, and terms would remain the same.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: Due to the nature of the subject, financial implications have been 

noted throughout. 

SEPTEMBER 8, 2016 

Agenda Item V. c. Memo Page 2 of3 

61



LEGAL: The City Attorney has worked closely with the Bond Bank and Finance Director on this 

process. The attorney wrote the resolution due to the financial complexity. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends Council adopt Resolution No. 2016-31 to be 

prepared with a refunding option if pricing is favorable in October as outlined. 

CITY MANAGER'S COMMENTS: This bond refunding or refinancing by the Bond Bank could 

result in savings to the City if the market remains favorable. As the Finance Director explained above, 

the City could likely recognize savings due to the lower debt service payments made each year. That 

could reduce our annual debt service on this series of the Boat Lift bonds by a decrease on average 

$8,000 to $12,000 per year, resulting in annual debt service payments ranging from $58,000 to $60,000. 

This is an estimated overall savings of approximately $157,405 over the life of the bonds. Adopting the 

resolution will position the City to participate in the bond sale along with several other municipal 

governments if the market is favorable. Therefore, I recommend Council adopt Resolution No. 2016-31 

and the other similar resolutions on this agenda dealing with bond refunding. 

ATTACHMENTS: 

Attachment A: Resolution No. 2016-31 

Attachment B: Refunding Candidates and Potential Savings 

Attachment C: Market Conditions Boat Lift Resolution No. 2016-31 

Attachment D: Market Conditions Boat Lift Project Resolution No. 2016-31 

Attachment E: Refund BL GO Bonds Resolution No. 2016-31 

PROPOSED MOTION: 

Move to adopt Resolution No. 2016-31. 

SEPTEMBER 8, 2016 
Agenda Item V. c. Memo Page 3 of3 

62



Resolution No. 2016–31 
Page 1 of 11 

CITY OF KODIAK 
RESOLUTION NUMBER 2016–31 

A RESOLUTION OF THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF KODIAK 
AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE OF A SERIES OF BOAT LIFT SPECIAL FACILITY 
REVENUE REFUNDING BONDS IN THE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF NOT TO 
EXCEED $1,000,000 TO REFUND CERTAIN OUTSTANDING BOAT LIFT SPECIAL 
FACILITY REVENUE BONDS OF THE CITY, FIXING CERTAIN DETAILS OF SUCH 
BONDS AND AUTHORIZING THEIR SALE 

WHEREAS, the City of Kodiak (the “City”) has authorized the issuance of boat lift 
special facility revenue bonds in one or more series pursuant to Resolution Number 07–32 
adopted October 25, 2007 (the “Master Resolution”); and 

WHEREAS, there are now outstanding Boat Lift Special Facility Revenue Bonds, 2009A 
of the City maturing on September 1 in the years 2019 through 2037 in the aggregate principal 
amount of $800,000 (the “2009 Bonds”), issued under the Master Resolution and Resolution 
Number 07–33 of the City, as amended by Resolution Number 08–30 of the City; and 

WHEREAS, the Council finds that it is in the best interest of the City to provide for the 
refunding, including the payment of principal of, and premium and interest on, those maturities 
of the 2009 Bonds (the “Refunded Bonds”) whose refunding the City Manager or City Finance 
Director determines will produce the percentage debt service savings specified in this Series 
Resolution, by the issuance of boat lift special facility revenue refunding bonds (the “2016B 
Bonds”) in the aggregate principal amount of not to exceed $1,000,000; and  

WHEREAS, Article VI, Section 3 of the Kodiak City Charter authorizes the City to 
borrow money and issue evidences of indebtedness therefor, the principal and interest of which 
are payable solely out of and the only security of which is the revenue of a revenue-producing 
utility or enterprise when authorized by the council for the acquisition, construction, 
reconstruction, repair, improvement, extension, enlargement, and/or equipment of the utility or 
enterprise; and 

WHEREAS, Article VI, Section 3 of the Kodiak City Charter requires that revenue 
obligations of the City be ratified by a majority of the qualified voters of the City only so long as 
voter approval is required by state law, and under the constitution and statutes of the State of 
Alaska the City may issue revenue obligations without voter approval; and 

WHEREAS, the Alaska Municipal Bond Bank and the City intend to enter into an 
Amendatory Loan Agreement, which amends the Loan Agreement dated as of January 1, 2009 
(the “2009 Loan Agreement”) between the Alaska Municipal Bond Bank and the City to provide 
for the refunding of the Refunded Bonds through their exchange for the 2016B Bonds and 
related matters; and  

WHEREAS, the Council finds that it is necessary and appropriate to delegate to each of 
the City Manager and City Finance Director authority to determine the maturity amounts, interest 

Attachment A

63



Resolution No. 2016–31 
Page 2 of 11   

rates and other details of the 2016B Bonds, and to determine other matters that are not provided 
for in this resolution. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Council of the City of Kodiak, Alaska: 
 
 Section 1. Definitions. The terms used in this Series Resolution which are defined in the 
Master Resolution shall have the meanings set forth in the Master Resolution. In addition the 
following terms shall have the following meanings in this Series Resolution: 
 

“Amendatory Loan Agreement” means the Amendatory Loan Agreement between the 
City and the Bond Bank, amending the 2009 Loan Agreement to provide for the refunding of the 
Refunded Bonds through their exchange for the 2016B Bonds, and related matters. 
 
 “Bond Bank” means the Alaska Municipal Bond Bank, a public corporation of the State 
of Alaska. 
 
 “Bond Bank Bonds” means general obligation bonds issued by the Bond Bank to refund 
all or part of its outstanding General Obligation Bonds, 2009 Series One. 
 
 "Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time, 
together with all regulations applicable thereto. 
 
 "Government Obligations" means obligations that are either (i) direct obligations of the 
United States of America or (ii) obligations of an agency or instrumentality of the United States 
of America the timely payment of the principal of and interest on which are unconditionally 
guaranteed by the United States of America. 
 
 “Loan Agreement” means the 2009 Loan Agreement as amended by the Amendatory 
Loan Agreement. 
 
 “2009 Loan Agreement” means the Loan Agreement dated as of January 1, 2009 between 
the Bond Bank and the City. 
 
 “2016B Bond Fund” means the Boat Lift Special Facility Revenue Refunding Bond 
Fund, 2016B, established by Section 13 of this Series Resolution. 
 
 "2016B Bonds" means the City of Kodiak, Alaska, Boat Lift Special Facility Revenue 
Refunding Bonds, 2016B authorized by this Series Resolution. 
 
 “2016B Debt Service Account” means the account of that name created in the 2016B 
Bond Fund by Section 13(a) of this Series Resolution. 
 
 “2016B Reserve Account” means the account of that name created in the 2016B Bond 
Fund by Section 13(b) of this Series Resolution. 
 

64



Resolution No. 2016–31 
Page 3 of 11   

 “2016B Reserve Requirement” means an amount equal to the least of (i) Maximum 
Annual Debt Service with respect to the Outstanding 2016B Bonds; (ii) 125% of average Annual 
Debt Service with respect to the Outstanding 2016B Bonds; (iii) 10% of the initial principal 
amount of the 2016B Bonds; and (iv) any lesser amount that may be required from time to time 
under the Code for the exclusion of interest on the 2016B Bonds from gross income for federal 
income tax purposes. 
 
 Section 2. Authorization of 2016B Bonds and Purpose of Issuance. For the purpose of 
effecting the refunding by exchange of the Refunded Bonds in the manner set forth in this Series 
Resolution and the Amendatory Loan Agreement, to make any required deposit into the 2016B 
Reserve Account, and to pay all costs incidental thereto and to the issuance of the 2016B Bonds, 
the City hereby authorizes and determines to issue and sell as a series of Bonds under the Master 
Resolution the 2016B Bonds in the aggregate principal amount of not to exceed $1,000,000. 
 
 Section 3. Obligation of 2016B Bonds. The 2016B Bonds shall be an obligation only of 
the 2016B Bond Fund and shall be payable and secured as provided herein and in the Master 
Resolution. Neither the faith and credit nor the taxing power of the City is pledged for the 
payment of the 2016B Bonds. 
 
 Section 4. Description of 2016B Bonds. The 2016B Bonds shall be designated "City of 
Kodiak, Alaska, Boat Lift Special Facility Revenue Refunding Bonds, 2016B." The 2016B 
Bonds shall be in the denomination of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof, shall be numbered 
separately in the manner and with such additional designation as the Registrar deems necessary 
for purposes of identification, and may have endorsed thereon such legends or text as may be 
necessary or appropriate to conform to the rules and regulations of any governmental authority or 
any usage or requirement of law with respect thereto. 
 
 The 2016B Bonds shall mature in one or more years commencing no earlier than 2017 
and ending no later than 2037. The 2016B Bonds shall bear interest from their date, payable 
commencing on a date on or after December 1, 2016, and semi-annually thereafter in each year. 
Interest will be computed on the basis of a 360-day year consisting of twelve 30-day months. 
 
 Subject to Section 2 and the remainder of this section, the dated date, the principal and 
interest payment dates, the record dates for interest payments, the aggregate principal amount, 
the principal amount of each maturity, and the interest rates on the 2016B Bonds shall be 
determined at the time of execution of the Amendatory Loan Agreement under Section 17. 
 
 Section 5. Optional Redemption. The 2016B Bonds, if any, subject to optional 
redemption by the City, the time or times when such Bonds are subject to optional redemption, 
the terms upon which such Bonds may be redeemed, and the redemption price or redemption 
prices for such 2016B Bonds, shall be determined at the time of execution of the Amendatory 
Loan Agreement under Section 17. 
 

65



Resolution No. 2016–31 
Page 4 of 11   

 Section 6. Selection of 2016B Bonds for Redemption; Notice of Redemption. 
 
 (a) Selection of 2016B Bonds for Redemption. When the Bond Bank is the Registered 
Owner of the 2016B Bonds, the selection of 2016B Bonds to be redeemed shall be made as 
provided in the Loan Agreement. When the Bond Bank is not the Registered Owner of the 
2016B Bonds, the selection of 2016B Bonds to be redeemed shall be made as provided in this 
subsection (a). If the City redeems at any one time fewer than all of the 2016B Bonds having the 
same maturity date, the particular 2016B Bonds or portions of 2016B Bonds of such maturity to 
be redeemed shall be selected by lot (or in such other manner determined by the Registrar) in 
increments of $5,000. In the case of a 2016B Bond of a denomination greater than $5,000, the 
City shall treat such 2016B Bond as representing such number of separate 2016B Bonds each of 
the denomination of $5,000 as is obtained by dividing the actual principal amount of such 2016B 
Bond by $5,000. In the event that only a portion of the principal amount of a 2016B Bond is 
redeemed, upon surrender of such 2016B Bond at the office of the Registrar there shall be issued 
to the Registered Owner, without charge therefor, for the then unredeemed balance of the 
principal sum thereof, at the option of the Registered Owner, a 2016B Bond or Bonds of like 
maturity and interest rate in any of the denominations authorized herein. 
  
 (b) Notice of Redemption. When the Bond Bank is the Registered Owner of the 2016B 
Bonds, notice of any intended redemption of 2016B Bonds shall be given as provided in the 
Loan Agreement. When the Bond Bank is not the Registered Owner of the 2016B Bonds, notice 
of any intended redemption of 2016B Bonds shall be made as provided in this subsection (b). 
Notice of redemption shall be mailed not less than 30 nor more than 45 days prior to the date 
fixed for redemption by first class mail to the Registered Owners of the 2016B Bonds to be 
redeemed at their addresses as they appear on the Bond Register on the day the notice is mailed. 
Notice of redemption shall be deemed to have been given when the notice is mailed as herein 
provided, whether or not it is actually received by the Registered Owners. All notices of 
redemption shall be dated and shall state: (1) the redemption date; (2) the redemption price; (3) if 
fewer than all outstanding 2016B Bonds are to be redeemed, the identification (and, in the case 
of partial redemption, the respective principal amounts) of the 2016B Bonds to be redeemed; (4) 
that on the redemption date the redemption price will become due and payable upon each such 
2016B Bond or portion thereof called for redemption, and that interest thereon shall cease to 
accrue from and after said date; and (5) the place where such 2016B Bonds are to be surrendered 
for payment of the redemption price, which place of payment shall be the office of the Registrar. 
 
 Official notice of redemption having been given as aforesaid, 2016B Bonds or portions of 
2016B Bonds to be redeemed shall, on the redemption date, become due and payable at the 
redemption price therein specified, and from and after such date, such 2016B Bonds or portions 
of 2016B Bonds shall cease to bear interest. Upon surrender of such 2016B Bonds for 
redemption in accordance with said notice, such 2016B Bonds shall be paid at the redemption 
price. Installments of interest due on or prior to the redemption date shall be payable as herein 
provided for payment of interest. Upon surrender of any 2016B Bond for partial redemption, 
there shall be prepared for the Registered Owner a new 2016B Bond or Bonds of the same 
maturity in the amount of the unpaid principal. All 2016B Bonds which have been redeemed 
shall be canceled and destroyed by the Registrar and shall not be reissued. 
 

66



Resolution No. 2016–31 
Page 5 of 11   

 Each check or other transfer of funds issued to pay the redemption price of 2016B Bonds 
shall bear the CUSIP number, if any, identifying, by maturity, the 2016B Bonds being redeemed 
with the proceeds of such check or other transfer. 
 
 Section 7. Form of Bond. Each 2016B Bond shall be in substantially the following form, 
with such variations, omissions and insertions as may be required or permitted by this Series 
Resolution or the Master Resolution: 
 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
STATE OF ALASKA 
CITY OF KODIAK 

 
NO._____ $___________________ 
 

BOAT LIFT SPECIAL FACILITY REVENUE REFUNDING BOND, 2016B 
 

REGISTERED OWNER: 
 
PRINCIPAL AMOUNT: 
 
 The City of Kodiak, a municipal corporation of the State of Alaska (the "City"), 
acknowledges itself indebted and for value received promises to pay (but only out of the sources 
mentioned herein) to the Registered Owner identified above, or its registered assigns, the 
principal amount shown above in the following installments on _________ 1 of each of the 
following years, and to pay interest on such installments from the date hereof, payable on 
December 1, 2016 and semiannually thereafter on the 1st days of ________ and _________ of 
each year, at the rates per annum as follows: 
 
Year Principal Amount Interest Rate  Year Principal Amount Interest Rate 
       

 
When this 2016B Bond is owned by the Alaska Municipal Bond Bank (the "Bond 

Bank"), payment of principal and interest shall be made as provided in the Loan Agreement 
between the Bond Bank and the City dated as of December 1, 2007, as amended (the “Loan 
Agreement”). When this 2016B Bond is not owned by the Bond Bank, installments of principal 
and interest on this 2016B Bond shall be paid by check or draft mailed by first class mail to the 
Registered Owner as of the close of business on the _____ day of the month ___________ each 
installment payment date; provided that the final installment of principal and interest on this 
2016B Bond shall be payable upon presentation and surrender of this 2016B Bond by the 
Registered Owner at the office of the Registrar. Interest will be computed on the basis of a 360-
day year consisting of twelve 30-day months. Both principal of and interest on this 2016B Bond 
are payable in lawful money of the United States of America which, on the respective dates of 
payment thereof, shall be legal tender for the payment of public and private debts. 
 
 Installments of principal of this 2016B Bond due on and after _______, 20__, shall be 
subject to prepayment on and after _________, 20__, at the option of the City (subject to any 

67



Resolution No. 2016–31 
Page 6 of 11   

applicable provisions of the Loan Agreement), in such principal amounts and from such 
maturities as the City may determine, and by lot within a maturity, at a redemption price equal to 
the principal amount to be prepaid, plus accrued interest to the date of prepayment. 
 

This 2016B Bond is transferable as provided in the Series Resolution, (i) only upon the 
bond register of the City, and (ii) upon surrender of this 2016B Bond together with a written 
instrument of transfer duly executed by the Registered Owner or the duly authorized attorney of 
the Registered Owner, and thereupon a new fully registered 2016B Bond or Bonds in the same 
aggregate principal amount and maturity shall be issued to the transferee in exchange therefor as 
provided in the Series Resolution and upon the payment of charges, if any, as therein prescribed. 
The City may treat and consider the person in whose name this 2016B Bond is registered as the 
absolute owner hereof for the purpose of receiving payment of, or on account of, the principal or 
redemption price, if any, hereof and interest due hereon and for all other purposes whatsoever. 
 
 This 2016B Bond is a special obligation of the City and is one of a duly authorized issue 
of Bonds of the City designated "City of Kodiak, Alaska, Boat Lift Special Facility Revenue 
Bonds" (the "Bonds"), issued and to be issued in various series under Resolution Number 07–32 
(the "Master Resolution"), adopted October 25, 2007, and a Series Resolution authorizing each 
such series. As provided in the Master Resolution, the Bonds may be issued from time to time 
pursuant to Series Resolutions in one or more series, in various principal amounts, may mature at 
different times, may bear interest at different rates and, subject to the provisions thereof, may 
otherwise vary. The aggregate principal amount of Bonds which may be issued under the Master 
Resolution is not limited, and all Bonds issued and to be issued under said Master Resolution are 
and will be equally and ratably secured by the pledges and covenants made therein, except as 
otherwise expressly provided or permitted in the Master Resolution. 
 
 This 2016B Bond is one of a series of Bonds issued in the aggregate principal amount of 
$_______________ under the Master Resolution and Resolution Number 2016–31 (the "Series 
Resolution"), adopted September __, 2016, for the purpose of refunding certain boat lift special 
facility revenue bonds issued by the City. 
 
 This 2016B Bond shall be an obligation only of the 2016B Bond Fund and shall be 
payable and secured as provided in the Master Resolution and the Series Resolution. Neither the 
faith and credit nor the taxing power of the City is pledged for the payment of the 2016B Bonds. 
The City has pledged to pay into the 2016B Bond Fund from Net Revenue or money in the Boat 
Lift Special Facility Revenue Fund, on or prior to the respective dates on which the same 
become due, such amounts as are required to pay the interest and principal to become due on this 
2016B Bond. Said amounts so pledged are hereby declared to be a lien and charge upon Gross 
Revenue superior to all other charges of any kind or nature whatsoever, except for Operating 
Expenses and except that the amounts so pledged are of equal lien to any lien and charge thereon 
which may hereafter be made to pay and secure the payment of the principal of and interest on 
any Parity Bonds. 
 
 IT IS HEREBY CERTIFIED and declared that this 2016B Bond is issued pursuant to and 
in strict compliance with the constitution or statutes of the State of Alaska and the home rule 
charter of the City, and that all acts, conditions and things required to happen, to be done, and to 

68



Resolution No. 2016–31 
Page 7 of 11   

be performed precedent to and on the issuance of this 2016B Bond have happened, been done 
and been performed. 
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, THE CITY OF KODIAK, ALASKA, has caused this 2016B 
Bond to be signed in its name and on its behalf by the manual or facsimile signature of its Mayor 
and its corporate seal (or a facsimile thereof) to be impressed or otherwise reproduced hereon 
and attested by the manual or facsimile signature of its Clerk, all as of the ___ day of _________ 
2016. 
 
       CITY OF KODIAK 
 
 
       __________________________ 
        MAYOR 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_____________________________ 

CITY CLERK 
 
  [SEAL] 
 
 Section 8. Execution. The 2016B Bonds shall be executed in the name of the City by the 
manual or facsimile signature of the Mayor, and its corporate seal (or a facsimile thereof) shall 
be impressed or otherwise reproduced thereon and attested by the manual or facsimile signature 
of the City Clerk. The execution of a 2016B Bond on behalf of the City by persons who at the 
time of the execution are duly authorized to hold the proper offices shall be valid and sufficient 
for all purposes, although any such person shall have ceased to hold office at the time of delivery 
of the 2016B Bond or shall not have held office on the date of the 2016B Bond. 
 
 Section 9. Payment of Principal and Interest. The 2016B Bonds shall be payable in lawful 
money of the United States of America which at the time of payment is legal tender for the 
payment of public and private debts. When the Bond Bank is the Registered Owner of the 2016B 
Bonds, payment of principal and interest on the 2016B Bonds shall be made as provided in the 
Loan Agreement. When the Bond Bank is not the Registered Owner of the 2016B Bonds, 
installments of principal and interest on the 2016B Bonds shall be paid by check mailed by first 
class mail to the Registered Owner as of the record date for the installment payment at the 
address appearing on the Bond Register; provided that the final installment of principal and 
interest on a 2016B Bond shall be payable upon presentation and surrender of the 2016B Bond 
by the Registered Owner at the office of the Registrar. 
 
 Section 10. Registration. The 2016B Bonds shall be issued only in registered form as to 
both principal and interest. The Registrar shall keep, or cause to be kept, the Bond Register at the 
principal office of the City. The City and the Registrar may treat the person in whose name any 
2016B Bond shall be registered as the absolute owner of such 2016B Bond for all purposes, 

69



Resolution No. 2016–31 
Page 8 of 11   

whether or not the 2016B Bond shall be overdue, and all payments of principal of and interest on 
a 2016B Bond made to the Registered Owner thereof or upon its order shall be valid and 
effectual to satisfy and discharge the liability upon such 2016B Bond to the extent of the sum or 
sums so paid, and neither the City nor the Registrar shall be affected by any notice to the 
contrary. 
 
 Section 11. Transfer and Exchange. 2016B Bonds shall be transferred only upon the 
books for the registration and transfer of 2016B Bonds kept at the office of the Registrar. Upon 
surrender for transfer or exchange of any 2016B Bond at such office, with a written instrument 
of transfer or authorization for exchange in form and with guaranty of signature satisfactory to 
the Registrar, duly executed by the Registered Owner or the duly authorized attorney of the 
Registered Owner, the City shall execute and deliver an equal aggregate principal amount of 
2016B Bonds of the same maturity of any authorized denominations, subject to such reasonable 
regulations as the City may prescribe and upon payment sufficient to reimburse it for any tax, fee 
or other governmental charge required to be paid in connection with such transfer or exchange. 
All 2016B Bonds surrendered for transfer or exchange shall be canceled by the Registrar. 
 
 Section 12. 2016B Bonds Mutilated, Destroyed, Stolen or Lost. Upon surrender to the 
Registrar of a mutilated 2016B Bond, the City shall execute and deliver a new 2016B Bond of 
like maturity and principal amount. Upon filing with the Registrar of evidence satisfactory to the 
City that a 2016B Bond has been destroyed, stolen or lost and of the ownership thereof, and upon 
furnishing the City with indemnity satisfactory to it, the City shall execute and deliver a new 
2016B Bond of like maturity and principal amount. The person requesting the execution and 
delivery of a new 2016B Bond under this section shall comply with such other reasonable 
regulations as the City may prescribe and pay such expenses as the City may incur in connection 
therewith. 
 
 Section 13. 2016B Bond Fund. A special fund of the City designated the "Boat Lift 
Special Facility Revenue Refunding Bond Fund, 2016B" is hereby created for the purpose of 
paying and securing the payment of the 2016B Bonds. The 2016B Bond Fund shall be held 
separate and apart from all other funds and accounts of the City and shall be a trust fund for the 
owners, from time to time, of the 2016B Bonds. 
 
 (a) 2016B Debt Service Account. A 2016B Debt Service Account is hereby created in the 
2016B Bond Fund for the purpose of paying the principal of and interest on the 2016B Bonds. 
The City hereby irrevocably obligates and binds itself for as long as the 2016B Bonds remain 
Outstanding to set aside and pay into the 2016B Debt Service Account from Net Revenue or 
money in the Boat Lift Special Facility Revenue Fund, on or prior to the respective dates on 
which the same become due (i) such amounts as are required to pay the interest scheduled to 
become due on the Outstanding 2016B Bonds, and (ii) such amounts as are required to pay 
maturing principal of the Outstanding 2016B Bonds. 
 
 (b) 2016B Reserve Account. A 2016B Reserve Account is hereby created in the 2016B 
Bond Fund for the purpose of securing the payment of the principal of and interest on the 2016B 
Bonds. On the date of issuance of the 2016B Bonds, the City shall deposit a sum in the 2016B 
Reserve Account that is equal to the 2016B Reserve Requirement. If a deficiency occurs in the 

70



Resolution No. 2016–31 
Page 9 of 11 

2016B Debt Service Account, an amount sufficient to make up the deficiency shall be withdrawn 
from the 2016B Reserve Account and transferred to the 2016B Debt Service Account. The City 
shall make up any deficiency in the 2016B Reserve Account resulting from such a withdrawal 
within one year out of Net Revenue or out of any other moneys legally available for such 
purpose, after providing for the payments required to be made into the 2016B Debt Service 
Account within such year. 

Any amount in the 2016B Reserve Account in excess of the 2016B Reserve Requirement 
may be transferred to the 2016B Debt Service Account and used to pay the principal of and 
interest on the 2016B Bonds as the same becomes due and payable. Whenever there is a 
sufficient amount in the 2016B Bond Fund, including the 2016B Reserve Account and the 
2016B Debt Service Account, to pay the principal of and interest on all Outstanding 2016B 
Bonds, the amount in the 2016B Reserve Account may be used to pay such principal and 
interest.  

(c) Pledge and Lien. Said amounts so pledged to be paid into the 2016B Debt Service
Account and the 2016B Reserve Account are hereby declared to be a lien and charge upon Gross 
Revenue superior to all other charges of any kind or nature whatsoever, except for Operating 
Expenses and except that the amounts so pledged are of equal lien to any lien and charge thereon 
which may hereafter be made to pay and secure the payment of the principal of and interest on 
any Parity Bonds. 

Section 14. Designation of Refunded Bonds. The City Manager and City Finance 
Director each is authorized to designate which, if any, maturities of the 2009 Bonds authorized to 
be refunded in this Series Resolution shall be refunded, provided that the refunding of the 2009 
Bonds so designated shall realize a debt service savings in the aggregate of at least three percent 
of their principal amount, net of all issuance costs and underwriting discount, on a present value 
basis. 

Section 15. Tax Covenants. The City covenants to comply with any and all applicable 
requirements set forth in the Code in effect from time to time to the extent that such compliance 
shall be necessary for the exclusion of the interest on the 2016B Bonds from gross income for 
federal income tax purposes. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the City covenants 
that it will make no use or investment of the proceeds of the 2016B Bonds which will cause the 
2016B Bonds to be "arbitrage bonds" subject to federal income taxation by reason of Section 148 
of the Code, and that it will not take or permit any action that would cause the 2016B Bonds to 
be "private activity bonds" as defined in Section 141 of the Code. 

Section 16. Defeasance. In the event money and/or non-callable Government Obligations 
maturing at such times and bearing interest to be earned thereon in amounts sufficient to redeem 
and retire any or all of the 2016B Bonds in accordance with their terms are set aside in a special 
trust account to effect such redemption or retirement and such moneys and the principal of and 
interest on such Government Obligations are irrevocably set aside and pledged for such purpose, 
then no further payments need be made to pay or secure the payment of the principal of and 
interest on such 2016B Bonds and such 2016B Bonds shall be deemed not to be Outstanding. 

71



Resolution No. 2016–31 
Page 10 of 11   

 Section 17. Exchange of Bonds; Amendatory Loan Agreement. The 2016B Bonds shall 
be delivered to the Bond Bank in exchange for the Refunded Bonds. Subject to the limitations 
provided in Sections 2 and 4, each of the City Manager and City Finance Director is hereby 
authorized to determine the aggregate principal amount, maturity amounts, interest rates, yields, 
dated date, principal and interest payment dates, record dates for principal and interest payments, 
redemption terms, if any, for the 2016B Bonds, and other details of the 2016B Bonds; provided 
that: (i) the principal amount of each maturity of the 2016B Bonds shall not exceed the principal 
amount of the portion of the corresponding maturity of the Bond Bank Bonds that is allocated to 
the making of a loan to the City; and (ii) the interest rate on each maturity of the 2016B Bonds 
shall not exceed the interest rate on the corresponding maturity of the Bond Bank Bonds. Based 
upon the foregoing determinations, the City Manager and City Finance Director each is 
authorized to negotiate and execute the Amendatory Loan Agreement. 
 
 Section 18. Authority of Officers. The City Manager, the acting City Manager, the 
Finance Director, the acting Finance Director, the Clerk and the acting Clerk are, and each of 
them hereby is, authorized and directed to do and perform all things and determine all matters 
not determined by this Series Resolution, to the end that the City may carry out its obligations 
under the 2016B Bonds and this Series Resolution. 
 

Section 19. Ongoing Disclosure. The City acknowledges that, under Rule 15c2-12 of the 
Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Rule”), the City may now or in the future be an 
“obligated person” with respect to the Bond Bank Bonds. In accordance with the Rule and as the 
Bond Bank may require, the City shall enter into a continuing disclosure agreement and 
undertake to provide certain annual financial information and operating data as shall be set forth 
in the Amendatory Loan Agreement. 
 
 Section 20. Miscellaneous. 
 
 (a) All payments made by the City of, or on account of, the principal of or interest on the 
2016B Bonds shall be made on the several 2016B Bonds ratably and in proportion to the amount 
due thereon, respectively, for principal or interest as the case may be. 
 
 (b) No recourse shall be had for the payment of the principal of or the interest on the 
2016B Bonds or for any claim based thereon or on the Master Resolution or this Series 
Resolution against any member of the Council or officer of the City or any person executing the 
2016B Bonds. The 2016B Bonds are not and shall not be in any way a debt or liability of the 
State of Alaska or of any political subdivision thereof, except the City, and do not and shall not 
create or constitute an indebtedness or obligation, either legal, moral or otherwise, of said state or 
of any political subdivision thereof, except the City. 
 
 Section 21. Severability. If any one or more of the provisions of this Series Resolution 
shall be declared by any court of competent jurisdiction to be contrary to law, then such 
provision shall be null and void and shall be deemed separable from the remaining provisions of 
this Series Resolution and shall in no way affect the validity of the other provisions of this Series 
Resolution or of the 2016B Bonds. 
 

72



Resolution No. 2016–31 
Page 11 of 11   

 Section 22. Effective Date. This Series Resolution shall become effective upon passage 
and approval. 
 
 ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Kodiak, Alaska, this _____ day of 
September 2016. 
       CITY OF KODIAK 
 
 
       ________________________________ 
         MAYOR 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
______________________________ 

CITY CLERK 

73



Attachment B

74



Attachment C

75



Boat Lift Special Facility Revenue Bonds, 2009
Boat Lift Project - $1M

Fiscal Fiscal 
Year Date Principal Coupon Interest Total Year Total

9/1/2015 20,000 5.000% 24,606.25 44,606.25
2016 3/1/2016 24,106.25 24,106.25 68,712.50

FY 2016 not included in totals at the bottom; shown for FY 2016 purposes and not CP / LTP calcs

9/1/2016 20,000 5.000% 24,106.25 44,106.25
2017 3/1/2017 23,606.25 23,606.25 67,712.50

9/1/2017 25,000 5.000% 23,606.25 48,606.25
2018 3/1/2018 22,981.25 22,981.25 71,587.50

9/1/2018 25,000 5.000% 22,981.25 47,981.25
2019 3/1/2019 22,356.25 22,356.25 70,337.50

9/1/2019 25,000 5.000% 22,356.25 47,356.25
2020 3/1/2020 21,731.25 21,731.25 69,087.50

9/1/2020 25,000 5.000% 21,731.25 46,731.25
2021 3/1/2021 21,106.25 21,106.25 67,837.50

9/1/2021 30,000 5.000% 21,106.25 51,106.25
2022 3/1/2022 20,356.25 20,356.25 71,462.50

9/1/2022 30,000 5.000% 20,356.25 50,356.25
2023 3/1/2023 19,606.25 19,606.25 69,962.50

9/1/2023 30,000 5.250% 19,606.25 49,606.25
2024 3/1/2024 18,818.75 18,818.75 68,425.00

9/1/2024 30,000 5.250% 18,818.75 48,818.75
2025 3/1/2025 18,031.25 18,031.25 66,850.00

9/1/2025 35,000 5.375% 18,031.25 53,031.25
2026 3/1/2026 17,090.63 17,090.63 70,121.88

9/1/2026 35,000 5.500% 17,090.63 52,090.63
2027 3/1/2027 16,128.13 16,128.13 68,218.75

9/1/2027 40,000 5.500% 16,128.13 56,128.13
2028 3/1/2028 15,028.13 15,028.13 71,156.25

9/1/2028 40,000 5.500% 15,028.13 55,028.13
2029 3/1/2029 13,928.13 13,928.13 68,956.25

9/1/2029 40,000 5.625% 13,928.13 53,928.13
2030 3/1/2030 12,803.13 12,803.13 66,731.25

9/1/2030 45,000 * 5.750% 12,803.13 57,803.13
2031 3/1/2031 11,509.38 11,509.38 69,312.50

9/1/2031 45,000 * 5.750% 11,509.38 56,509.38
2032 3/1/2032 10,215.63 10,215.63 66,725.00

9/1/2032 50,000 * 5.750% 10,215.63 60,215.63
2033 3/1/2033 8,778.13 8,778.13 68,993.75

9/1/2033 55,000 5.750% 8,778.13 63,778.13
2034 3/1/2034 7,196.88 7,196.88 70,975.00

9/1/2034 55,000 * 5.875% 7,196.88 62,196.88
2035 3/1/2035 5,581.25 5,581.25 67,778.13

9/1/2035 60,000 * 5.875% 5,581.25 65,581.25
2036 3/1/2036 3,818.75 3,818.75 69,400.00

9/1/2036 65,000 * 5.875% 3,818.75 68,818.75
2037 3/1/2037 1,909.38 1,909.38 70,728.13

2038 9/1/2037 65,000 5.875% 1,909.38 66,909.38 66,909.38

870,000.00 649,268.75 1,519,268.75 1,519,268.75

Attachment D

76



Attachment E

77



78



(This page left intentionally blank.) 

79



To: 

From: 

Thru: 

Date: 

Agenda Item: 

MEMORANDUM TO COUNCIL 

Mayor Branson and City Councilm)J;1bers

Aimee Kniaziowski, City Managefy(/{_ 

Kelly Mayes, Finance Director Kµt,A 
September 8, 2016 

V. d. Resolution No. 2016-32, Authorizing the Issuance of a Series of Harbor
Revenue Refunding Bonds in the Principal Amount Not to Exceed 
$2,000,000 to Refund Certain Outstanding Harbor Revenue Bonds of the 
City, Fixing Certain Details of Such Bonds, and Authorizing Their Sale 

SUMMARY: Resolution No. 2016-32 authorizes the City Manager to proceed with bond refunding for 
the 2007 Harbor Revenue Bonds in an amount not to exceed $2,000,000. The Alaska Municipal Bond 
Bank is issuing General Obligation and Refunding Bonds, 2016 Series Three and Series Four Bonds. A 
portion of the proceeds of the 2016 Series Three and Series Four Bonds is being used to refund and 
redeem certain outstanding bonds of the Bond Bank, including the 2007 Series Five Boat Harbor 
Revenue Bonds issued by the City of Kodiak. Depending on the market conditions on the pricing date 
and resulting savings available as a result of the refunding, the Bond Bank may refund all or none of the 
refunding candidates. The Bond Bank is not obligated to refund any of the candidates. A market analysis 
was performed on August 10, 2016, to determine the potential savings to the City. The potential savings 
for the City of Kodiak 2007 Series Five Boat Harbor Revenue Bonds could be as much as $226,199 over 
the term of the bonds. 

PREVIOUS COUNCIL ACTION: Council authorized the issuance of Harbor Revenue bonds in one 
or more series pursuant to Resolution No. 07-30, adopted on October 25, 2007. Council issued these 
bonds under the Master Resolution and Resolution No. 07-31. 

DISCUSSION: The City has one revenue bond outstanding for the Boat Harbor. These bonds were 
previously issued for the purpose of replacing M, N, and P floats in St. Herman Harbor. The 2007 Series 
Five Harbor Revenue Bond annual debt service is approximately $126,000 for fiscal year 2017 and will 
range from $125,000 to $130,000 annually until the bonds reach maturity. Annual coupon rates range 
from four percent to six percent per annum until maturity on 09/01/2037. 

Resolution No. 2016-32 authorizes the City Manager to proceed if terms and conditions remain 
favorable to the City. Additional considerations include market conditions at the pricing date and overall 
lower costs to the city over the term of the bonds. 

SEPTEMBER 8, 2016 

Agenda Item V. d. Memo Page 1 of 3 

80



Market conditions at the pricing date: The Alaska Municipal Bond Bank has offered to refinance the 

bonds outstanding to the City at this time due to favorable market conditions. Pricing for the refinancing 

and issuance of bonds are scheduled to take place on October 18, 2016. Market conditions could change 

to reevaluate the refinancing of outstanding bonds, the issuance of additional bonds by the AMBB, or 

both. Should the market interest rates increase by 0.25 percent, the potential overall savings to the city 

would decrease to $190,508. Industry standard savings for choosing to refinance outstanding bonds is 

three percent of the outstanding principle balance. The City's outstanding principal balance on the bonds 

eligible for refunding is currently $1,745,000. 

A market analysis was performed on August 10, 2016, to determine the market sensitivity and yield 

rates for the bond refunding. At this time, the bonds would receive a premium price of $246,681.20 over 

par value, which results from the bonds being issued at higher-than-market interest rates. However, on 

the date of pricing, this premium could be lower. If the bonds were sold at par value or at a discount 

from par value, additional bonds would be required to meet the sources of funds required for refunding 

(Attachment C). Therefore, Resolution No. 2016-32 authorizes an increase in principal up to 

$2,000,000. 

The City of Kodiak would also incur costs of issuance due to refinancing in the amount of $7,547.90, 

underwriter's discount costs in the amount of $5,162.50, and costs recovered by the City at issuance that 

total $983.86. These costs include the attorney's fees but would not include the costs of City employees 

to travel to Seattle, Washington for closing in November. 

Overall cost savings: The City would recognize overall savings over the life of the bonds in the 

estimated amount of $226,199 due to the lower debt service payments made each year. Per the current 

amortization schedules, debt service payments are approximately $128,000 per year. These debt service 

payments include interest and principal based on the stated rates and will remain consistent each year 

until maturity. Under the terms of the refinancing, annual debt service payments would decrease on 

average $10,000 to $15,000 per year, resulting in annual debt service payments ranging from $118,000 

to $108,000. The amortization schedules for current debt service requirements (Attachment D) and 

refunded debt service (Attachment E) provide annual debt service requirements and detailed amounts for 

each year under the bonds. 

ALTERNATIVES: The Council has two alternatives for this request: 

1) Adopt Resolution No. 2016-32 to authorize the City Manager to proceed if terms and conditions

remain favorable to the City.

2) Do not adopt Resolution No. 2016-32 and do not proceed with refunding at this time. Annual

debt service requirements, outstanding principal, and terms would remain the same.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: Due to the nature of the subject, financial implications have been 

noted throughout. 

SEPTEMBER 8, 2016 
Agenda Item V. d. Memo Page 2 of 3 

81



LEGAL: The City Attorney has worked closely with the Bond Bank and Finance Director on this 

process. The attorney wrote the resolution due to the financial complexity. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends Council adopt Resolution No. 2016-32 to be 

prepared with a refunding option if pricing is favorable in October as outlined. 

CITY MANAGER'S COMMENTS: This bond refunding or refinancing by the Bond Bank could 

result in savings to the City if the market remains favorable. As the Finance Director explained, the 

City could likely recognize savings on the Harbor debt by lowering debt service payments made each 

year. That could decrease debt payments on average $10,000 - $15,000 per year, saving a projected 

$226,199 over the life of the bonds. Adopting the resolution will position the City to participate in the 

bond sale along with several other municipal governments if the market is favorable. Therefore, I 

recommend Council adopt Resolution No. 2016-32 and the other similar resolutions on this agenda 

dealing with bond refunding. 

ATTACHMENTS: 

Attachment A: Resolution No. 2016-32 

Attachment B: Refunding Candidates and Potential Savings Resolution No. 2016-32 

Attachment C: Harbor Bonds Resolution No. 2016-32 

Attachment D: Harbor Bonds Series 2007 Resolution No. 2016-32 

Attachment E: Harbor Bond Series 2007-5, Resolution No. 2016-32 

PROPOSED MOTION: 

Move to adopt Resolution No. 2016-32. 

SEPTEMBER 8, 2016 
Agenda Item V. d. Memo Page 3 of 3 

82



Resolution No. 2016–32 
Page 1 of 11 

CITY OF KODIAK 
RESOLUTION NUMBER 2016–32 

A RESOLUTION OF THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF KODIAK 
AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE OF A SERIES OF HARBOR REVENUE 
REFUNDING BONDS IN THE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF NOT TO EXCEED 
$2,000,000 TO REFUND CERTAIN OUTSTANDING HARBOR REVENUE BONDS OF 
THE CITY, FIXING CERTAIN DETAILS OF SUCH BONDS AND AUTHORIZING 
THEIR SALE 

WHEREAS, the City of Kodiak (the "City") has authorized the issuance of harbor 
revenue bonds in one or more series pursuant to Resolution Number 07–30 adopted October 25, 
2007 (the "Master Resolution"); and 

WHEREAS, there are now outstanding Harbor Revenue Bonds, 2007A of the City 
maturing on September 1 in the years 2018 through 2037 in the aggregate principal amount of 
$1,650,000 (the "2007 Bonds"), issued under the Master Resolution and Resolution Number 07–
31 of the City; and 

WHEREAS, the Council finds that it is in the best interest of the City to provide for the 
refunding, including the payment of principal of, and premium and interest on, those maturities 
of the 2007 Bonds (the "Refunded Bonds") whose refunding the City Manager or City Finance 
Director determines will produce the percentage debt service savings specified in this Series 
Resolution, by the issuance of harbor revenue refunding bonds (the "2016A Bonds") in the 
aggregate principal amount of not to exceed $2,000,000; and  

WHEREAS, Article VI, Section 3 of the Kodiak City Charter authorizes the City to 
borrow money and issue evidences of indebtedness therefor, the principal and interest of which 
are payable solely out of and the only security of which is the revenue of a revenue-producing 
utility or enterprise when authorized by the council for the acquisition, construction, 
reconstruction, repair, improvement, extension, enlargement, and/or equipment of the utility or 
enterprise; and 

WHEREAS, Article VI, Section 3 of the Kodiak City Charter requires that revenue 
obligations of the City be ratified by a majority of the qualified voters of the City only so long as 
voter approval is required by state law, and under the constitution and statutes of the State of 
Alaska the City may issue revenue obligations without voter approval; and 

WHEREAS, the Alaska Municipal Bond Bank and the City intend to enter into an 
Amendatory Loan Agreement, which amends the Loan Agreement dated as of December 1, 2007 
(the "2007 Loan Agreement") between the Alaska Municipal Bond Bank and the City to provide 
for the refunding of the Refunded Bonds through their exchange for the 2016A Bonds and 
related matters; and  

WHEREAS, the Council finds that it is necessary and appropriate to delegate to each of 
the City Manager and City Finance Director authority to determine the maturity amounts, interest 

Attachment A

83



Resolution No. 2016–32 
Page 2 of 11   

rates and other details of the 2016A Bonds, and to determine other matters that are not provided 
for in this resolution. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Council of the City of Kodiak, Alaska: 
 
 Section 1. Definitions. The terms used in this Series Resolution which are defined in the 
Master Resolution shall have the meanings set forth in the Master Resolution. In addition the 
following terms shall have the following meanings in this Series Resolution: 
 

"Amendatory Loan Agreement" means the Amendatory Loan Agreement between the 
City and the Bond Bank, amending the 2007 Loan Agreement to provide for the refunding of the 
Refunded Bonds through their exchange for the 2016A Bonds, and related matters. 
 
 "Bond Bank" means the Alaska Municipal Bond Bank, a public corporation of the State 
of Alaska. 
 
 "Bond Bank Bonds" means general obligation bonds issued by the Bond Bank to refund 
all or part of its outstanding General Obligation Bonds, 2007 Series Five. 
 
 "Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time, 
together with all regulations applicable thereto. 
 
 "Government Obligations" means obligations that are either (i) direct obligations of the 
United States of America or (ii) obligations of an agency or instrumentality of the United States 
of America the timely payment of the principal of and interest on which are unconditionally 
guaranteed by the United States of America. 
 
 "Loan Agreement" means the 2007 Loan Agreement as amended by the Amendatory 
Loan Agreement. 
 
 "2007 Loan Agreement" means the Loan Agreement dated as of December 1, 2007 
between the Bond Bank and the City. 
 
 "2016A Bond Fund" means the Harbor Revenue Refunding Bond Fund, 2016A, 
established by Section 13 of this Series Resolution. 
 
 "2016A Bonds" means the City of Kodiak, Alaska, Harbor Revenue Refunding Bonds, 
2016A authorized by this Series Resolution. 
 
 "2016A Debt Service Account" means the account of that name created in the 2016A 
Bond Fund by Section 13(a) of this Series Resolution. 
 
 "2016A Reserve Account" means the account of that name created in the 2016A Bond 
Fund by Section 13(b) of this Series Resolution. 
 

84



Resolution No. 2016–32 
Page 3 of 11   

 "2016A Reserve Requirement" means an amount equal to the least of (i) Maximum 
Annual Debt Service with respect to the Outstanding 2016A Bonds; (ii) 125% of average Annual 
Debt Service with respect to the Outstanding 2016A Bonds; (iii) 10% of the initial principal 
amount of the 2016A Bonds; and (iv) any lesser amount that may be required from time to time 
under the Code for the exclusion of interest on the 2016A Bonds from gross income for federal 
income tax purposes. 
 
 Section 2. Authorization of 2016A Bonds and Purpose of Issuance. For the purpose of 
effecting the refunding by exchange of the Refunded Bonds in the manner set forth in this Series 
Resolution and the Amendatory Loan Agreement, to make any required deposit into the 2016A 
Reserve Account, and to pay all costs incidental thereto and to the issuance of the 2016A Bonds, 
the City hereby authorizes and determines to issue and sell as a series of Bonds under the Master 
Resolution the 2016A Bonds in the aggregate principal amount of not to exceed $2,000,000. 
 
 Section 3. Obligation of 2016A Bonds. The 2016A Bonds shall be an obligation only of 
the 2016A Bond Fund and shall be payable and secured as provided herein and in the Master 
Resolution. Neither the faith and credit nor the taxing power of the City is pledged for the 
payment of the 2016A Bonds. 
 
 Section 4. Description of 2016A Bonds. The 2016A Bonds shall be designated "City of 
Kodiak, Alaska, Harbor Revenue Refunding Bonds, 2016A." The 2016A Bonds shall be in the 
denomination of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof, shall be numbered separately in the 
manner and with such additional designation as the Registrar deems necessary for purposes of 
identification, and may have endorsed thereon such legends or text as may be necessary or 
appropriate to conform to the rules and regulations of any governmental authority or any usage 
or requirement of law with respect thereto. 
 
 The 2016A Bonds shall mature in one or more years commencing no earlier than 2017 
and ending no later than 2037. The 2016A Bonds shall bear interest from their date, payable 
commencing on a date on or after December 1, 2016, and semi-annually thereafter in each year. 
Interest will be computed on the basis of a 360-day year consisting of twelve 30-day months. 
 
 Subject to Section 2 and the remainder of this section, the dated date, the principal and 
interest payment dates, the record dates for interest payments, the aggregate principal amount, 
the principal amount of each maturity, and the interest rates on the 2016A Bonds shall be 
determined at the time of execution of the Amendatory Loan Agreement under Section 17. 
 
 Section 5. Optional Redemption. The 2016A Bonds, if any, subject to optional 
redemption by the City, the time or times when such Bonds are subject to optional redemption, 
the terms upon which such Bonds may be redeemed, and the redemption price or redemption 
prices for such 2016A Bonds, shall be determined at the time of execution of the Amendatory 
Loan Agreement under Section 17. 
 

85



Resolution No. 2016–32 
Page 4 of 11   

 Section 6. Selection of 2016A Bonds for Redemption; Notice of Redemption. 
 
 (a) Selection of 2016A Bonds for Redemption. When the Bond Bank is the Registered 
Owner of the 2016A Bonds, the selection of 2016A Bonds to be redeemed shall be made as 
provided in the Loan Agreement. When the Bond Bank is not the Registered Owner of the 
2016A Bonds, the selection of 2016A Bonds to be redeemed shall be made as provided in this 
subsection (a). If the City redeems at any one time fewer than all of the 2016A Bonds having the 
same maturity date, the particular 2016A Bonds or portions of 2016A Bonds of such maturity to 
be redeemed shall be selected by lot (or in such other manner determined by the Registrar) in 
increments of $5,000. In the case of a 2016A Bond of a denomination greater than $5,000, the 
City shall treat such 2016A Bond as representing such number of separate 2016A Bonds each of 
the denomination of $5,000 as is obtained by dividing the actual principal amount of such 2016A 
Bond by $5,000. In the event that only a portion of the principal amount of a 2016A Bond is 
redeemed, upon surrender of such 2016A Bond at the office of the Registrar there shall be issued 
to the Registered Owner, without charge therefor, for the then unredeemed balance of the 
principal sum thereof, at the option of the Registered Owner, a 2016A Bond or Bonds of like 
maturity and interest rate in any of the denominations authorized herein. 
  
 (b) Notice of Redemption. When the Bond Bank is the Registered Owner of the 2016A 
Bonds, notice of any intended redemption of 2016A Bonds shall be given as provided in the 
Loan Agreement. When the Bond Bank is not the Registered Owner of the 2016A Bonds, notice 
of any intended redemption of 2016A Bonds shall be made as provided in this subsection (b). 
Notice of redemption shall be mailed not less than 30 nor more than 45 days prior to the date 
fixed for redemption by first class mail to the Registered Owners of the 2016A Bonds to be 
redeemed at their addresses as they appear on the Bond Register on the day the notice is mailed. 
Notice of redemption shall be deemed to have been given when the notice is mailed as herein 
provided, whether or not it is actually received by the Registered Owners. All notices of 
redemption shall be dated and shall state: (1) the redemption date; (2) the redemption price; (3) if 
fewer than all outstanding 2016A Bonds are to be redeemed, the identification (and, in the case 
of partial redemption, the respective principal amounts) of the 2016A Bonds to be redeemed; (4) 
that on the redemption date the redemption price will become due and payable upon each such 
2016A Bond or portion thereof called for redemption, and that interest thereon shall cease to 
accrue from and after said date; and (5) the place where such 2016A Bonds are to be surrendered 
for payment of the redemption price, which place of payment shall be the office of the Registrar. 
 
 Official notice of redemption having been given as aforesaid, 2016A Bonds or portions of 
2016A Bonds to be redeemed shall, on the redemption date, become due and payable at the 
redemption price therein specified, and from and after such date, such 2016A Bonds or portions 
of 2016A Bonds shall cease to bear interest. Upon surrender of such 2016A Bonds for 
redemption in accordance with said notice, such 2016A Bonds shall be paid at the redemption 
price. Installments of interest due on or prior to the redemption date shall be payable as herein 
provided for payment of interest. Upon surrender of any 2016A Bond for partial redemption, 
there shall be prepared for the Registered Owner a new 2016A Bond or Bonds of the same 
maturity in the amount of the unpaid principal. All 2016A Bonds which have been redeemed 
shall be canceled and destroyed by the Registrar and shall not be reissued. 
 

86



Resolution No. 2016–32 
Page 5 of 11   

 Each check or other transfer of funds issued to pay the redemption price of 2016A Bonds 
shall bear the CUSIP number, if any, identifying, by maturity, the 2016A Bonds being redeemed 
with the proceeds of such check or other transfer. 
 
 Section 7. Form of Bond. Each 2016A Bond shall be in substantially the following form, 
with such variations, omissions and insertions as may be required or permitted by this Series 
Resolution or the Master Resolution: 
 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
STATE OF ALASKA 
CITY OF KODIAK 

 
NO._____ $___________________ 
 

HARBOR REVENUE REFUNDING BOND, 2016A 
 

REGISTERED OWNER: 
 
PRINCIPAL AMOUNT: 
 
 The City of Kodiak, a municipal corporation of the State of Alaska (the "City"), 
acknowledges itself indebted and for value received promises to pay (but only out of the sources 
mentioned herein) to the Registered Owner identified above, or its registered assigns, the 
principal amount shown above in the following installments on _________ 1 of each of the 
following years, and to pay interest on such installments from the date hereof, payable on 
__________ 1, 2016 and semiannually thereafter on the 1st days of ________ and _________ of 
each year, at the rates per annum as follows: 
 
Year Principal Amount Interest Rate  Year Principal Amount Interest Rate 
       

 
When this 2016A Bond is owned by the Alaska Municipal Bond Bank (the "Bond 

Bank"), payment of principal and interest shall be made as provided in the Loan Agreement 
between the Bond Bank and the City dated as of December 1, 2007, as amended (the "Loan 
Agreement"). When this 2016A Bond is not owned by the Bond Bank, installments of principal 
and interest on this 2016A Bond shall be paid by check or draft mailed by first class mail to the 
Registered Owner as of the close of business on the _____ day of the month ___________ each 
installment payment date; provided that the final installment of principal and interest on this 
2016A Bond shall be payable upon presentation and surrender of this 2016A Bond by the 
Registered Owner at the office of the Registrar. Interest will be computed on the basis of a 360-
day year consisting of twelve 30-day months. Both principal of and interest on this 2016A Bond 
are payable in lawful money of the United States of America which, on the respective dates of 
payment thereof, shall be legal tender for the payment of public and private debts. 
 
 Installments of principal of this 2016A Bond due on and after _______, 20__, shall be 
subject to prepayment on and after _________, 20__, at the option of the City (subject to any 

87



Resolution No. 2016–32 
Page 6 of 11   

applicable provisions of the Loan Agreement), in such principal amounts and from such 
maturities as the City may determine, and by lot within a maturity, at a redemption price equal to 
the principal amount to be prepaid, plus accrued interest to the date of prepayment. 
 

This 2016A Bond is transferable as provided in the Series Resolution, (i) only upon the 
bond register of the City, and (ii) upon surrender of this 2016A Bond together with a written 
instrument of transfer duly executed by the Registered Owner or the duly authorized attorney of 
the Registered Owner, and thereupon a new fully registered 2016A Bond or Bonds in the same 
aggregate principal amount and maturity shall be issued to the transferee in exchange therefor as 
provided in the Series Resolution and upon the payment of charges, if any, as therein prescribed. 
The City may treat and consider the person in whose name this 2016A Bond is registered as the 
absolute owner hereof for the purpose of receiving payment of, or on account of, the principal or 
redemption price, if any, hereof and interest due hereon and for all other purposes whatsoever. 
 
 This 2016A Bond is a special obligation of the City and is one of a duly authorized issue 
of Bonds of the City designated "City of Kodiak, Alaska, Harbor Revenue Bonds" (the "Bonds"), 
issued and to be issued in various series under Resolution Number 07–30 (the "Master 
Resolution"), adopted October 25, 2007, and a Series Resolution authorizing each such series. As 
provided in the Master Resolution, the Bonds may be issued from time to time pursuant to Series 
Resolutions in one or more series, in various principal amounts, may mature at different times, 
may bear interest at different rates and, subject to the provisions thereof, may otherwise vary. 
The aggregate principal amount of Bonds which may be issued under the Master Resolution is 
not limited, and all Bonds issued and to be issued under said Master Resolution are and will be 
equally and ratably secured by the pledges and covenants made therein, except as otherwise 
expressly provided or permitted in the Master Resolution. 
 
 This 2016A Bond is one of a series of Bonds issued in the aggregate principal amount of 
$_______________ under the Master Resolution and Resolution Number 2016–32 (the "Series 
Resolution"), adopted September __, 2016, for the purpose of refunding certain harbor revenue 
bonds issued by the City. 
 
 This 2016A Bond shall be an obligation only of the 2016A Bond Fund and shall be 
payable and secured as provided in the Master Resolution and the Series Resolution. Neither the 
faith and credit nor the taxing power of the City is pledged for the payment of the 2016A Bonds. 
The City has pledged to pay into the 2016A Bond Fund from Net Revenue or money in the 
Harbor Revenue Fund, on or prior to the respective dates on which the same become due, such 
amounts as are required to pay the interest and principal to become due on this 2016A Bond. 
Said amounts so pledged are hereby declared to be a lien and charge upon Gross Revenue 
superior to all other charges of any kind or nature whatsoever, except for Operating Expenses 
and except that the amounts so pledged are of equal lien to any lien and charge thereon which 
may hereafter be made to pay and secure the payment of the principal of and interest on any 
Parity Bonds. 
 
 IT IS HEREBY CERTIFIED and declared that this 2016A Bond is issued pursuant to and 
in strict compliance with the constitution or statutes of the State of Alaska and the home rule 
charter of the City, and that all acts, conditions and things required to happen, to be done, and to 

88



Resolution No. 2016–32 
Page 7 of 11   

be performed precedent to and on the issuance of this 2016A Bond have happened, been done 
and been performed. 
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, THE CITY OF KODIAK, ALASKA, has caused this 2016A 
Bond to be signed in its name and on its behalf by the manual or facsimile signature of its Mayor 
and its corporate seal (or a facsimile thereof) to be impressed or otherwise reproduced hereon 
and attested by the manual or facsimile signature of its Clerk, all as of the ___ day of _________ 
2016. 
 
       CITY OF KODIAK 
 
 
       __________________________ 
        MAYOR 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_____________________________ 

CITY CLERK 
 
  [SEAL] 
 
 Section 8. Execution. The 2016A Bonds shall be executed in the name of the City by the 
manual or facsimile signature of the Mayor, and its corporate seal (or a facsimile thereof) shall 
be impressed or otherwise reproduced thereon and attested by the manual or facsimile signature 
of the City Clerk. The execution of a 2016A Bond on behalf of the City by persons who at the 
time of the execution are duly authorized to hold the proper offices shall be valid and sufficient 
for all purposes, although any such person shall have ceased to hold office at the time of delivery 
of the 2016A Bond or shall not have held office on the date of the 2016A Bond. 
 
 Section 9. Payment of Principal and Interest. The 2016A Bonds shall be payable in lawful 
money of the United States of America which at the time of payment is legal tender for the 
payment of public and private debts. When the Bond Bank is the Registered Owner of the 2016A 
Bonds, payment of principal and interest on the 2016A Bonds shall be made as provided in the 
Loan Agreement. When the Bond Bank is not the Registered Owner of the 2016A Bonds, 
installments of principal and interest on the 2016A Bonds shall be paid by check mailed by first 
class mail to the Registered Owner as of the record date for the installment payment at the 
address appearing on the Bond Register; provided that the final installment of principal and 
interest on a 2016A Bond shall be payable upon presentation and surrender of the 2016A Bond 
by the Registered Owner at the office of the Registrar. 
 
 Section 10. Registration. The 2016A Bonds shall be issued only in registered form as to 
both principal and interest. The Registrar shall keep, or cause to be kept, the Bond Register at the 
principal office of the City. The City and the Registrar may treat the person in whose name any 
2016A Bond shall be registered as the absolute owner of such 2016A Bond for all purposes, 

89



Resolution No. 2016–32 
Page 8 of 11   

whether or not the 2016A Bond shall be overdue, and all payments of principal of and interest on 
a 2016A Bond made to the Registered Owner thereof or upon its order shall be valid and 
effectual to satisfy and discharge the liability upon such 2016A Bond to the extent of the sum or 
sums so paid, and neither the City nor the Registrar shall be affected by any notice to the 
contrary. 
 
 Section 11. Transfer and Exchange. 2016A Bonds shall be transferred only upon the 
books for the registration and transfer of 2016A Bonds kept at the office of the Registrar. Upon 
surrender for transfer or exchange of any 2016A Bond at such office, with a written instrument 
of transfer or authorization for exchange in form and with guaranty of signature satisfactory to 
the Registrar, duly executed by the Registered Owner or the duly authorized attorney of the 
Registered Owner, the City shall execute and deliver an equal aggregate principal amount of 
2016A Bonds of the same maturity of any authorized denominations, subject to such reasonable 
regulations as the City may prescribe and upon payment sufficient to reimburse it for any tax, fee 
or other governmental charge required to be paid in connection with such transfer or exchange. 
All 2016A Bonds surrendered for transfer or exchange shall be canceled by the Registrar. 
 
 Section 12. 2016A Bonds Mutilated, Destroyed, Stolen or Lost. Upon surrender to the 
Registrar of a mutilated 2016A Bond, the City shall execute and deliver a new 2016A Bond of 
like maturity and principal amount. Upon filing with the Registrar of evidence satisfactory to the 
City that a 2016A Bond has been destroyed, stolen or lost and of the ownership thereof, and 
upon furnishing the City with indemnity satisfactory to it, the City shall execute and deliver a 
new 2016A Bond of like maturity and principal amount. The person requesting the execution and 
delivery of a new 2016A Bond under this section shall comply with such other reasonable 
regulations as the City may prescribe and pay such expenses as the City may incur in connection 
therewith. 
 
 Section 13. 2016A Bond Fund. A special fund of the City designated the "Harbor 
Revenue Refunding Bond Fund, 2016A" is hereby created for the purpose of paying and 
securing the payment of the 2016A Bonds. The 2016A Bond Fund shall be held separate and 
apart from all other funds and accounts of the City and shall be a trust fund for the owners, from 
time to time, of the 2016A Bonds. 
 
 (a) 2016A Debt Service Account. A 2016A Debt Service Account is hereby created in the 
2016A Bond Fund for the purpose of paying the principal of and interest on the 2016A Bonds. 
The City hereby irrevocably obligates and binds itself for as long as the 2016A Bonds remain 
Outstanding to set aside and pay into the 2016A Debt Service Account from Net Revenue or 
money in the Harbor Revenue Fund, on or prior to the respective dates on which the same 
become due (i) such amounts as are required to pay the interest scheduled to become due on the 
Outstanding 2016A Bonds, and (ii) such amounts as are required to pay maturing principal of the 
Outstanding 2016A Bonds. 
 
 (b) 2016A Reserve Account. A 2016A Reserve Account is hereby created in the 2016A 
Bond Fund for the purpose of securing the payment of the principal of and interest on the 2016A 
Bonds. On the date of issuance of the 2016A Bonds, the City shall deposit a sum in the 2016A 
Reserve Account that is equal to the 2016A Reserve Requirement. If a deficiency occurs in the 

90



Resolution No. 2016–32 
Page 9 of 11   

2016A Debt Service Account, an amount sufficient to make up the deficiency shall be withdrawn 
from the 2016A Reserve Account and transferred to the 2016A Debt Service Account. The City 
shall make up any deficiency in the 2016A Reserve Account resulting from such a withdrawal 
within one year out of Net Revenue or out of any other moneys legally available for such 
purpose, after providing for the payments required to be made into the 2016A Debt Service 
Account within such year. 
 
 Any amount in the 2016A Reserve Account in excess of the 2016A Reserve Requirement 
may be transferred to the 2016A Debt Service Account and used to pay the principal of and 
interest on the 2016A Bonds as the same becomes due and payable. Whenever there is a 
sufficient amount in the 2016A Bond Fund, including the 2016A Reserve Account and the 
2016A Debt Service Account, to pay the principal of and interest on all Outstanding 2016A 
Bonds, the amount in the 2016A Reserve Account may be used to pay such principal and 
interest.  
 
 (c) Pledge and Lien. Said amounts so pledged to be paid into the 2016A Debt Service 
Account and the 2016A Reserve Account are hereby declared to be a lien and charge upon Gross 
Revenue superior to all other charges of any kind or nature whatsoever, except for Operating 
Expenses and except that the amounts so pledged are of equal lien to any lien and charge thereon 
which may hereafter be made to pay and secure the payment of the principal of and interest on 
any Parity Bonds. 
 
 Section 14. Designation of Refunded Bonds. The City Manager and City Finance 
Director each is authorized to designate which, if any, maturities of the 2007 Bonds authorized to 
be refunded in this Series Resolution shall be refunded, provided that the refunding of the 2007 
Bonds so designated shall realize a debt service savings in the aggregate of at least three percent 
of their principal amount, net of all issuance costs and underwriting discount, on a present value 
basis. 
 
 Section 15. Tax Covenants. The City covenants to comply with any and all applicable 
requirements set forth in the Code in effect from time to time to the extent that such compliance 
shall be necessary for the exclusion of the interest on the 2016A Bonds from gross income for 
federal income tax purposes. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the City covenants 
that it will make no use or investment of the proceeds of the 2016A Bonds which will cause the 
2016A Bonds to be "arbitrage bonds" subject to federal income taxation by reason of Section 
148 of the Code, and that it will not take or permit any action that would cause the 2016A Bonds 
to be "private activity bonds" as defined in Section 141 of the Code. 
 
 Section 16. Defeasance. In the event money and/or non-callable Government Obligations 
maturing at such times and bearing interest to be earned thereon in amounts sufficient to redeem 
and retire any or all of the 2016A Bonds in accordance with their terms are set aside in a special 
trust account to effect such redemption or retirement and such moneys and the principal of and 
interest on such Government Obligations are irrevocably set aside and pledged for such purpose, 
then no further payments need be made to pay or secure the payment of the principal of and 
interest on such 2016A Bonds and such 2016A Bonds shall be deemed not to be Outstanding. 
 

91



Resolution No. 2016–32 
Page 10 of 11   

Section 17. Exchange of Bonds; Amendatory Loan Agreement. The 2016A Bonds shall 
be delivered to the Bond Bank in exchange for the Refunded Bonds. Subject to the limitations 
provided in Sections 2 and 4, each of the City Manager and City Finance Director is hereby 
authorized to determine the aggregate principal amount, maturity amounts, interest rates, yields, 
dated date, principal and interest payment dates, record dates for principal and interest payments, 
redemption terms, if any, for the 2016A Bonds, and other details of the 2016A Bonds; provided 
that: (i) the principal amount of each maturity of the 2016A Bonds shall not exceed the principal 
amount of the portion of the corresponding maturity of the Bond Bank Bonds that is allocated to 
the making of a loan to the City; and (ii) the interest rate on each maturity of the 2016A Bonds 
shall not exceed the interest rate on the corresponding maturity of the Bond Bank Bonds. Based 
upon the foregoing determinations, the City Manager and City Finance Director each is 
authorized to negotiate and execute the Amendatory Loan Agreement. 
 
 Section 18. Authority of Officers. The City Manager, the acting City Manager, the 
Finance Director, the acting Finance Director, the Clerk and the acting Clerk are, and each of 
them hereby is, authorized and directed to do and perform all things and determine all matters 
not determined by this Series Resolution, to the end that the City may carry out its obligations 
under the 2016A Bonds and this Series Resolution. 
 

Section 19. Ongoing Disclosure. The City acknowledges that, under Rule 15c2-12 of the 
Securities and Exchange Commission (the "Rule"), the City may now or in the future be an 
"obligated person" with respect to the Bond Bank Bonds. In accordance with the Rule and as the 
Bond Bank may require, the City shall enter into a continuing disclosure agreement and 
undertake to provide certain annual financial information and operating data as shall be set forth 
in the Amendatory Loan Agreement. 
 
 Section 20. Miscellaneous. 
 
 (a) All payments made by the City of, or on account of, the principal of or interest on the 
2016A Bonds shall be made on the several 2016A Bonds ratably and in proportion to the amount 
due thereon, respectively, for principal or interest as the case may be. 
 
 (b) No recourse shall be had for the payment of the principal of or the interest on the 
2016A Bonds or for any claim based thereon or on the Master Resolution or this Series 
Resolution against any member of the Council or officer of the City or any person executing the 
2016A Bonds. The 2016A Bonds are not and shall not be in any way a debt or liability of the 
State of Alaska or of any political subdivision thereof, except the City, and do not and shall not 
create or constitute an indebtedness or obligation, either legal, moral or otherwise, of said state or 
of any political subdivision thereof, except the City. 
 
 Section 21. Severability. If any one or more of the provisions of this Series Resolution 
shall be declared by any court of competent jurisdiction to be contrary to law, then such 
provision shall be null and void and shall be deemed separable from the remaining provisions of 
this Series Resolution and shall in no way affect the validity of the other provisions of this Series 
Resolution or of the 2016A Bonds. 
 

92



Resolution No. 2016–32 
Page 11 of 11   

 Section 22. Effective Date. This Series Resolution shall become effective upon passage 
and approval. 
 
 ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Kodiak, Alaska, this _____ day of 
September 2016. 
       CITY OF KODIAK 
 
 
       ________________________________ 
         MAYOR 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
______________________________ 

CITY CLERK 

93



Attachment B

94



Attachment C

95



Harbor Revenue Bonds, Series 2007A
M&P Float Project

Fiscal Fiscal 
Year Date Principal Coupon Interest Total Yr. Total

9/1/2015 45,000            6.00% 42,510.63             87,510.63             
2016 3/1/2016 41,160.63             41,160.63             128,671.26     

FY 2016 not included in totals at the bottom; shown for FY 2016 purposes and not CP / LTP calcs

9/1/2016 45,000            6.00% 41,160.63             86,160.63             
2017 3/1/2017 39,810.63             39,810.63             125,971.26     

9/1/2017 50,000            6.00% 39,810.63             89,810.63             
2018 3/1/2018 38,310.63             38,310.63             128,121.26     

9/1/2018 50,000            6.00% 38,310.63             88,310.63             
2019 3/1/2019 36,810.63             36,810.63             125,121.26     

9/1/2019 55,000            4.00% 36,810.63             91,810.63             
2020 3/1/2020 35,710.63             35,710.63             127,521.26     

9/1/2020 55,000            4.125% 35,710.63             90,710.63             
2021 3/1/2021 34,576.25             34,576.25             125,286.88     

9/1/2021 60,000           4.25% 34,576.25           94,576.25           
2022 3/1/2022 33,301.25             33,301.25             127,877.50     

9/1/2022 60,000            4.30% 33,301.25             93,301.25             
2023 3/1/2023 32,011.25             32,011.25             125,312.50     

9/1/2023 65,000            4.40% 32,011.25             97,011.25             
2024 3/1/2024 30,581.25             30,581.25             127,592.50     

9/1/2024 65,000            4.50% 30,581.25             95,581.25             
2025 3/1/2025 29,118.75             29,118.75             124,700.00     

9/1/2025 70,000            4.50% 29,118.75             99,118.75             
2026 3/1/2026 27,543.75             27,543.75             126,662.50     

9/1/2026 75,000            4.50% 27,543.75             102,543.75           
2027 3/1/2027 25,856.25             25,856.25             128,400.00     

9/1/2027 75,000            4.625% 25,856.25             100,856.25           
2028 3/1/2028 24,121.87             24,121.87             124,978.12     

9/1/2028 80,000            4.625% 24,121.87             104,121.87           
2029 3/1/2029 22,271.88             22,271.88             126,393.75     

9/1/2029 85,000            4.625% 22,271.88             107,271.88           
2030 3/1/2030 20,306.25             20,306.25             127,578.13     

9/1/2030 90,000            4.75% 20,306.25             110,306.25           
2031 3/1/2031 18,168.75             18,168.75             128,475.00     

9/1/2031 95,000            4.75% 18,168.75             113,168.75           
2032 3/1/2032 15,912.50             15,912.50             129,081.25     

9/1/2032 100,000          4.75% 15,912.50             115,912.50           
2033 3/1/2033 13,537.50             13,537.50             129,450.00     

9/1/2033 105,000          4.75% 13,537.50             118,537.50           
2034 3/1/2034 11,043.75             11,043.75             129,581.25     

9/1/2034 105,000          4.75% 11,043.75             116,043.75           
2035 3/1/2035 8,550.00 8,550.00 124,593.75     

9/1/2035 115,000         4.75% 8,550.00 123,550.00         
2036 3/1/2036 5,818.75 5,818.75 129,368.75     

9/1/2036 120,000         4.75% 5,818.75 125,818.75         
2037 3/1/2037 2,968.75 2,968.75 128,787.50     

2038 9/1/2037 125,000         4.75% 2,968.75 127,968.75         127,968.75     

1,745,000$    1,053,823.17$     2,798,823.17$     2,798,823.17  

Attachment D

96



Attachment E

97



98



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(This page left intentionally blank.) 

99



To: 

From: 

Thru: 

MEMORANDUM TO COUNCIL 

Mayor Branson and City Councilmembers 
Aimee Kniaziowski, City Mana"1f_ 

/
Mike Tvenge, Deputy City Manager � 

Date: September 8, 2016 
Agenda Item: V. e. Resolution No. 2016-33, Appointing a Member to the Kodiak Fisheries 

Development Association 

SUMMARY: The Joint City-Borough appointed board seat on the Kodiak Fisheries Development 
Association (KFDA) held by Stosh Anderson has expired. Mr. Anderson has requested reappointment to 
the currently held seat with a term of three years. The Borough Assembly is expected to approve this 
reappointment during the September 15, 2016, regular Assembly meeting. Staff recommends Council 
approve the reappointment of the joint board seat by adopting Resolution No. 2016-33. 

PREVIOUS COUNCIL ACTION: The City Council makes appointments to the KFDA board by 
resolution. 

• August 22, 2009, adopted Resolution No. 2009-22, appointing Linda Freed to a vacant joint
City-Borough seat

• September 24, 2009, adopted Resolution No. 2009-26, appointing Albert Tyler Schmeil to a
vacant joint City-Borough seat

• August 26, 2010, adopted Resolution No. 2010-25, reappointing Mike Woodruff to the City's
crab processor seat

• October 28, 2010, adopted Resolution No. 2010-28, reappointing Stosh Anderson to the joint
City-Borough seat

• August 25, 2011, adopted Resolution No. 2011-29, reappointing Jeff Stephan to a City seat and
Albert Tyler Schmeil to a joint City-Borough seat

• August 9, 2012, adopted Resolution No. 2012-23, reappointing Linda Freed to the joint City
Borough seat

• September 12, 2013, adopted Resolution No. 2013-26, reappointing Stosh Anderson and Mike
Woodruff to the KFDA board

• August 28, 2014, adopted Resolution No. 2014-31, reappointing Linda Freed, Albert Tyler
Schmeil and Jeff Stephan to the KFDA board

SEPTEMBER 8, 2016 
Agenda Item V. e. Memo Page 1 of2 

100



DISCUSSION: The Kodiak Fisheries Development Association was created jointly by the City of 

Kodiak and the Kodiak Island Borough in 2007 as the region's eligible crab community entity (ECCE). 

The KFDA is made up of seven directors who serve staggered three-year terms: two appointed by the 

City, two appointed by the Borough, and three appointed jointly. The bylaws of the Kodiak Fisheries 

Development Association provide for appointment of Directors to the Board of the KFDA by the 

Kodiak City Council and the Kodiak Island Borough Assembly. The bylaws state in part, the Directors 

shall serve until their successors are appointed and qualified. 

Mr. Stosh Anderson has submitted through the City Clerk's office a request to be reappointed to the 

current joint appointee seat. 

A City appointed Crab Processors Representative seat remains expired and unfilled. 

ALTERNATIVES: 

1) Adopt Resolution No. 2016-33, which is recommended by staff.

2) Delay or not adopt Resolution No. 2016-33, which is not recommended as the seat should be

officially reappointed so the group has a quorum as they begin their annual ECCE work.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: NIA

LEGAL:N/A 

CITY MANAGER'S COMMENTS: The term for this appointment has expired and the Director is 

willing to be reappointed. I recommend the City Council adopt this resolution to reappoint Stosh 

Anderson to another three year term on the Kodiak Fisheries Development Association. 

ATTACHMENTS: 

Attachment A: Resolution No. 2016-33 

Attachment B: KFDA Member List 

PROPOSED MOTION: 

Move to adopt Resolution No. 2016-33. 

SEPTEMBER 8, 2016 

Agenda Item V. e. Memo Page 2 of2 

101



Resolution No. 2016-33 
Page 1 of 2 

CITY OF KODIAK 
RESOLUTION NUMBER 2016-33 

A RESOLUTION OF THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF KODIAK APPOINT-
ING A MEMBER TO THE KODIAK FISHERIES DEVELOPMENT ASSOCIATION 

WHEREAS, the North Pacific Fishery Management Council adopted the Bering 
Sea/Aleutian Islands Crab Rationalization Program as Amendments 18 and 19 to the Fishery 
Management Plan for Bering Sea/Aleutian Islands King and Tanner Crabs; and 

WHEREAS, under the Program, Kodiak was designated as an eligible crab community 
(ECC) and in connection with such designation, the City of Kodiak and the Kodiak Island 
Borough have the authority to jointly exercise certain rights of first refusal (ROFR) with respect 
to processor quota shares (PQS) allocated under the Program; and 

WHEREAS, to exercise the ECC ROFR, the City of Kodiak and the Kodiak Island 
Borough have jointly designated the Kodiak Fisheries Development Association (KFDA) as the 
region’s eligible crab community entity (ECCE) having the authority to do so on their behalf; 
and 

WHEREAS, the bylaws of the Kodiak Fisheries Development Association provide for 
appointment of Directors to the Board of the KFDA by the Kodiak City Council and the Kodiak 
Island Borough Assembly; and 

WHEREAS, the bylaws of the KFDA state, in part, that Directors shall serve until their 
successors are appointed and qualified; and 

WHEREAS, the terms for one joint appointee seat has expired; and 

WHEREAS, Stosh Anderson has requested reappointment to the joint appointee seat on 
the KFDA board; and 

WHEREAS, the Kodiak Island Borough is scheduled to reappoint Stosh Anderson at its 
September 15, 2016, regular meeting. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Council of the City of Kodiak, Alaska, 
that the following individual is appointed as a Director of the Kodiak Fisheries Development 
Association, with the noted term: 

City Appointees 
Crab Processor Rep. – Vacant 
Crab Harvester Rep. – Jeff Stephan (7/17) 

Joint Appointees 

Attachment A

102



Resolution No. 2016-33 
Page 2 of 2 

Stosh Anderson (7/19) (joint appointment) 
Linda Freed (7/17) (joint appointment) 
Albert Tyler Schmeil (7/17) (joint appointment) 

Borough Appointees 
Crab Processor Rep. – Tuck Bonney 
Crab Harvester Rep. – Jerry Bongen 

CITY OF KODIAK 

MAYOR 
ATTEST: 

CITY CLERK 
Adopted: 

103



KODIAK ISLAND BOROUGH / CITY OF KODIAK 
------

OOIAK FISHERIES DEVELOPMENT ASSOCIATION 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

NAME TERM PHONE EMAIL 

CITY APPOINTEES 

Crab Processors Representative 
Vacant 7/2019 

Crab Harvester Representative 
Jeff Stephan 7/2017 486-4568 jstephan@ptialaska.net 

JOINT APPOINTEES 

Stash Anderson 7/2016 486-3673 stash a@hotmail.com 

Linda Freed 7/2017 486-5314 freed@gci.net 

Albert Tyler Schmeil 7/2017 486-8587 tmschmeil@gci.net 

BOROUGH APPOINTEES 

Crab Processors Representative 
Tuck Bonney 7/2018 486-3329 tbonney@npsi.us 

Crab Harvester Representative 
Jerry Bongen 7/2018 486-6245 jbongen@mac.com 

KFDA bylaws state: Directors shall be appointed by joint resolution of the Borough Assembly and City Coun
cil. Appointments shall take place annually at July meetings of the Borough Assembly and City Council. Direc
tors shall have staggered three (3) year terms of office, assigned by a random selection method at the first 
Board meeting, such that as close as possible to one third (1/3) of the Board is up for appointment each year. 
Directors shall serve until their successors are appointed and qualified. 

CITY MANAGER, AIMEE KNIAZIOWSKI 

OFFICE OF THE CITY MANAGER 

710 MILL BAY ROAD, ROOM 113 

KODIAK, AK 99615 

486-8640 akniaziowski@city.kodiak.ak.us 

Revision Date: 8/2/16 
Revised by: DM 

Attachment B

104



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(This page left intentionally blank.) 

105



To: 

From: 

Thru: 

Date: 

Agenda Item: 

MEMORANDUM TO COUNCIL 

Mayor Branson and City Council
,r�bers 

Aimee Kniaziowski, City Mana�C. 
Ronda Wallace, Chief of Police 
September 8, 2016 
V. f. Authorization of Vehicle Purchases for Kodiak Police Department

SUMMARY: This action authorizes the replacement of three older, high mileage police SUVs that 
were recommended for replacement with current model all wheel drive police interceptor utility 
vehicles in FY201 7. The existing vehicles have been in service well beyond their useful life and were 
evaluated for replacement. The replacement is consistent with the Council's Vehicle Replacement 
Policy, and the need to replace the three police SUVs was discussed with Council during the FY2017 
budget process. Staff recommends Council authorize the City to attach to the State of Alaska contract 
to purchase a new police K9 vehicle for $30,000 and two police patrol vehicles for $60,000 for a total 
of$90,000 from Cal Worthington Ford. 

PREVIOUS COUNCIL ACTION: 

• The replacement meets the evaluation and purchasing requirements established by the City's
Vehicle Replacement Policy adopted by Resolution No. 2011-07 on March 31, 2011.

• The Council was briefed on the status of all three Kodiak Police Department (KPD) SUV s as
well as the recommendation to replace at the May 7, 2016, budget presentation meeting.

• Council authorized funds for the replacement of the animal control truck when the FY2017
budget was adopted.

• Council reviewed the request at the September 6, 2016, work session.

DISCUSSION: The Kodiak Police Department maintains a fleet of nine marked police vehicles, one 
animal control vehicle, and one community service van. These vehicles are equipped with safety 
equipment, radios, lights, and sirens. They provide transportation for the animal control officer and 
police services and are authorized for emergency response. Vehicle #23 (K9 police vehicle) is a 2006 
Ford Expedition emergency response vehicle. This vehicle has in excess of 107,198 miles and has 
been in service with the department's fleet since it was purchased in 2006. As an emergency response 
vehicle, it has been used for routine and emergency patrol related duties. Based upon the 
programmed hours of the K9 officer, staff estimates Vehicle #23 accumulated a minimum of 80 
engine hours per month since 2006, not including call outs and overtime worked by the K9 officer. 
The combined effects of age and mileage have contributed to issues ranging from corrosion to 
mechanical problems. 

SEPTEMBER 8, 2016 
Agenda Item V. f. Memo Page 1 of3 

106



Vehicles #5 and #6 (both police patrol vehicles) were purchased in 2006 and 2007 as emergency 

response vehicles. Vehicle #5 has an excess of 135,000 miles and Vehicle #6 has an excess of 80,000 

miles. As emergency response vehicles, they have been used for routine and emergency patrol related 

duties. Both Vehicle #5 and #6 were assigned to multiple officers working opposite shifts. Based 

upon the programmed hours of the patrol officers, staff estimates vehicles #5 and #6 accumulated a 

minimum of 160 engine hours per month since 2006 and 2007. Again, the combined effects of age 

and mileage have contributed to issues ranging from corrosion to mechanical problems. 

The Kodiak Police Department fleet is evaluated by the Public Works Shop Supervisor (PWSS) 

annually. The PWSS performs an evaluation of vehicles using industry standards and criteria 

consistent with the City's vehicle replacement policy and makes recommendations about which 

vehicles can remain in service and which should be removed from service. The evaluation includes 

comprehensive physical inspection of the body, vehicle electronics, engine, transmission, frame and 

suspension. The PWSS also evaluates the economic benefit of replacing a vehicle or replacing or 

repairing damage to a vehicle. 

The evaluation of Vehicle #23 (K9 vehicle), Vehicle #5 and Vehicle #6 (police patrol vehicles) 

revealed all three vehicles were suffering from the combined effects of age, mileage, engine hours, 

and Kodiak's harsh environment. All three vehicles received regular and emergency maintenance 

throughout their service lives. 

An evaluation, conducted by the City Public Works Maintenance Shop Supervisor, calls for the 

replacement of all three vehicles in FY2017 as a cost effective means for the Police Department to 

maintain safe and mechanically reliable vehicles within its fleet. 

The State of Alaska Department of Transportation and Public Facilities (DOT & PF), State 

Equipment Fleet (SEF) maintains contract with several light duty vehicle vendors in Alaska. Each 

vendor supplies pricing for basic vehicles with additional cost for added options. Cooperative 

purchasing is authorized on these contracts for qualified political subdivisions. The City of Kodiak is 

a qualified political subdivision, and Kodiak City Code (KCC) 3.12.070 (c) permits attachment to 

this contract. 

Staff recommends the Council authorize the City to attach to the State of Alaska Light Duty Contract 

to purchase three current model years Ford all wheel drive police interceptor utility vehicles for 

$90,000. 

ALTERNATIVES: 

1) Authorize the City to attach to the State of Alaska bid to purchase the identified vehicles. This

is staff's recommendation, as it will enable KPD to replace one police K9 vehicle and two

police patrol vehicles, which have been identified for replacement in FY2017.

SEPTEMBER 8, 2016 
Agenda Item V. f. Memo Page 2 of3 

107



2) Do not authorize this transaction. This alternative is not recommended, because it is not

consistent with the City's Vehicle Replacement Policy, and would affect police operations,

and be contrary to the interest of the City.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: There is sufficient funding in the FY2017 KPD budget to cover 

the purchase cost of all three vehicles. 

LEGAL: Kodiak City Code section 3.12.070(c) allows the City to purchase items with other units of 

government that have established the lowest responsible bidder and where the equipment meets or 

exceeds the City's needs or specifications. This provision permits the City to attach to the State of 

Alaska's bid and purchase the police vehicles through the State of Alaska contract. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends Council authorize attachment to the State of 

Alaska contract to purchase one K9 police vehicle for $30,000, with funds coming from the FY2017 

Kodiak Police Department operational budget, canine sub-department, machinery and equipment line 

item and two police patrol vehicles for $30,000 each, with funds coming from the FY20I 7 Kodiak 

Police Department operational budget, uniformed patrol sub-department, machinery and equipment 

line item. 

CITY MANAGER'S COMMENTS: The City does everything it can to extend the useful life of its 

rolling stock. Staff also continues to repair and work on vehicles to extend service lives beyond the 

standard or recommended timeframes as found in our Vehicle Replacement Policy. The funds were 

budgeted, the vehicles are not adequate for use as emergency response vehicles, and staff did the 

research to support the request as submitted. Therefore, I support attaching to the State of Alaska's 

bid from Cal Worthington Ford and ask for Council's approval to move forward with the purchase. 

ATTACHMENTS: 

Attachment A: CIP nomination forms for replacement of Vehicles #23, #5 and #6 

Attachment B: Cal Worthington State of Alaska DOT contract pricing schedule 

PROPOSED MOTION: 

Move to authorize the City to attach to the State of Alaska Light Duty Contract with Cal 

Worthington Ford to purchase three current model year Ford all wheel drive police 

interceptor utility vehicles for a total of $90,000, with funds for one vehicle coming from the 

FY20I 7 Kodiak Police Department Operation Budget, Police Canine Sub-Department 

Machinery and Equipment line item and two vehicles from the Uniformed Patrol Sub

Department Machinery and Equipment line item and authorize the City Manager to execute 

the documents for the City. 

SEPTEMBER 8, 2016 
Agenda Item V. £ Memo Page 3 of3 

108



Attachment A

109



110



111



112



113



114



115



Attachment B

116



117



118



119



120



121



122



123



124



125



126



127



128



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(This page left intentionally blank.) 

129



MEMORANDUM TO COUNCIL 

To: Mayor Branson and City Councilmembers
From: Aimee Kniaziowski, City Mana�

Thru: Kelly Mayes, Finance Director J,Z� 
Date: September 8, 2016

Agenda Item: V. g. Authorization of Professional Services Contract for Investment 

Management and Advisory Services 

SUMMARY: The City currently self-manages City investments. These are invested based on the
investment policy within the City of Kodiak municipal code at the discretion of the Finance Director.
The Finance Director presented an overview to the City Council on February 9, 2016, of the City's
investments, investment policy, and returns on investments. The Finance Director suggested that an
Investment Committee be formed to oversee the selection of an Investment Management and Advisory
Company, and thus, monitor the performance of the company chosen. The Investment Committee
performed a search through a Request for Proposal for Investment Management and Advisory Services
and recommends Council authorize awarding a professional services contract for these services to
Alaska Permanent Capital Management (APCM).

PREVIOUS COUNCIL ACTION: 

• February 9, 2016, Council discussed City Investments, Investment Policy, and Return on
Investments at the work session

• February 25, 2016, Council adopted Resolution No. 2016-09, Authorizing Formation of An
Investment Committee, and Councilmember Charlie Davidson was appointed to the Investment
Committee by the City Council at the regular meeting

• March 15, 2016, Council discussed the City's permissible investments and Investment
Management and Advisory professional services during the work session

• March 17, 2016, Council passed Ordinance No. 1345 in the first reading and advanced to the
second reading during the special meeting. Ordinance No. 1345 changed the investment powers
from the Finance Director to the Investment Committee.

• April 14, 2016, Council adopted Ordinance No. 1345 and the effective date was May 20, 2016
• May 20, 2016, Investment Committee powers became effective

DISCUSSION: The Finance Director of the City of Kodiak has managed the City's investment
portfolios for many years. Due to a slowly recovering economy, many investments are not providing
substantial returns on investments.

The Finance Director has been researching information regarding Investment Management and
Advisory Services. Due to the complexities of selecting an appropriate company to oversee the City's

SEPTEMBER 8, 2016 

Agenda Item V. g. Memo Page I of 4 

130



investments, the Finance Director suggested a committee be formed for the selection, and periodic 

oversight, of the Investment Management and Advisory Company. The City Council agreed that 

additional solicitation and a formal RFP would provide a greater potential for earning higher returns on 

City investments. The City Council also suggested that an elected City Councilmember serve on the 

committee. 

The investment committee met on June 8, 2016, to discuss the following: (1) review the draft Investment 

Management and Advisory services RFP; (2) Review the Investment Committee roles, objectives, and 

monitoring responsibilities, discuss timelines for the upcoming deadlines within the RFP; and select a 

date to review all submitted RFP responses. Based on this meeting, the City's RFP for Investment 

Management and Advisory services was released to the public on June 15, 2016. The deadline for 

response was August 1, 2016. The Investment Committee received nine proposals for Investment 

Management and Advisory professional services. These responders included the following listed 

alphabetically: 

1. Alaska Permanent Capital Management

2. First National Bank of Alaska

3. First Southwest Asset Management

4. Garcia Hamilton and Associates

5. Government Portfolio Advisors

6. Meeder Investment Management

7. Oppenheimer Investment Management

8. Vanguard

9. Warren Averett Asset Management

On August 11, 2016, all proposals were copied for each Investment Committee member to review based 

on the qualifying criteria included in the RFP. Each committee member performed an independent 

review of each proposal and evaluated the proposal based on the City's qualifying criteria. The 

committee met on August 26 and reviewed each proposal as a group. The committee went through four 

phases of elimination. 

Phase I 

Phase I determined whether the committee believed the RFP responder's proposal sufficiently met the 

qualifying criteria and could advance to the next level. Qualifying criteria listed in the RFP included: 

Did the responder understand the City's overall investment program, investment objectives, and its 

unique constraints? Did the responder have the experience, resources, and qualifications within the firm 

and the individuals assigned to the account? Did the responder have experience in state and local 

government portfolios? Did the responder provide a recommended approach to the management of the 

portfolios? Did the responder's fees fall within a reasonable range? 

Five proposals were eliminated and four proposals advanced to Phase II. 

SEPTEMBER 8, 2016 

Agenda Item V. g. Memo Page 2 of 4 

131



Phase II 

The committee reviewed the four remaining responders and made comments pertaining to each. The 

committee then listed the positive aspects and additional questions to be considered for each responder. 

One responder was eliminated because government portfolios within their firm were outsourced to 

another firm for investment management and advisory services and the fees. Another responder was 

eliminated due to limited experience (the firm has been open two years). 

Two proposals were eliminated and two proposals advanced to Phase III. 

Phase III 

The two remaining proposals were discussed by each committee member again. It was decided that the 

committee would have a conference call with the two finalists for final clarifying questions related to 

fees, return on investment, confidentiality clauses, custody of investment assets, and number of clients 

per their investment team. 

Phase IV 

The investment committee held a conference call with each of the two finalists and asked the following 

questions: How many clients per team assigned to the City? How do our investment policies compare to 

other local governments? Can you describe your fee schedule? What do you see on the horizon for the 

City's return on investments? Additionally, a confidentiality clause and the City's investment policy 

were highlighted in the discussion to ensure the responder would be able to meet the City's legal 

requirements. One finalist was eliminated due to transferring custody of assets, the possibility of 

conflicts between the City's investment policy's permissible investments and the responder's internal 

investment policy, and fees. Based on the outcome of these conference calls, and responses to these 

questions, the Investment Committee voted on which professional services firm would best meet the 

City's needs. 

Investment Committee Recommendation: 

Alaska Permanent Capital Management 

Alaska Permanent Capital Management has an extensive background with state and local government, 

and with Alaska municipalities. The individuals assigned to the City's account are also highly trained 

and have the appropriate qualifications and background. As all of the responders provide the appropriate 

information; APCM provided clear, concise responses and offered services such as assisting in 

developing the City's investment policy and advisory services based on the City's needs. In addition, 

during the Phase IV elimination conference calls, APCM answered each of the Committee's questions 

with ease and in layman terms that were easily understood. 

SEPTEMBER 8, 2016 

Agenda Item V. g. Memo Page 3 of 4 

132



ALTERNATIVES: 

1) Authorize the contract, which is recommended.

2) Reject all proposals and perform another search for RFP. The City Staff and investment

committee do not agree with this alternative and do not recommend it.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: There are no direct financial implications to authorizing the award of 

the contract at this time. The fees charged by APCM are calculated at 0.15 of 1 percent annually on the 

market value of the City's investments. APCM uses third party pricing service to determine market 

value. 

LEGAL: The management firm's actions will be consistent with the City's investment policies. This 

was reviewed and discussed with the City Attorney. The attorney also reviewed the contract. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: The City's newly formed investment committee and staff 

recommend Council approve entering into a professional services contract to provide investment 

management and advisory services with Alaska Permanent Capital Management. 

CITY MANAGER'S COMMENTS: I am pleased we are finally at the point where we as an 

investment committee are able to recommend that Council award a professional services contract with 

Alaska Permanent Capital Management. We went through a vigorous process to develop the RFP, 

received nine proposals, took our time evaluating them, and came up with what I believe is the best firm 

to meet the City's needs. This firm is based in Alaska, provided a very good proposal with reasonable 

fees, and was open and responsive during our interview with them. This firm has a good reputation. It 

was founded by Dave Rose, the first executive director of Alaska's Permanent Fund. It serves primarily 

institutional clients (56 public entities/local governments, 15 foundations, and 29 Alaska Native 

corporations) and manages approximately $3 billion in investments. I'm looking forward to developing 

a relationship with them and in watching them share their knowledge with us and the Council. I want to 

thank Finance Director Kelly Mayes for her hard work, knowledge, and organizational skills, so this 

plan could come together. I recommend Council authorize this agreement. 

ATTACHMENTS: 

Attachment A: Alaska Permanent Capital Management Contract No. 224984 

PROPOSED MOTION: 

Move to authorize professional services contract No. 224984 with Alaska Permanent Capital 

Management and authorize the City Manager to execute the documents on behalf of the City. 

SEPTEMBER 8, 2016 
Agenda Item V. g. Memo Page 4 of 4 

133



City Record No. 224984 
Page 1 of 13 

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 

Dated: _______________ 

This Agreement between Alaska Permanent Capital Management, an Alaskan 

corporation (“Investment Manager”), and _______________________________________ 

the (“Client”), is made effective on ____________________________. By this agreement, 

CLIENT retains INVESTMENT MANAGER to provide services to CLIENT on the 

following terms: 

1. Services to the Client.

(a) This Agreement is for professional services to CLIENT. The
INVESTMENT MANAGER shall perform the professional services described in Exhibit 
A, which is attached hereto and by reference made a part hereof. 

(b) The INVESTMENT MANAGER shall at the INVESTMENT MANAGER’s
own expense furnish to CLIENT a copy of all information requested by CLIENT for 
review of the INVESTMENT MANAGER’s services while in progress. 

(c) CLIENT shall provide the INVESTMENT MANAGER access in a timely
manner, to those records, personnel and other items necessary for the INVESTMENT 
MANAGER to perform the services described in Exhibit A. 

2. Compensation.

(a) CLIENT shall compensate the INVESTMENT MANAGER for the services
described in Exhibit B in the amounts and in the manner set forth in Exhibit B, which is 
attached to this agreement and by reference made a part hereof. The INVESTMENT 
MANAGER shall receive no other compensation in connection with the purchase, sale or 
exchange of any investment for CLIENT and will not accept, or knowingly permit any of 
its officer or employees or any member of their immediate families to accept any 
compensation, bonuses, commissions, rebates, discounts, gifts or any other thing of value 
from any other person or party in connection with any such purchase, sale or trade, 
provided that the receipt by the INVESTMENT MANAGER of research reports and 
materials or statistical data from a securities broker shall not be deemed to violate this 
provision. 

(b) CLIENT understands that Account assets invested in mutual fund and/or ETF
shares will incur internal mutual fund/ETF fees in addition to the advisory fees specified in 

Attachment A

134



City Record No. 224984 
Page 2 of 13 
 

the Exhibit B. Additionally, CLIENT may bear transaction charges or commissions for 
transactions executed in the account. 

 
3. General Provisions 

 
(a) Independent Contractor. The INVESTMENT MANAGER is an independent 

contractor. The INVESTMENT MANAGER is neither an employee, partner, nor joint 
venture with CLIENT. 

 
(b) No Assignment. The INVESTMENT MANAGER may neither assign this 

agreement or any rights thereunder nor delegate any of its duties without first obtaining 
consent of CLIENT. 

 
(c) Insurance. The INVESTMENT MANAGER shall procure and maintain 

insurance  coverage  in  such  amounts  as  set  forth  in  Exhibit  B.  The  INVESTMENT 
MANAGER shall provide to CLIENT, upon request, certificates indicating such insurance 
is in effect. The insurance shall be in effect upon the date of execution of this agreement 
and shall be effective through the term of this agreement. 

  
(d) Indemnity. To the fullest extent permitted by law, the INVESTMENT 

MANAGER shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless CLIENT from and against all 
claims, damages, losses, and expenses, including but not limited to attorneys’ fees, caused 
in whole or in part by any failure of the INVESTMENT MANAGER to comply with 
fiduciary standards. Nothing herein shall in any way constitute a waiver or limitation of any 
rights which CLIENT may have under federal securities laws. 

 
(e) Termination. This Agreement will continue in effect until terminated by either 

party by written notice to the other. Such termination shall be effected by personal delivery 
or by sending to the INVESTMENT MANAGER by certified mail, or other acceptable 
method of communication as specified in Section III (i) of this Agreement.  Termination of 
this Agreement will not affect (i) the validity of any action previously taken by 
INVESTMENT MANAGER under this Agreement; (ii) liabilities or obligations of the 
parties from transactions initiated before termination of this Agreement; or (iii) CLIENT’S 
obligation to pay advisory fees (pro-rated through the date of termination). On the 
termination of this Agreement, INVESTMENT MANAGER will have no obligation to 
recommend or take any action with regard to the securities, cash or other investments in the 
Account. In the event of such termination, CLIENT is entitled to a refund of any 
“unearned” portion of fees already paid, on a pro rata basis. 

 

135



City Record No. 224984 
Page 3 of 13 
 

(f) Law and Venue. This Agreement will be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Alaska without giving effect to any conflict or 
choice of law provisions of that State, provided that nothing in this Agreement will be 
construed in any manner inconsistent with the Advisers Act, any rule or order of the 
Securities and Exchange Commission under the Advisers Act and, if applicable to the 
Account, ERISA and any rule or order of the Department of Labor under ERISA. Venue 
for any legal proceeding relating to this contract shall be Anchorage, Alaska. 

 
(g) Payment of Taxes. The INVESTMENT MANAGER shall not be responsible for 

the provision or payment of insurance, taxes or costs incurred by subcontractors or 
personnel not on the INVESTMENT MANAGER’s payroll. 

 
(h) Term. This agreement shall commence on __________, 20____ and shall be 

subject to termination in accordance with Section III (e) of this Agreement. 
 
(i) Notice. Any notices or other communications required or permitted by this 

agreement to be delivered to CLIENT or the INVESTMENT MANAGER shall be in 
writing and shall be considered delivered when personally delivered to the party to whom it 
is addressed, or in lieu of such personal delivery, when deposited in the United states mail, 
certified, postage prepaid, addressed to CLIENT or the INVESTMENT MANAGER at the 
address set forth below, or when the notice is successfully sent electronically through email 
addresses used during the regular course of business. 

 
 

CLIENT 
 
 
 
 
INVESTMENT MANAGER  Alaska Permanent Capital Management Company 
     900 West 5th Ave. Suite 601 
     Anchorage, AK 99516 
 

 
(j) Entire Agreement. This agreement constitutes the entire agreement between 

CLIENT and the INVESTMENT MANAGER. It supersedes all prior oral and written 
understanding and agreements. It shall bind CLIENT and the INVESTMENT MANAGER, 
its successors, executors, administrators, assigns and legal representatives. 

 

136



City Record No. 224984 
Page 4 of 13 
 

(k) Benefits. Nothing contained in this agreement shall be construed to give any 
rights or benefits hereunder to anyone other than to CLIENT and to the INVESTMENT 
MANAGER. 

(l) Consultants. CLIENT reserves the right to enter into separate agreements 
directly with any 3rd party for any services. 

 
(m) INVESTMENT MANAGER Does Not Provide Legal or Accounting Advice. 

INVESTMENT MANAGER is not engaged in the practice of law or accounting. 
Information provided by INVESTMENT MANAGER concerning investment tax 
consequences does not constitute legal nor tax advice. It is CLIENT’S responsibility to 
retain, at CLIENT’S expense, legal and/or tax professionals as may be necessary to conduct 
CLIENT’S affairs. INVESTMENT MANAGER is not responsible for the payment of 
taxes. The CLIENT agrees that INVESTMENT MANAGER will not advise or act for 
CLIENT in any legal proceedings, including bankruptcies or class actions, involving 
securities held or previously held by the Account or the issuers of these securities. 

 
(n) Risk Acknowledgment. INVESTMENT MANAGER does not guarantee the 

future performance of the Account or any specific level of performance, the success of any 
investment decision or strategy that INVESTMENT MANAGER may use, or the success 
of INVESTMENT MANAGER’S overall management of the Account. CLIENT 
understands that investment decisions made for CLIENT’S Account by INVESTMENT 
MANAGER are subject to various market, currency, economic, political and business risks, 
and that those investment decisions will not always be profitable. INVESTMENT 
MANAGER will manage only the securities, cash and other investments held in CLIENT’S 
Account and in making investment decisions for the Account, INVESTMENT MANAGER 
will not consider any other securities, cash or other investments owned by CLIENT. Except 
as may otherwise be provided by law, INVESTMENT MANAGER will not be liable to 
CLIENT for (i) any loss that CLIENT may suffer by reason of any investment decision 
made or other action taken or omitted in good faith by INVESTMENT MANAGER with 
that degree of care, skill, prudence, and diligence under the circumstances that a prudent 
person acting in a fiduciary capacity would use; (ii) any loss arising from INVESTMENT 
MANAGER’S adherence to CLIENTS instructions; or (iii) any act or failure to act by the 
Custodian, any broker or dealer to which INVESTMENT MANAGER directs transactions 
for the Account, or by any other third party. The federal and state securities laws impose 
liabilities under certain circumstances on persons who act in good faith, and therefore 
nothing in this Agreement will waive or limit any rights that CLIENT may have under 
those laws. 

 
4. Form ADV II 

137



City Record No. 224984 
Page 5 of 13 
 

 
CLIENT acknowledges that INVESTMENT MANAGER has provided a copy of 

Parts 2A and 2B for Form ADV as required by Rule 204-3 under the Investment Adviser’s 
Act of 1940. CLIENT understands the investment approach, related risk factors, and the 
fees associated with investing. 

 
5. Client Authority 
 

This Agreement will bind and be for the benefit of the parties to the Agreement and 
their successors and permitted assigns, except that this Agreement may not be assigned 
(within the meaning of the Advisers Act or applicable state securities laws) by either party 
without the consent of the other party. If CLIENT is an individual, CLIENT represents that 
he or she is of legal age. If CLIENT is a corporation, governmental entity, partnership or 
limited liability company, the person signing this Agreement for the CLIENT represents 
that he or she has been authorized to do so by appropriate action. If this Agreement is 
entered into by a trustee or other fiduciary, the trustee or fiduciary represents that 
INVESTMENT MANAGER’S investment management strategies, allocation procedures, 
and investment management services are authorized under the applicable plan, trust, or law 
and that the person signing this Agreement has the authority to negotiate and enter into this 
Agreement. CLIENT will inform INVESTMENT MANAGER of any event that might 
affect this authority or the propriety of this Agreement.  
 
6. Arbitration Clause 
 

To the extent permitted by law, any controversy or dispute which may arise 
between CLIENT and INVESTMENT MANAGER concerning any transaction or the 
construction, performance or breach of this Agreement will be settled by arbitration. Any 
arbitration will be pursuant to the rules, then applying, of the American Arbitration 
Association, except to the extent set forth herein. The arbitration panel will consist of at 
least three individuals, with at least one panelist having knowledge of investment advisory 
activities. The parties agree that any arbitration proceeding pursuant to this provision will 
be held in a location as determined by the rules of the American Arbitration Association. 
The award of the arbitrators will be final and binding on the parties, and judgment upon the 
award rendered may be entered into in any court, state or federal, having jurisdiction. The 
parties are waiving their right to seek remedies in court, including the right to jury trial, 
except to the extent such a waiver would violate applicable law. Pre-arbitration discovery is 
generally more limited than and different from court proceedings. The arbitrators’ award is 
not required to include factual findings or legal reasoning and any party’s right to appeal or 
to seek modification of rulings by the arbitrators is strictly limited. 

138



City Record No. 224984 
Page 6 of 13 
 

 
The agreement to arbitrate does not entitle CLIENT to obtain arbitration of claims that 
would be barred by the relevant statute of limitations if such claims were brought in a court 
of competent jurisdiction. If at the time a demand for arbitration is made or an election or 
notice of intention to arbitrate is served, the claims sought to be arbitrated would have been 
barred by the relevant statute of limitations or other time bar, any party to this agreement 
may assert the limitations as a bar to the arbitration by applying to any court of competent 
jurisdiction, and CLIENT expressly agrees that any issues relating to the application of a 
statute of limitations or other time bar, are referable to such a court. The failure to assert 
such bar by application to a court, however, will not preclude its assertion before the 
arbitrators. CLIENT understands that this agreement to arbitrate does not constitute a 
waiver of the right to seek a judicial forum where such waiver would be void under the 
federal securities law if more than one, all principals to the account must sign. If any 
signatory is a fiduciary, the capacity in which he or she is acting should be indicated. 
 

By: ____________________________ 

 

Date: __________________________ 

 

By: ____________________________ 

 

Date: __________________________ 

 

Alaska Permanent Capital Management Company 

 

By: ____________________________ 

 Evan D. Rose 

 Chairman and CEO 

 

Date: __________________________ 

139



City Record No. 224984 
Page 7 of 13 
 

 

EXHIBIT A 

The work which the INVESTMENT MANAGER is required to perform for this 
project consists of the following: 

 
1. Appointment 

 
CLIENT hereby appoints the INVESTMENT MANAGER as INVESTMENT 

MANAGER of all securities and cash placed in an appointed custody account for the 
CLIENT. The INVESTMENT MANAGER agrees to act in that capacity with regard to 
such securities and cash as a fiduciary, and upon the terms and conditions set forth in this 
agreement. The INVESTMENT MANAGER shall have full authority to make purchases 
and sales of securities for the account of CLIENT, subject to the provisions of Section 3 
below. 

 
2. Custody 

 
Exclusive responsibility for the custody and safekeeping of the cash and securities 

under this Agreement shall remain with a custodian selected by CLIENT,  hereafter 
referred to as ”Custodian.” INVESTMENT MANAGER will not have custody of any 
assets in the Account. CLIENT will be solely responsible for paying all fees or charges of 
the Custodian. CLIENT authorizes INVESTMENT MANAGER to give Custodian 
instructions for the purchase, sale, conversion, redemption, exchange or retention of any 
security, cash or cash equivalent or other investment for the Account. CLIENT also 
authorizes and directs INVESTMENT MANAGER to instruct Custodian on CLIENT’S 
behalf to (a) send Client at least quarterly a statement showing all transactions occurring in 
the Account during the period covered by the Account statement, and the funds, securities 
and other property in the Account at the end of the period; and (b) provide INVESTMENT 
MANAGER copies of all periodic statements and other reports for the Account that 
Custodian sends to CLIENT. Pursuant to federal regulations, the Custodian will maintain 
and report tax related information to the Internal Revenue Service.  CLIENT accepts 
responsibility for selecting the applicable tax methods with the Custodian.   

 
The  INVESTMENT  MANAGER  agrees  to  cooperate  with  CLIENT  and  the 

Custodian, including but not limited to: 
  
(a) Timely reporting of all transactional information to the Custodian; 
 

140



City Record No. 224984 
Page 8 of 13 
 

(b) Reconciling  security  holdings  and  cash  balances  of  the  INVESTMENT 
MANAGER with similar data   reported by the Custodian; 

 
(c) Cooperating in the identification and remedy of failed transactions; and 
 
(d) Responding in a timely manner to all reasonable requests for information by the 

Custodian. 
 

3. Services to be Performed 
 

The INVESTMENT MANAGER is responsible for providing investment services 
to CLIENT and other funds as may be designated by CLIENT. In this capacity, the 
INVESTMENT MANAGER shall invest and reinvest the cash and securities from time to 
time allocated to it hereunder and deposited in the account, without distinction between 
principal and interest. The INVESTMENT MANAGER shall act as CLIENT’s fiduciary, 
and will discharge its duties with respect to the investments solely in the interest of 
CLIENT. 

 
4. Investment Policy 
 

The INVESTMENT MANAGER will manage and invest the assets in an 
appropriate and prudent manner in compliance with CLIENT’s Investment Policy. The 
performance of the INVESTMENT MANAGER will be measured against fixed income 
and/or equity indexes as outlined in CLIENT’s Investment Policy. 

 
5. Authorization 
 

The INVESTMENT MANAGER is hereby authorized to invest or reinvest or 
dispose of any cash, either U.S. or non-U.S., or securities held in the Account and invest 
the proceeds of any disposition in accordance with Section III above. 
 
6. Brokerage and Commission 

 
In carrying out its functions hereunder, the INVESTMENT MANAGER will use its 

best efforts to obtain prompt execution of orders at favorable prices reasonably obtainable 
and in doing so will consider a number of factors, including the overall direct net economic 
result to CLIENT, the financial strength and stability of the broker, the efficiency with 
which the transaction is effected, the ability to effect the transaction where a large block is 
involved, the availability of the broker to stand ready to execute possible difficult 

141



City Record No. 224984 
Page 9 of 13 
 

transactions in the future and other matters involved in the receipt of “brokerage and 
research services” as defined in compliance with Section 28 (e) of the Securities Exchange 
Act of 1934, as amended and regulations thereunder. 
7. Rule of Prudence 
 

In performing its services, the INVESTMENT MANAGER will follow the Prudent 
Investor Rule. When evaluating investments, the INVESTMENT MANAGER will give 
appropriate consideration to the 1) composition and diversification of the portfolio, 2) 
liquidity of the portfolio, and 3) projected return of the portfolio. 

 
8. Instructions 
 

All instructions given by the INVESTMENT MANAGER to the Custodian shall be 
in an agreed upon format in either written or electronic form, submitted by an authorized 
representative of the INVESTMENT MANAGER; Fax, oral or email transmissions may be 
used when acceptable to both parties. 

 
9. Reports by the Investment Manager 

 
The INVESTMENT MANAGER shall deliver to CLIENT, or any person or 

persons designated by CLIENT: 
 
(a) Monthly statements are to be delivered to CLIENT within 15 calendar days 

following month end, and shall include: 
 

(i) a listing of all cash and securities in the Account with market values in U.S. 
dollars as of the close of business on the last business day of each month; 
 
(ii) a listing in chronological order of each purchase and sale transaction for the 
Account during the month; 

 
(b) At a minimum, quarterly statements with investment performance 
  
(c) Appearances. The INVESTMENT MANAGER will make a presentation to 

CLIENT at least annually and will be available to make additional presentations as 
mutually agreeable. 

 
(d) Representation of the INVESTMENT MANAGER. The INVESTMENT 

MANAGER represents and warrants: 

142



City Record No. 224984 
Page 10 of 13 
 

 
(i) that it is an “investment advisor” as defined in the Investment Advisors Act of 

1940, as amended; 
 
(ii) that it has completed, obtained and performed all registrations, filings and 

approvals, authorizations, consents or examinations required by any government or 
governmental authority for acts contemplated by this Contract 

 
10. Inspection 

CLIENT may, at reasonable times, inspect the INVESTMENT MANAGER’s 
facilities and activities that are related to the performance of this contract, and audit the 
INVESTMENT MANAGER’s services. 

 
11. Other Investment Accounts 
 

CLIENT understands that INVESTMENT MANAGER serves as investment 
manager for other clients and will continue to do so. CLIENT also understands that 
INVESTMENT MANAGER, its personnel and affiliates may give advice or take action in 
performing their duties to other clients, or for their own accounts, that differ from advice 
given to or action taken for CLIENT. INVESTMENT MANAGER is not obligated to buy, 
sell or recommend for CLIENT any security or other investment that Adviser, its personnel 
or affiliates may buy, sell or recommend for any other client or for their own accounts. This 
Agreement does not limit or restrict in any way INVESTMENT MANAGER or any of its 
personnel or affiliates from buying, selling or trading in any securities or other investments 
for their own accounts. 

 
12. Retirement or Employee Benefit Plan Accounts 
 

This Section applies if the Account is for a (a) pension or other employee benefit 
plan (including a 401(k) plan) governed by the Employee Retirement Income Security Act 
of 1974, as amended (“ERISA”); (b) tax-qualified retirement plan (including a Keogh plan) 
under section 401(a) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), and 
not covered by ERISA; or (c) an individual retirement account (“IRA”) under Section 408 
of the Code.  

If the Account is for a plan subject to ERISA, Client appoints Adviser, and Adviser 
accepts its appointment, as an “investment manager” for purposes of ERISA and the Code, 
and Adviser acknowledges that it is a “fiduciary” within the meaning of Section 3(21) of 
ERISA and Section 4975(e)(3) of the Code (but only with respect to the provision of 
services described in Section 1 of this Agreement). Adviser represents that it is registered 

143



City Record No. 224984 
Page 11 of 13 
 

as an investment adviser under the Investment Advisers Act of 1940, as amended (the 
“Advisers Act”).  

 
CLIENT represents that INVESTMENT MANAGER has been furnished true and 

complete copies of all documents establishing and governing the plan and evidencing 
CLIENT’S authority to retain INVESTMENT MANAGER. CLIENT will furnish promptly 
to INVESTMENT MANAGER any amendments to the plan, and CLIENT agrees that, if 
any amendment affects the rights or obligations of INVESTMENT MANAGER, such 
amendment will be binding on INVESTMENT MANAGER only when agreed to by 
INVESTMENT MANAGER in writing. If the Account contains only a part of the assets of 
the plan, CLIENT understands that INVESTMENT MANAGER will have no 
responsibility for the diversification of all of the plan’s investments, and that 
INVESTMENT MANAGER will have no duty, responsibility or liability for CLIENT 
assets that are not in the Account. If ERISA or other applicable law requires bonding with 
respect to the assets in the Account, CLIENT will obtain and maintain at its expense 
bonding that satisfies this requirement and covers INVESTMENT MANAGER and its 
Affiliated Persons.  

 
13. Miscellaneous 
 

The headings in this Contract are for convenience only and shall not expand, limit 
or otherwise affect the meaning hereof. The Contract may be executed in any number of 
counterparts, each of which shall be an original and all of which together shall constitute 
one and the same instrument. 

 
14. Proxy Voting 

 
As a matter of policy and as a fiduciary to our clients, we vote proxies for portfolio 

securities consistent with the best economic interests of the Client. We vote proxies for 
debt instruments and, with some exceptions, exchange-traded funds and mutual funds. We 
do not vote proxies for individual equities. Individual equities are held in a client’s account 
as an accommodation to the client and are not part of our overall management strategy or 
an appropriate focus for research. Clients are hereby notified that we do not vote these 
proxies and that we will arrange for Client to receive these proxies directly. If the Account 
is for a pension or other employee benefit plan governed by ERISA, Client directs Adviser 
not to vote proxies for securities held in the Account because the right to vote such proxies 
has been expressly reserved for either the plan’s trustees, or a named fiduciary. 

 

144



City Record No. 224984 
Page 12 of 13 
 

Our policy and practice includes the responsibility to monitor corporate actions, 
receive and vote client proxies, disclose any potential conflicts of interest, and make 
information related to proxies available to clients. The term proxy as used here includes 
corporate actions and tender offers for debt instruments. 

  

145



City Record No. 224984 
Page 13 of 13 
 

EXHIBIT B 
 

1. Compensation 
 

CLIENT shall pay to the INVESTMENT MANAGER as compensation for services 
the INVESTMENT MANAGER rendered in accordance with the terms of this agreement 
as follows: 
 

0.15 of 1% annually on market value of assets under management. 
 

Payable monthly, in arrears, and based on the month-end account market value, 
which includes accrued interest and dividends. The INVESTMENT MANAGER utilizes a 
third party pricing service to determine market value. 
 
2. Manner of Payment 
 

CLIENT shall make payments to the INVESTMENT MANAGER as follows: The 
INVESTMENT MANAGER shall submit monthly invoices for services rendered. The 
invoice shall itemize the manner in which the billing is calculated. Payment will be made 
by CLIENT by check, electronic payment or by authorizing the CUSTODIAN to direct 
payment to the INVESTMENT MANAGER, at the CLIENT’s discretion. 
 
3. Insurance 
 

The INVESTMENT MANAGER shall maintain the following insurance in 
accordance with Paragraph III (c) of this Agreement: 
 
 

 LIMIT 

(a) Professional Liability $5,000,000 aggregate 

(b) General Liability $2,000,000 general aggregate 

(c) Statutory Worker’s Compensation 
Protection 

$1,000,000 each accident 

 

146



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(This page left intentionally blank.) 

147



To: 

From: 

Date: 

MEMORANDUM TO COUNCIL 

Mayor Branson and City Council��ber
.
s 

Aimee Kniaziowski, City Mana/#-
September 8, 2016 

Agenda Item: V. h. Appointment to Parks and Recreation Advisory Board

SUMMARY: The Parks and Recreation's ex-officio advisory board seat for the US Coast Guard 
(USCG) position is vacant. The Parks and Recreation Director received a letter of endorsement for an 
interested individual from the USCG Commanding Officer at Base Kodiak on August 8, 2016. This 
board appointment is made by the Mayor and confirmed by the Council. The term for the Parks and 
Recreation Advisory Board ex-officio position is set at the time of appointment. The USCG position 
requires a letter of endorsement from the USCG Commanding Officer. That letter is included 
(Attachment A). At Tuesday's work session, Mayor Branson and Councilmembers reviewed Captain 
Westling's recommendation letter. 

DISCUSSION: Advisory board members are appointed at the end of each year when terms expire and 
throughout the year as necessary. 

{Mayor Branson will make her appointment to the Parks and Recreation Advisory Board and identify 

the length of term.} 

Parks and Recreation Advisory Board Four regular members shall be residents within the Kodiak 

City limits, and three regular members shall be residents from inside or outside the Kodiak City limits. 

USCG and Student terms are set at appointment. 

1 ex-officio student seat, filled. Term ends December 31, 2016 
1 ex-officio USCG seat, vacant 

Applicant(s): 
LCDR Kyle Ensley, ex-officio USCG seat 

ATTACHMENTS: 

Attachment A: Letter of endorsement for LCDR Ensley from USCG Base Commander Westling 
Attachment B: Parks and Recreation Advisory Board Current Member List 

PROPOSED MOTION: 

Move to confirm the Mayoral advisory board appointment and term to the Parks and Recreation 
Advisory Board as stated. 

SEPTEMBER 8, 2016 
Agenda Item V. h. Memo Page 1 of 1 

148



Attachment A

149



Updated December 11, 2015 
ERMS\01-0104\Parks & Rec Advisory Board\Parks & Rec Current Members.doc 

Office of the City Clerk
710 Mill Bay Road, Room 219, Kodiak, Alaska 99615 

PARKS AND RECREATION ADVISORY BOARD 
Nine members (including two alternates) from the community chosen to reflect cultural and 

ethnic diversity, one USCG representative, and one student seat. Four regular members shall 
be residents within the Kodiak City limits, and three regular members shall be residents from 

inside or outside the Kodiak City limits. 

TERM BOARDMEMBER HOME WORK FAX MAILING ADDRESS City/KIB 

2018 John Butler 
jbjhs@ptialaska.net 

486-4604 486-3706 486-2497 PO Box 2610 B 

2018 Helm Johnson 
helm@helmarts.com 

539-5014 539-5014 866-510-
1563

PO Box 261 C 

2018 William McGuire 
bmcguire01@kibsd.org 

406-799-
1966

1524 Ismailov St. C 

2016 Jessica Horn 
hikeodg@gmail.com 

487-2718 942-0441 665 Sargent Creek 
Rd. 

B 

2016 Marcus Dunbar 
mdunbar01@kibsd.org 

486-0809 481-2214 1477 Selief Lane C 

2016 Natasha Hayden 
natashab@gci.net 

486-5922 512-0519 305 Neva Way B 

2016 Ryan Murdock 
boneyardsurfing@gmail.com 

952-1072 486-2316 3272 Mill Bay Rd. C 

2016 
Alternate 1 

John Glover 
jtgloverkodiak@gmail.com 

486-2335 539-7004 521 Sut Larsen 
Way 

N/A 

2016 
Alternate 2 

Davis Lowery 
bravesolutions@icloud.com 

321-231-
9394

486-2501 4286 Parkside Dr. N/A 

USCG 
Vacant N/A 

Student 
2016 

Erica Kostelecky 
ericakostelecky@gmail.com 

486-9446 PO Box 2383 N/A 

Regular terms expire December 31 (three-year terms)  
Alternate terms expire December 31 (one-year terms) 
USCG & Student terms set at appointment 

Legislation Appointments 

Resolution Number 03–84 01/12/84 02/26/84 12/13/84 
Resolution Number 44–86 01/10/85 06/13/85 12/19/85 
Resolution Number 2000–4, 01/27/00 01/23/86 01/08/87 02/12/87 
Resolution Number 01–7, 02/22/01 11/03/87 12/14/87 10/27/88 
Resolution Number 04–25, 07/08/04 12/12/88 10/12/89 01/11/90 
Resolution Number 2011–23, 08/25/2011 12/14/90 01/09/92 03/12/92 

05/14/92 07/09/92 01/14/93 
01/27/94 02/10/94 03/10/94 

[Clerk’s Note: The alternates do not make 09/22/94 12/22/94 10/05/95 
motions or vote unless regular member(s) 12/14/95 10/24/96 12/12/96 
are absent.] 12/11/97 12/10/98 01/26/99 

02/25/99 02/10/00 02/22/01 
05/24/01 12/13/01 02/28/02 
05/09/02 07/24/03 02/26/04 
01/13/05 08/24/06 12/14/06 
12/13/07 02/28/08 02/12/09 
06/24/10 08/26/10 12/9/10 
01/13/11 09/22/11 2/23/12 
08/09/12 8/23/12 12/13/12 
02/28/13 06/27/13 12/12/13 
2/14/14 12/10/15 

Attachment B

150


	September 8, 2016, Regular Meeting Agenda
	Approval of Minutes of the August 11, 2016, Regular Meeting and August 30, 2016, Special Meeting
	Unfinished Business
	a.	Second Reading and Public Hearing, Ordinance No. 1349, Authorizing a Lease Between the City of Kodiak and GCI Communication Corporation for Pillar Mountain Communication Lease Site No. 9, Described as a Portion of Tract B, U.S. Survey 2538-A
	b.	Termination of the Building Inspection Program MOA

	New Business
	a.	Resolution No. 2016–29, Naming Election Workers for the October 4, 2016, Regular Municipal Election
	b.	Resolution No. 2016–30, Authorizing the Issuance of a Series of Boat Lift Special Facility Revenue Refunding Bonds in the Principal Amount of Not to Exceed $4,000,000 to Refund Certain Outstanding Boat Lift Special Facility Revenue Bonds of the City, Fixing Certain Details of Such Bonds, and Authorizing Their Sale
	c.	Resolution No. 2016–31, Authorizing the Issuance of a Series of Boat Lift Special Facility Revenue Refunding Bonds in the Principal Amount of Not to Exceed $1,000,000 to Refund Certain Outstanding Boat Lift Special Facility Revenue Bonds Of The City, Fixing Certain Details of Such Bonds, and Authorizing Their Sale
	d.	Resolution No. 2016–32, Authorizing the Issuance of a Series of Harbor Revenue Refunding Bonds in the Principal Amount of Not to Exceed $2,000,000 to Refund Certain Outstanding Harbor Revenue Bonds of the City, Fixing Certain Details of Such Bonds, and Authorizing Their Sale
	e.	Resolution No. 2016–33, Appointing a Member to the Kodiak Fisheries Development Association
	f.	Authorization of Vehicle Purchases for Kodiak Police Department
	g.	Authorization of Professional Services Contract for Investment Management  and Advisory Services
	h.	Appointment to Parks and Recreation Advisory Board




